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E-mail: gaustin@austinlegalgroup.com
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AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP, APC
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Phone: (619) 924-9600

IFacsimile: (619) 881-0045

Attorneys for Defendant
Ninus Malan

SALAM RAZUKI, an individual,
Plaintiff,
Vvs.

NINUS MALAN, an individual; CHRIS
HAKIM, an individual; MONARCH
MANAGEMENT CONSULTING, INC., a
California corporation; SAN DIEGO
UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC, a
California limited liability company; FLIP
MANAGEMENT, LLC, a California
limited liability company; ROSELLE
PROPERTIES, LLC, a California limited
liability company; BALBOA AVE
COOPERATIVE, a California nonprofit
mutual benefit corporation; CALIFORNIA
CANNABIS GROUP, a California
nonprofit mutual benefit corporation;
DEVILISH DELIGHTS, INC. a California
nonprofit mutual benefit corporation; and
DOES 1-100, inclusive;

Defendants.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

CASE NO. 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL

DEFENDANTS NINUS MALAN, SAN
DIEGO UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP,
BALBOA AVE COOPERATIVE,
CALIFORNIA CANNABIS GROUP, AND
FLIP MANAGEMENTS’ JOINT NOTICE
OF LODGMENT IN SUPPORT OF
REQUEST TO VACATE RECEIVERSHIP

ORDER
Judge: Hon. Eddie Sturgeon

Dept.: C-67
Date: September 7, 2018
Time: 1:30 p.m.

1

3065

DEFENDANTS' JOINT NOTICE OF LODGMENT IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER




O 00 N A A WN

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

TO THE COURT, THE PARTIES, AND THEIR ATTORNEYS OF RECORD:

Defendant Ninus Malan (“Defendant”) hereby provides a notice of lodgment in support of

their motion for protective order. The documents lodged are as follows:

Exhibit A:

Exhibit B:

Exhibit C:

Exhibit D:

Exhibit E:

Exhibit F:

Exhibit G:

California Department of Tax and Fee Administration’s Demand for
Immediate Payment to Ninus Malan [“Malan” is misspelled as “Malam”]
and Balboa Ave Cooperative, dated August 22, 2018. The amount owed is
$173,772.86.

Approved City of San Diego Conditional Use Permit No. 2068552 for the
Project “MPF 8859 Balboa Ave Project No. 585435” to San Diego United
Holdings Group, LLC as owner/permittee, dated August 15, 2018.

Notice of Lodged Documents in Support of petitioner Dennise Gurfinkel
Civil Harassment Packet, in the San Diego Superior Court case Gurfinkel v.
Razuki.

American Lending and Holdings, LLC’s entity detail page on the
California Secretary of State’s website, along with the stamp-filed Articles
of Organization for American Lending and Holdings, LLC and the 2015
Statement of Information.

Complaint filed by American Lending and Holdings, LLC against Dennise
Gurfinkiel d/b/a Starting Point Realty and SLS Management Services,
Edgardo Masanes d/b/a Starting Point Realty, and Joey Soriano d/b/a
Starting Point Realty, San Diego County Superior Court case number 37-
2016-00022168-CU-BC-CTL.

Amendment to Complaint, filed July 14, 2016, whereby D’Kiel Group,
LLC was named as “Doe 1” in the above-entitled case, American Lending
and Holdings, LLC v. Dennise Gurfinkiel, et al.

San Diego Private Investments, LLC’s entity detail page on the California
Secretary of State’s website, along with the stamp-filed Articles of

Organization for San Diego Private Investments, LLC and its 2016
2
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Exhibit H:

Exhibit I:

Exhibit J:

Exhibit K:

Exhibit L:

Exhibit M:

Statement of Information.

Complaint filed by San Diego Private Investments, LLC against D’Kiel
Group, LLC, Alison McCloskey Escrow Company, Del Toro Loan
Servicing, Inc., Sequoian Investments, Inc., and Dennise Gurfinkiel, San
Diego County Superior Court case number 37-2016-+00043277-CU-OR-
CTL.

Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents, document number 2016-
0719759, made December 30, 2016, between San Diego Private
Investments LLC as Trustor, and NM Investment Corp as Beneficiary, for
the APN 538-751-15-00.

The Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents, document number 2016-
0719758, made December 30,.2016, between San-Diego Private———— --
Investments LLC as trustor, and NM Investment Corp as Beneficiary, for
the APN 538-751-15-00.

Stipulation for Entry of Judgment Against D’Kiel Group, LLC, filed by
American Lending and Holdings, LLC in the San Diego County Superior
Court case number 37-2016-00022168-CU-BC-CTL, signed by Ninus
Malan on behalf of American Lending and Holdings, LLC and Salam
Razuki on behalf of D’Kiel Group, LLC.

United States Trustee’s Motion for Sanctions against George Panagiotou
and the Costa Law Group pursuant to Federal Rule of Bankruptcy
Procedure 9011; Request for Referral to the Disciplinary Committee of the
United States District Court, in the action In re: Rodrigo Marquez, United
States Bankruptcy Court, Southern District of California, case number 16-
07541-LT13, on April 5, 2017.

Grant Deed whereby American Lending and Holdings, LLC granted to San
Diego Private Investments, LLC the property located on APN 586-120-11-

00, document number 2017-0224563, and recorded on May 18, 2017 with
3
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Exhibit N:

Exhibit O:

Exhibit P:

Exhibit Q:

Exhibit R:

the San Diego County Recorder.

Grant Deed whereby American Lending and Holdings, LLC granted to
San Diego Private Investments, LLC the property located on APN 168-
600-20-00, document number 2017-0224555, and recorded on May 18,
2017 with the San Diego County Recorder.

Grant Deed whereby American Lending and Holdings, LLC granted to San
Diego Private Investments, LLC the property located on APN 185-273-11-
00, document number 2017-0224558, and recorded on May 18, 2017 with
the San Diego County Recorder.

Grant Deed whereby Wafa Katto granted to Wafa Katto and Ninus Malan,
as Joint Tenants, the property located oh Af’N 538-340-26-00, document
number 2017-0271404, and recorded on June 16, 2017 with the San Diego

County Recorder.

- Declaration of Salam Razuki in support of Defendants Balboa Ave

Cooperative, San Diego United Holdings Group, LLC, and Ninus Malan’s
opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction, filed in the San
Diego County Superior Court case number 37-02017-00019384-CU-CO-
CTL, titled Montgomery Filed Business Condominiums Association v,
Balboa Ave Cooperative, San Diego United Holdings Group, LLC, Ninus
Malan, Razuki Investments, LLC, and Salam Razuki, dated September 6,
2017.

Deposition of Salam Razuki, dated Monday, March 26, 2018, in the San
Diego County Superior Court case Ninus Malan v. Hank Sybrandy, Gary

Kent, Solymar Real Estate, and Keller Williams La Jolla, case number 37-

2016-00006980.

4
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Exhibit S:

Exhibit T:

Exhibit U:

Exhibit V:

Exhibit W:

Exhibit X:

Complaint filed June 13, 2018, in the San Diego County Superior Court
case San Diego Private Investments, LLC v. Allison-McCloskey Escrow
Company, case number 37-2018-00029303-CU-BT-CTL.

San Diego United Holding Group’s Verified Cross-Complaint filed June
27, 2018 in the San Diego County Superior Court case Avail Shipping, Inc.
v. Razuki Investments, LLC, Salam Razuki, Ninus Malan, Marvin Razuki,
American Lending and Holdings, LLC, San Diego Private Investments,
LLC, SH Westpoint Group, LLC, and San Diego United Holdings Group,
LLC.

Transcript of Proceedings on August 14, 2018, in the San Diego County
Superior Court case Salam Razuki v. Ninus Malan, Monarch Management
Consulting, Inc., San Diego Unz’ted Holding Group, LLC, Mira Este
Properties, LLC, and Roselle Properties, LLC, case number 37-2018-
00034229-CU-BC-CTL

Transcript of Proceedings on August 20, 2018, in the San Diego County

“Superior Court case Salam Razuki v. Ninus Malan, Monarch Management

Consulting, Inc., San Diego United Holding Group, LLC, Mira Este
Properties, LLC, and Roselle Properties, LLC, case number 37-2018-
00034229-CU-BC-CTL

a true and correct copies of payments made by me personally and San
Diego United Holdings Group for expenses related to the Balboa
Dispensary and Balboa Manufacturing as well as Roselle and Mira Este.
UCC Financing Statement filed by The Loan Company of San Diego

against debtor American Lending and Holdings.

Exhibit Yand Z: Business tax certificate (BTC) which California Cannabis Group uses to

operate at Mira Este and payment I made for the application.

5
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Exhibit AA and BB and FF: true and correct copies of a Borrowers Closing Statement for

American Lending and Holdings, Buyers Borrowers Settlement Statement,

and an e-mail from escrow about Salam Razuki’s bounced check.

Exhibit GG: September 13, 2016 true and correct copy of an e-mail with escrow related

to Razuki Investments purchase of 8861 Suite B and 8863 Suite E Balboa.

Exhibit HH: October 11, 2016. Articles of Organization for San Diego United Holdings

Exhibit II:

Exhibit JJ:

Exhibit KK:

Exhibit LL:

Exhibit MM:

Exhibit NN:

Group, LLC

October 17, 2016. true and cotrect copy of the Estimated Borrower’s
Statement for Roselle.

A true and correct copy of the EIN number assigned for San Diego United
Holdings Group.

A true and correct copy of a document that relates to paragraph 15 where
Salam Razuki signs on behalf of D’Kiel, right next to Dennise Gurfinkiel.
A true and correct copy of a letter from American Lending and Holdings
attorney Doug Jaffe but it was sent by Mr. Jaffe on behalf of San Diego
Private Investments to demand Allison McCloskey mishandled a
D’Kiel/San Diego Private Investments escrow and demanded immediate
release of two pieces of real property that were at issue (Newton and
Friars).

A true and correct copy of an e-mail Salam Razuki forwarded to me from
an attorney that goes by the name “George Costa.”

A true and correct copy of the live scan fees I paid to get my live scan and

fingerprint for the marijuana permits

Exhibit OO: A true and correct copy of the $52.00 bill I paid for the Balboa Ave

Cooperative business tax certificate

6
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Exhibit PP: A true and correct copy of the grant deed that shows Razuki Investments

sold 8861 Suite B and 8863 Suite E to San Diego United Holdings Group.

Exhibit QQ: A true and correct copy of a loan that American Lending and Holdings
made to SH Property Investments, which is a company affiliated with the
Sunrise Dispensary that Razuki states he is a patt of.

Exhibit RR: A true and correct copy of the Estimated Borrower’s Closing Statement
where it states that Balboa Ave Cooperative purchased the (non-
operational) Balboa Dispensary for $1.5 million.

Exhibit SS: A true and correct copy of the Third Party Deposit Instructions that show I
made the deposit and paid the fees for Balboa Ave Cooperative to purchase
the Balboa Dispensary.

Exhibit TT: A true and correct copy of the wire that shows I paid the fees referred to in
Exhibits RR and SS.

Exhibit UU: A true and correct copy of an advertising and sponsorship agreement with
the Reader for the Balboa Dispensary.

Exhibit VV and WW: A true and correct copies of the establishment of Flip Management

and the invoice and payment.
Exhibit XX: A true and correct copy of a sponsorship with the Association of Cannabis
professionals with the Earth Day event.
Exhibit YY: A true and correct copy of the Buyer’s Closing Statement for San Diego
United Holdings Group purchase of 8863 Suite E and 8861 Suite B.
Exhibit ZZ: A true and correct copy of the Estimated Closing Statement that shows the
San Diego United purchased the Balboa Dispensary property and that there
was a second trust deed at that time in favor of Razuki Investments.
Exhibit AAA: A true and correct copy of business insurance that I procured for the
Balboa Dispensary
Exhibit BBB: A true and correct copy of monthly payment insurance that I procured for

the Balboa Dispensary for product insurance
7
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Exhibit CCC: a true and correct copy of a payment that I gave to the partner of Sunrise.

Exhibit DDD: a true and correct copies of electricity payments paid for the Balboa
Dispensary

Exhibit EEE: a true and correct copy of of a Substitution of Trustee and Deed of
Reconveyance for 8861 Balboa Suite B and 8863 Balboa Suite E where
Razuki signed a reconveyance for the second trust deed thereby eliminating
Razuki Investments debt interest in the Balboa Dispensary.

Exhibit FFF: a true and correct copy of a Salas Financial Escrow Closing Statement for
the refinance of 8861 Suite B and 8863 Suite E.

Exhibit GGG: a true and correct copy of an Amended Payoff Statement for American
Lending and Holdings of 4570% Street Unit 20.

Exhibit HHH: a true and correct copy of a Deed of Reconveyance for the original loan
held by TGP.

Exhibit ITIl:  a true and correct copy of the closing statement for 8859 Balboa that shows
Ninus Malan on behalf of San Diego United Holdings Group.

Exhibit JJJ:  atrue and correct copy of the same closing statement as Exhibit III as well
as the loan signed by San Diego United Holdings Group.

Exhibit KKK: a true and correct copy of the bond and the cashier’s check that San Diego
United Holdings Group had to post in the HOA Litigation when we
successfully dissolved the preliminary injunction.

Exhibit LLL: a true and correct copy of the invoice for work that was required on 8861
Suite B to enlarge a door in order to meet CUP conditions

Exhibit MMM:_a true and correct copy of the agreement for the Balboa Manufacturing
CUP.

Exhibit NNN: a true and correct copy of a bank statement for RM Property Holdings that

was opened in November 2017.

8
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Exhibit O0O: a true and correct copy of the RM Property Holdings December 2017
statement.

Exhibit PPP: a true and correct copy of the RM Property Holdings January 2018
statement.

Exhibit QQQ: a true and correct copy of the RM Property Holdings February 2018
Statement.

Exhibit RRR: a true and correct copy of the Notice of Deposition of Salam Razuki in the
bankruptcy matter that was referenced in paragraphs 22 and 23

Exhibit SSS: a true and correct copy of the RM Property Holdings March bank statement.

Exhibit TTT: a true and correct copy of the City of San Diego’s Development Services
Invoice sent to Ninus Malan

Exhibit UUU:_a true and correct copy of the RM Property Holdings April bank
statement.

Exhibit VVV: a true and correct copy of an invoice from Bartell & Associates for
consulting fees related to Balboa, Mira Este, and Roselle.

Exhibit WWW: a true and correct copy of a letter from the Loan Company.

Exhibit XXX: a true and correct copy of the RM Property Holdings May bank
statement.

Exhibit YYY: a true and correct copy of an invoice from the City of San Diego
Development Services Department to pay for the electric permit for the
electric sign that SoCal installed and that constituted a code violation

Exhibit ZZZ: a true and correct copy of a notice of delinquent taxes from Salas Financial.

Exhibit AAAA: a true and correct copy of a notice from the attorney for Cal Private Bank
who is the lender for San Diego Private Investments for a default on a 21
property blanket loan.

Exhibit BBBB: a true and correct copy of the RM Property Holdings June 2018 bank
statement.

Exhibit CCCC: a true and correct copy of a payment to the HOA Settlement required to
9
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Exhibit FFFF: a true and correct copy of minutes of the HOA meeting of its board of

Dated: September 5, 2018 AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP, APC

keep the Balboa Dispensary and Balboa Manufacturing use variance.

Exhibit DDDD:_a true and correct copy of a cashier’s check made out to Salam Razuki.

Exhibit EEEE: a true and correct copy of closing the RM Property Holdings account.

directors for review and approval of a letter to the City Hearing officer
recommending approval of the Balboa Manufacturing CUP.

Exhibit GGGG: a true and correct copy of a returned check that resulted from the disarray

with the receivership orders.
Exhibit HHHH: a true and correct copy of an invoice from Techne.
Exhibit IIII:  a true and correct copy of an invoice from Five Alarm Security for
outstanding bills SoCal never paid including a demand for immediate
payment.
Exhibit KKKK: a true and correct copy of a letter from CPA Richard Alvarez stating that
Ninus Malan is the president and owner of American Lending and
Holdings and has been doing the tax returns since 2014.

Exhibit LLLL: a true and correct copy of an e-mail from escrow showing that the $70,000
deposit from American Lending and Holdings was wired at the close of
escrow for Mira Este deposit.

Exhibit MMMM: is a true and correct copy of an e-mail from accountant Justus Henkes to

Michael Essary inquiring after the $40,000 tax payment that was not made
yet originally shown on the receiver’s interim report.
Exhibit NNNN: a true and correct copy of Far West Management’s invoice for running

the Balboa Dispensary.

By: WW

Gina M. Austin/Tamara Leetham,
Attorneys for Ninus Malan

10

DEFENDANTS' JOINT NOTICE OF LODGMENT IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER

3074




EXHIBIT A

3075




y/'? “Lr’ig

PTLOERIOHODURNE. R

QOLEOTNDIY S
mzvuaagmulﬁﬁt: jdditional
' -*iwwm u'° »m/--fvm ‘. uﬂi ~'ﬁr1?,§1u&

linterest SEDE
REenalty;
Diher

RS UL R R g )s\c
PSiezite o shE PRBOX

crendont SR RIVE )

AT

EERTER 2O

0

v
S

T

C‘”‘*ﬂﬁs. e SN PRI

JOST &.)}'e\'(;‘,ﬂp

Mwiﬂ

9!}1“154&47}5‘

ESRintefeSus ANO/OGC0][cCUSUBES

Bioaa 28t
Shlaes
T s

il

na

"

§’;‘("‘-51t"91-11"a\ e Y
Bt

HDOVEN ZW.:}»' i

.,, ']1""‘

il LELE

eeSHR

A

S 20
ie:

28YIT

Vet .mwi"ﬂ’@ Pt-;, Eﬁgﬁllﬁ

EQA‘W

Foih g

v o .
1% R




EXHIBIT B

3077




RECORDING REQUESTED BY
CITY OF SAN DIEGO
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES
PERMIT INTAKSEO, 1MAIL STATION

WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO
PROJECT MANAGEMENT
PERMIT CLERK
MAIL STATION 501

INTERNAL ORDER NUMBER: 24007568 SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER'S USE

Conditional Use Permit No. 2068552
MPF 8859 BALBOA AVE PROJECT NO. 585435
Hearing Officer

This Conditional Use Permit No. 2068552 is granted by the Hearing Officer of the City of San Diego
to SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC, a California limited liability company,
Owner/Permittee, pursuant to San Diego Municipal Code [SDMC(] section 126.0305. The 2.51-acre
site is located at 8859 Balboa Avenue, Suites A-E in the IL-3-1 zone of the Kearny Mesa Community
Plan. The project site is legally described as Parcel 1: an undivided 5/64% interest in and to the
southwesterly 219.55 feet of the northeasterly 413.55 feet of Lot 9, in the City of San Diego Industrial
Park Unity No. 2, according to Map thereof No. 4113, filed March 12, 1959.

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Permit, permission is granted to
Owner/Permittee to operate a Marijuana Production Facility within existing suites A-E comprising of
an operational area of 4,998 square feet within an existing 39,675 square foot industrial building
located at 8859 Balboa Avenue in the Kearny Mesa Community Plan area described and identified by
size, dimension, quantity, type, and focation on the approved exhibits [Exhibit "A”) dated August 15,
2018, on file in the Development Services Department.

The project shall include:

a. Operation of a Marijuana Production Facility within existing suites A-E, comprising an
operational area of 4,998 square feet within an existing 39,675 square foot industrial
building. The operation shall include the production of marijuana products consistent with
the requirements of the State of California statues and the California Departments of Food
and Agriculture, Consumer Affairs and Public Health regulations; and the manufacturing,
storing, and distributing of cannabis products to State of California licensed outlets.
Cultivation and retail sales are prohibited;

b. The Marijuana Production Facility operations will include the following areas:
Secured Entry - This entry will be used by employees to enter and exit the building. It will

also serve as a visitor entrance/exit. The external door to the Entry Lobby is open to
visitors. A bell rings alerting staff that a visitor has arrived. The exterior door from the

Page 1 of 7
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Secured Entries to the secure areas have an electronic key pad entry. All employees will
have a unique digital electronic key code for entry through this door.

Manager's Room - This office will be locked and only managers will be allowed in the
manager’s office. It has a key lock. This room is also where any cash will be securely stored,

if needed.

Secured Product Storage Room - Product that has been manufactured, tested, packaged,
labeled, and quality assurance checked will be stored in this room. It will be separately
locked with access by manager’s only. Product stored here is waiting distribution.

Break Room - The employee break room will be used for breaks, lunches, etc. It is not
separately locked.

Packaging & Distribution Room - After manufacturing, products will be moved to this room
for packaging, labeling, and preparation for distribution, This will also be the room used

for the quality control procedure.

Raw Material Storage - When raw cannabis is received, inspected, and accepted from
cultivators the raw material is moved and stored in this room until processing is ready for
it. There will be shelves in this room that allow for separate storage of batches.

Extraction Room - Cannabinoids will be extracted in this room through a variety of
processes. Batches are kept separate during the extraction process.

Post Processing Room - This room will be where the raw extract is further processed
through a variety of methods into a more refined oil or extract. This room is also where
batches will be stored awaiting the laboratory testing process. The lab testing licensee
performs the sampling of batches in this room. The manufactured product will remain in
this room until lab test results are returned. If a batch passes testing, the product will be
moved to the Finished Product Storage Room or directly enter the distribution process;

Off-street parking; and

Public and private accessory improvements determined by the Development Services
Department to be consistent with the land use and development standards for this site in
accordance with the adopted community plan, the California Environmental Quality Act
[CEQA] and the CEQA Guidelines, the City Engineer’s requirements, zoning regulations,
conditions of this Permit, and any other applicable regulations of the SDMC.

STANDARD REQUIREMENTS:

This permit must be utilized within thirty-six (36) months after the date on which all rights of
appeal have expired. If this permit is not utilized in accordance with Chapter 12, Article 6, Division 1
of the SDMC within the 36 month period, this permit shall be void unless an Extension of Time has
been granted. Any such Extension of Time must meet all SDMC requirements and applicable

Page 2 of 7

3079




guidelines in effect at the time the extension is considered by the appropriate decision maker. This
permit must be utilized by August 30, 2021.

2. This Conditional Use Permit [CUP] and corresponding use of this site shall expire on August 30,
2023. Upon expiration of this Permit, the facilities and improvements within the building described
herein shall be removed from this site and the property shall be restored to its original condition
preceding approval of this Permit.

3. Nopermit for the construction, occupancy, or operation of any facility or improvement
described herein shall be granted, nor shall any activity authorized by this Permit be conducted on

the premises until:

a.  The Owner/Permittee signs and returns the Permit to the Development Services
Department; and

b.  The Permit is recorded in the Office of the San Diego County Recorder.

4. While this Permit is in effect, the subject property shall be used only for the purposes and
under the terms and conditions set forth in this Permit unless otherwise authorized by the

appropriate City decision maker.

5. This Permitis a covenant running with the subject property and all of the requirements and
conditions of this Permit and related documents shall be binding upon the Owner/Permittee and

any successor(s) in interest.

6.  The continued use of this Permit shall be subject to the regulations of this and any other
applicable governmental agency.

7. Issuance of this Permit by the City of San Diego does not authorize the Owner/Permittee for
this Permit to violate any Federal, State or City laws, ordinances, regulations or policies including, but
not limited to, the Endangered Species Act of 1973 [ESA] and any amendments thereto (16 U.S.C. §

1531 et seq.).

8. The Owner/Permittee shall secure all necessary building permits. The Owner/Permittee is
informed that to secure these permits, substantial building modifications and site improvements
may be required to comply with applicable building, fire, mechanical, and plumbing codes, and State

and Federal disability access laws.

9.  Construction plans shall be in substantial conformity to Exhibit "A.” Changes, modifications, or
alterations to the construction plans are prohibited unless appropriate application(s) or
amendment(s) to this Permit have been granted.

10.  All of the conditions contained in this Permit have been considered and were determined
necessary to make the findings required for approval of this Permit. The Permit holder is required
to comply with each and every condition in order to maintain the entitlements that are granted by

this Permit.
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If any condition of this Permit, on a legal challenge by the Owner/Perinittee of this Permit, is found
or held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, unenforceable, or unreasonable, this
Permit shall be void. However, in such an event, the Owner/Permittee shall have the right, by paying
applicable processing fees, to bring a request for a new permit without the "invalid" conditions(s)
back to the discretionary body which approved the Permit for a determination by that body as to
whether all of the findings necessary for the issuance of the proposed permit can still be made in
the absence of the "invalid" condition(s). Such hearing shall be a hearing de novo, and the
discretionary body shall have the absolute right to approve, dasapprove or modify the proposed
permit and the condition(s) contained therein.

11.  The Owner/Permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City, its agents, officers,
and employees from any and all claims, actions, proceedings, damages, judgments, or costs,
including attorney’s fees, against the City or its agents, officers, or employees, relating to the
issuance of this permit including, but not limited to, any action to attack, set aside, void, challenge,
or annul this development approval and any environmental document or decision. The City will
promptly notify Owner/Permittee of any claim, action, or proceeding and, if the City should fail to
cooperate fully in the defense, the Owner/Permittee shall not thereafter be responsible to defend,
indemnify, and hold harmless the City or its agents, officers, and employees. The City may elect to
conduct its own defense, participate in its own defense, or obtain independent legal counsel in
defense of any claim related to this indemnification. in the event of such election, Owner/Permittee
shall pay all of the costs related thereto, including without limitation reasonable attorney's fees and
costs. In the event of a disagreement between the City and Owner/Permittee regarding litigation
issues, the City shall have the authority to control the litigation and make litigation related decisions,
including, but not limited to, settlerent or other disposition of the matter. However, the
Owner/Permittee shall not be required to pay or perform any settlement unless such settlement is

approved by Owner/Permittee.

BUILDING OFFICIAL REQUIREMENTS:

12.  Prior to the commencement of operations granted by this Permit, the Owner/Permittee shall
obtain a change of use/occupancy building permit consistent with all California Codes and
Regulations in effect at the time of building permit, satisfactory to the Building Official.

ENGINEERING REQUIREMENTS:

13.  Prior to the issuance of any construction permit the Owner/Permittee shall submit a Water
Pollution Control Plan (WPCP). The WPCP shall be prepared in accordance with the guidelines in Part
2 Construction BMP Standards Chapter 4 of the City's Storm Water Standards.

14.  Prior to the issuance of any building permits, the Owner/Permittee shall assure, by permit and
bond, the removal and replacement of the westernmost driveway, adjacent to the site on Balboa
Avenue, per current City Standards.

PLANNING/DESIGN REQUIREMENTS:
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15.  All operations shall be conducted indoors within a secured structure. All equipment and
storage shall be also located within a secure structure,

16. Lighting shall be provided to illuminate the immediate surrounding area of the facility,
including parking lots and adjoining sidewalks. Lighting shall be hooded or oriented to deflect light

away from adjacent properties.

17.  Security shall include operable cameras, alarms, and a security guard. The security guard shall
be licensed by the State of California and be present on the premises during business hours. The
security guard shall only be engaged in activities related to providing security for the facility, except

on an incidental basis.

18.  Thename and emergency contact telephone number of an operator or manager shall be
posted outside the marijuana production facility in a location visible to the public from the public
right-of-way in character size at least two inches in height. The permittee shall provide this contact
information to the San Diego Police Department. The operator or manager shall also be available 24
hours a day to address public nuisance complaints and Interact with local, state, and federal law
enforcement authorities. Other than the contact information, a marijuana production facility shall
limit signage on the exterior of the property visible from the public right-of-way to the address.

19. A permit shall be obtained as required pursuant to Chapter 4, Article 2, Division 15.

20.  Theretail sale of marijuana and marijuana products shall only be conducted by a marijuana
outlet in accordance with Section 141.0504. A marijuana production facility is prohibited from
providing marijuana and marijuana products to any person other than another marijuana
production facility, a testing lab, or a marijuana outlet.

21.  Themarijuana production facility, adjacent public sidewalks, and areas under the control of
the marijuana production facility shall be maintained free of litter and graffiti at all times.

22.  The marijuana production facility shall provide daily removal of trash, litter, and debris.
Graffiti shall be removed from the premises within 24 hours.

23.  The Owner/Permittee shal provide an odor absorbing ventilation and exhaust system capable
of minimizing excessive or offensive odors emanating outside of the permitted facility, to the
satisfaction of the Development Services Department.

TRANSPORTATION REQUIREMENTS

24. The automobile, motorcycle and bicycle parking spaces must be constructed and provided in
accordance with the requirements of the SDMC. All on-site parking stalls and aisle widths shall be in
compliance with requirements of the City's Land Development Code and shall not be converted
and/or utilized for any other purpose, unless otherwise authorized in writing authorized by the
appropriate City decision maker in accordance with the SDMC.
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25, A maximum of ten employees shall be allowed on-site at any given time to correspond to the
ten parking spaces provided for the project.

INFORMATION ONLY:

 The issuance of this discretionary permit alone does not allow the immediate commencement

or continued operation of the proposed use on site. Any operation allowed by this
discretionary permit may only begin or recommence after all conditions listed on this permit
are fully completed and all required ministerial permits have been issued and received final

inspection.

« Any party on whom fees, dedications, reservations, or other exactions have been imposed as
conditions of approval of this Permit, may protest the imposition within ninety days of the
approval of this development permit by filing a written protest with the City Clerk pursuant to
California Government Code-section 66020.

« This development may be subject to impact fees at the time of construction permit issuance.

APPROVED by the Hearing Officer of the City of San Diego on August 15, 2018 by Resolution No. HO-
7131,
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Permit Type/PTS Approval No.: 2068552
Date of Approval: August 15, 2018

AUTHENTICATED BY THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DEPARTMENT

Hugo Castaneda
Development Project Manager

NOTE: Notary acknowledgment
must be attached per Civil Code
section 1189 et seq.

The undersigned Owner/Permittee, by execution hereof, agrees to each and every condition of
this Permit and promises to perform each and every obligation of Owner/Permittee hereunder.

SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC,
a California limited liability company
Owner/Permittee

By%%

Ninus Malan
Managing Member

NOTE: Notary acknowledgments
must be attached per Civil Code
section 1189 et seq.

Seo o aritihont
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CALIFORNIA ALL-PURPOSE ACKNOWLEDGMENT CIVIL CODE § 1189

A notaty public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the Individual who signed the
document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document.

State of California )

County of San Diego )

on % / 20 [ 260 before me, A. Caro Del Castillo, Notary Public
Date . Here Insert Name and Title of the Officer

personally appeared Ninvs malan

Name? of Signer(s)

who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the ierson whose name )’¢§/ay4

subscribed to the within lnstrum nt and acknowledged to me that y executed the same i
@eﬂfhew—am’rhoﬁzed oapamty ), and that b eir S|gnatur<; on the instrument the person(s),

or the entity upon behalf of whic| the person(g) acted, executed the instrument.

| certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws
of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph
is true and correct.

WITNESS my hand and official seal.

Signature __\. @E L&

Signature of Notary Public

o, A CARO DEL CASTILLO
2208686

b NOTARY pueuc OCALIFORNIA'_'.

v/ SAN DIEGO COUNTY e
CommlssmExpkes AUG 31, 2021

Place Notary Seal Above

OPTIONAL
Though this section is optional, completing this information can deter alteration of the document or
fraudulent reattachment of this form to an unintended document.

Description of Attached Document

Title or Type of Document: Document Date:

Number of Pages: Signer(s) Other Than Named Above:

Capacity(ies) Claimed by Signer(s)

Signer’s Name: Signer’s Name:

[0 Corporate Officer — Title(s): [J Corporate Officer — Title(s):

(O Partner — [1Limited ] General O Partner — [1Limited [ General

O Individual [ Attorney in Fact O Individuat [ Attorney in Fact

O Trustee O Guardian or Conservator [ Trustee [J Guardian or Conservator
[ Other: [0 Other:

Signer Is Representing: Signer Is Representing:

RN R RN R A R R N R R R R SR R R R A R R N N N SR R AR S RS RS SRR
©2014 National Notary Association « www.NationalNotary.org + 1-800-US NOTARY (1-800-876-6827) Item #5907
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Hearing Officer Resolution No. HO-7131
Conditional Use Permit No. 2068552
MPF 8859 BALBOA AVE PROJECT NO. 585435

WHEREAS, SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC, a California limited liability company,
Owner/Permittee, filed an application with the City of San Diego for a permit to operate a Marijuana
Production Facility within existing suites A-E comprising an operational area of 4,998 square feet
within an existing 39,675 square foot industrial buiiding (as described in and by reference to the
approved Exhibits "A" and corresponding conditions of approval for the associated Permit No.
2068552), on portions of a 2,51-acre site;

WHEREAS, the project site is located at 8859 Balboa Avenue in the IL-3-1 zone of the Kearny
Mesa Community Plan;

WHEREAS, the project site is legally described as Parcel 1: an undivided 5/64% interest in and
to the southwesterly 219.55 feet of the northeasterly 413.55 feet of Lot 9, in the City of San Diego
Industrial Park Unity No. 2, according to Map thereof No. 4113, filed March 12, 1959;

WHEREAS, on June 7, 2018 the City of San Diego, as Lead Agency, through the Development
Services Department, made and issued an Environmental Determination that the project is exempt
from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.)
under CEQA Guideline Section 15303(c) and there was nho appeal of the Environmental Determination
filed within the time period provided by San Diego Municipal Code Section 112.0520;

WHEREAS, on August 15, 2018, the Hearing Officer of the City of San Diego considered
Conditional Use Permit No. 2068552 pursuant to the Land Development Code of the City of San

Diego;
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Hearing Officer of the City of San Diego as follows:

That the Hearing Officer adopts the following written Findings, dated August 15, 2018.

A, CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT [SDMC Section 126.0305]

1. Findings for all Conditional Use Permits:

a. The proposed development will not adversely affect the applicable land use
plan.

The proposed project requests a Conditional Use Permit to operate a Marijuana
Production Facility within existing suites A-E comprising an operational area of 4,998
square feet within an existing 39,675 square foot industrial building. The 2.51-acre site is
located at 8859 Balboa Avenue in the IL-3-1 zone of the Kearny Mesa Community Plan,
The site is designated Industrial and Business Parks uses by the Kearny Mesa
Community Plan. The Industrial and Business Parks designation is intended to
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accommodate manufacturing, storage, warehousing, distribution, and similar uses, The
Industrial and Business Park designation would permit light manufacturing uses, thereby
providing additional land suitable for manufacturing activities. The proposed Marijuana
Production Facility, classified as light industrial services, is a compatible use for this
location with a Conditional Use Permit and is consistent with the community plan, and.
therefore will not adversely affect the applicable land use plan.

b. The proposed development will not be detrimental to the public health, safety,
and welfare.

The proposed Marijuana Production Facility within existing suites A-E comprising of an
operational area of 4,998 square feet within an existing 39,675 square foot industrial
building. The 2.51-acre site is located at 8859 Balboa Avenue in the [L-3-1 zone of the
Kearny Mesa Community Plan. The building is currently being used for light industrial
uses. The project proposes tenant improvements to the existing building to facilitate
operations including the manufacturing, storing, and distributing of cannabis products to
State of California licensed outlets. No cultivation or retail sales are proposed. The
proposed improvements will require the Owner/Permittee to obtain a change of
use/occupancy building permit consistent with all California Codes and Regulations in
effect at the time of building permit, satisfactory to the Building Official. Public
improvements will include the removal and replacement of the westernmost driveway,
adjacent to the site on Balboa Avenue, per current City Standards.

Marijuana Production Facilities are restricted to forty City-wide, within light and heavy
industrial zones. Marijuana Production Facilities require compliance with San Diego
Municipal Code (SDMC), section 141.1004, which require a 1,000 foot separation,
measured between property lines from, resource and population-based City parks,
churches, child care centers, playgrounds, City libraries, minor-oriented facilities,
residential care facilities, and schools. Marijuana Production Facilities also require a
minimum distance requirement of 100 feet from a residential zone. Security
requirements include interior and exterior lighting, security cameras, alarms and a
security guard. The security guard must be licensed by the State of California and be
present on the premises during business hours. Marijuana Production Facilities must
also comply with Chapter 4, Article 2, Division 15 which provides guidelines for lawful

operation.

The proposed project will be required to comply with the development conditions as
described in the Conditional Use Permit No. 2068552 as it relates to the operational
requirements imposed by the City of San Diego. The Conditional Use Permit No. 2068552
will be valid for five years and may be revoked if the Owner/Permittee violates the terms,
conditions, lawful requirements, or provisions of the Permit.

The proposed development will not be detrimental to the public's health, safety and
welfare in that the discretionary permit controlling the use of this site contains specific
regulatory conditions of approval, as referenced in the Conditional Use Permit No.
2068552, The referenced regulations and conditions have been determined as necessary
to avoid adverse impact upon the health, safety and general welfare of persons residing
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or working within the surrounding area. Therefore, the proposed Marijuana Production
Facility wilf not be detrimental to the public health, safety and welfare.

¢. The proposed development will comply with the regulations of the Land
Development Code including any allowable deviations pursuant to the Land

Development Code.

The proposed Marijuana Production Facility within existing suites A-E comprising of an
operational area of 4,998 square feet within an existing 39,675 square foot industrial
building. The 2.51-acre site is located at 8859 Balboa Avenue in the IL-3-1 zone of the
Kearny Mesa Community Plan. The site was developed in 1969. The project proposes
tenant improvements to the existing building to facilitate operations including the
manufacturing, storing, and distributing of cannabis products to State of California
licensed outlets. No cultivation or retail sales are proposed.

Marijuana Production Facilities are allowed in the IL-3-1 Zone of the Kearny Mesa
Community Plan with a Conditional Use Permit. The proposed use requires compliance
with San Diego Municipal Code (SDMC), Section 141.1004 and Chapter 4, Article 2,
Division 15. Section 141.1004 requires a 1,000 foot separation, measured between
property lines from, resource and population-based City parks, churches, child care
centers, playgrounds, City libraries, minor-oriented facilities, residential care facilities,
and schools. There Is also a minimum distance requirement of 100 feet from a
residential zone. Security requirements, expressed as conditions in the Permit, include
interior and exterior lighting, security cameras, alarms and a security guard. The security
guard must be licensed by the State of California and be present on the premises during

business hours.

The proposed Marijuana Production Facility is consistent with all land development
regulations relevant for the site and the use and no deviations are requested or
required. Therefore, the proposed Marijuana Production Facility will comply with the
regulations of the Land Development Code.

d. The proposed use is appropriate at the proposed location.

The proposed Marijuana Production Facility within existing suites A-E comprising of an
operational area of 4,998 square feet within an existing 39,675 square foot industrial
building. The 2.51-acre site is located at 8859 Balboa Avenue in the [L-3-1 zone of the
Kearny Mesa Community Plan. The Light Industrial IL-3-1 zone is intended to provide for
a wide range of light industrial, office, and commercial uses. The proposed Marijuana
Production Facility, classified as light industrial services, is consistent with the community

plan.

The proposed Marijuana Production Facility is consistent with all land development
regulations relevant for the site and the use. No deviations are requested or required to
approve the project as proposed. The proposed Marijuana Production Facility is a
compatible use for this location with a Conditional Use Permit. Therefore, the proposed
MPF is an appropriate use at the proposed location.
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The above findings are supported by the minutes, maps and exhibits, all of which are
incorporated herein by this reference.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that, based on the findings hereinbefore adopted by the Hearing
Officer, Conditional Use Permit No. 2068552 is hereby GRANTED by the Hearing Officer to the
referenced Owner/Permittee, in the form, exhibits, terms and conditions as set forth in Permit No.
2068552, a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof,

Hugo Castaneda
Development Project Manager
Development Services
Adopted on: August 15, 2018

10#: 24007571
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J. GREGORY TURNER, Esq.
SBN 204967

110 W C Street Suite 2010

San Diego, CA 92101
619-232-2311

619-232-2312 fax
greg@turnerlawsandiego.com

Attorney for Petitioner
DENNISE GURFINKIEL

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, SOUTHERN DIVISION

DENNISE GURFINKIEL, } Case No:
Petitioner, )
Vvs. )
) NOTICE OF LODGED DOCUMENTS
SALAM RAZUKI, )
Respondent. ) Date:
Y Time:
) Dept.:
)
)

TO: THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, SOUTHERN DIVISION; AND TO THE RESPONDENT

OR HIS REPRESENTATIVE

The petitioner,
hereby lodges the attached materials in support of her petition:

1) Screen capture of cell phone display (hereinafter “screenshol(s)

respondent Salam Razuki to petitioner’s real estate broker Irdgardo Masanes.

2) Receipt [rom a vehicle inspection for petitioner’s mother Rocio Ramirez’s vehicle.

3) Screenshots of text messages sent by respondent Salam Razuki to petitioner Dennise

Gurfinkiel containing a screenshot of an e-mail sent by Salam Razuki.

.- 1=
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4) Sereenshots of text messages s¢nt by respondent Salam Razuki o petitioner Dennise

Gurfinkiel throughout December 2016.

5) Screenshot of text messages sent by respondent Salam Razuki to petitioner’s brother
Joseph Gurfinkiel.

6) Screenshot of a text message sent by respondent Salam Razuki 1o petitioner’s mother
Rocio Ramirez.

7) Screenshots of call logs made to petitioner’s mother Rocio Ramirez.

8) Screenshots of text messages sent by respondent Salam Razuki to petitioner’s client
Roberto Christlieb.

9) Screenshol of a text message sent by mechanic Fernando to petitioner Dennise Gurfinkiel.

10) Screcnshots of call logs made Lo petitioner Dennise Gurfinkicl’s cell phone.

11) Screenshot of e-mail sent by respondent Salam Razuki to petitioner Dennise Gurfinkiel.

12) Screenshot of e-mail sent by lIris Musick, Loan Mitigation Counselor at Del Toro Loan
Servicing, Inc., a business scrvicing a Jender with whom petitioner Dennise Gurfinkiel

holds a mortgage.

<Grégory-“Turner
Attprney for Petitioner
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From: Salam Razuki

To: Dennise Gurfinkiel

No Subject

December 16, 2016 at 113 PM
Are you okkkkkkkk

Sent from my iPhone

SHE=

hitps:/fmail googhe.com/mail/w/0/#inbox/159 194081334497 ?projector=1

image1 PNG
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From: iris Musick

To: Latonya Coleman »

Cc: Dennise Gurfinkiel »

Reinstatement figures on 6780 Friars Road
#133 & 2602-2604 Newton Ave
Yesterday at 4:49 PM -

Hi,

This is the account where the borrower is asking for
reinstatement figures on both properties. Dennise
Gurfinkiel indicated that the best contact number for her

is 619-719-——. Iris

Del Toro Loan Servicin g, Inc. will be closed on
Monday, December 26th for the holiday. The
company will resume operations on Tuesday,
December 27,

Iris Musick Loan Mitigation Counselor

v -,
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Alex Padilla
California Secretary of State

O% Business Search - Entity Detail

The California Business Search is updated daily and reflects work processed through Monday, September 3, 2018, Please refer
to document Processing Times for the received dates of filings currently being processed. The data provided is not a complete
or certified record of an entity. Not all images are available online.

201410510348 AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS, LLC

Registration Date:
Jurisdiction:

Entity Type:

Status:

Agent for Service of Process:

Entity Address:
Entity Mailing Address:

LLC Management

04/11/2014

CALIFORNIA

DOMESTIC

ACTIVE

NINUS MALAN

5065 LOGAN AVE STE 101
SAN DIEGO CA 92113
5065 LOGAN AVE STE 101
SAN DIEGO CA 92113
5065 LOGAN AVE STE 101
SAN DIEGO CA 92113
Managers

A Statement of Information is due EVERY EVEN-NUMBERED year beginning five months before and through the end of April.

Document Type it | File Date {F | PDF
 S-COMPLETE | 1210372015
 REGISTRATION | 04/11/2014 |

| R

* Indicates the information is not contained in the California Secretary of State's database.

Note: If the agent for service of process is a corporation, the address of the agent may be requested by ordering a status report,

« For information on checking or reserving a name, refer to Name Availability.

« If the image is not available online, for information on ordering a copy refer to Information Requests.

« For information on ordering certificates, status reports, certified copies of documents and copies of documents not
currently available in the Business Search or to request a more extensive search for records, refer to Information

Requests.

« For help with searching an entity name, refer to Search Tips.
« For descriptions of the various fields and status types, refer to Frequently Asked Questions.

f oo
' Modify Search | New Search j

4

| | Back to Search Results
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2014105103848

LLC-1 Articles of Organization
of a Limited Liability Company (LLC)

To form a limited liability company in California, you can fill out this form,
and submit for filing along with:

~ A $70 filing fee.

— A separate, non-refundable $15 service fee also must be included,

.if you drop off the completed form. e FILED D\/ m/
Secretary of State

- Important! LLCs in California may have to pay a minimum $800 yearly
tax.to'the California Franchise Tax Board. For more information, go to State of California

' ‘https Iiwww . ftb.ca.gov. APR 1 1 20'4
'LLCs may not provide "profess:onal services," as defined by California
Corporations Code sections 13401(a) and 13401.3. 9
\VC

Note: Before submitting the completed form, you should consult with a
: priVate attomey for advice about your specific business needs, This Space For Office Use Only

For questions about this form, go to www.sos.ca.govibusiness/beffiling-tips. htm.
LLC Name (Listthe proposed LLC name exactly as it is to appear on the records of the Cahforma Secretary of State.)

o) Amencan Lending and Holdings, LLC
—— - Proposed LLC Name The name must include: LLC, L.L.C., Limited Liability Company, Limited Liability. Co., Ltd.
. L:abuny Co. or Ltd. Liability Company and may not include: bank, trust, trustee, moorporated
ing., comoration, or corp., insurer, or insurance company. For general entity name
requirements and restrictions, go to www.sos.ca.govibusiness/be/name-availabliity.htn,

ﬁurposé
- @ The purpose of the limited liability company is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which a hm:ted liability
company may be organized under the California Revised Uniform Limited Liability Company Act.

LLC Addresses : _
® a 7977 Broadway Lemon Grove cA 91945
Initial Streat Address of Designated Office in CA - Do not list a P.O. Box Cily (no abbreviations) State  Zip
b, .
Initial Mailing Address of LLC, if different from 3a Ciy (no abbreviations) State  2Zip

Service of Process (List a California resident or a California registered corporate agent that agrees to be your initial agent to accept
.- service:of process in case your LLC is sued. You may list any adult who lives in Califomia. You may niot list an LLC as the agent. Do not
fist an address if the agent is a California registered corporate agent as the address for service of process is already on file.)
'@ a, Ninus Malan -
Agent's Name
- 7977 Broadway Lemon Grove CA 91945
Agent's Street Address (if agent is not & ¢orporation) - Do not fista P.O. Box  City (no abbrgviations) State Zip

Management (Check only one.)

® The LLC willlbe managed by
D One Manager More Than One Manager [:] All Limited Liability Company Member(s) -

This form must be signed by each organizer. If you need more space, attach extra pages that are 1-sided and on standand letter-sized
paper (8 1/2"x 11"). All attachments are made part of these articles of organization.

) Ninus Malan
Organizer - Sign here Print your name here

Make check/money order payable to: Secretary of State By Malt Drop-Off

Upon fifing, we will return one (1) uncertified copy of your filed Secretary of State Secretary of State

document for free, and will certify the copy upon request and Business Entities, P.O. Box 944228 1500 11th Street, 3rd Floor

payment of a $5 certification fee. Sacramento, CA 94244-2280 Sacramento, CA 95814
Corparations Code §§ 17701.04, 1770108, 17701.13, 17702.01, Revenue and Taxation Code § 17941 2014 Califomia Secretary of State

Wwww.508.ca.govibusiness/be

LLC-1 (REV 01/2014)
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State of California L
. Secretary of State
STATEMENT OF INFORMATION 26 FILED
: (Limited Liability Company) - | Becrstaryof State
Filing Fee $20.00. If this is an amendment, see Instructions. - State of Califomia
IMPORTANT — READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE COMPLETING THIS FORM S EC 0 ] m5
% LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY NAME 1 . D 200
Arnerican Lending and Holdings, LLC
A
. ) . , R v F/‘ This Spae;a For Flling Use Only **
File Number and State or Place of Organization .~ " I . o
2 SEC.REFARY ossm\su_e NUMBER 301410510348 al, sms-qa-mcg oF ORGAN'ZAT'.ON (lﬂormed g@de of gdnomh)\ -
No Change Statement ' : — e

4, ffthare have bean any changes to the information contained in the (ast Statement of Information filed with the California Secretary o|§ '
State, or no statement of Information has been previously filed, this form must be completed in its entirety. i )
D if there has been no change in any of the information contained in the last Statement of Information filed with the Califomia Secretaryiof

State, check the box and proceed to Item 15,

Name and Complete Address of the Chief Executive Officer, If Any

Complete Addresses for thé Following (Do not abnreviate the name of the city. Items 5 and 7 cannot be P 0. Boxes) . N
5. STREET ADDRESS OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE . - ey * % .+- STATE - 2ZIPCODE - N B
5065 Logan Ave, Suite 101 : San Diego CA 92113 {
6 MAILING ADDRESS OF LLC, IF DIFFERENT THAN TEM 5 ary . STATE  ZIP CODE P
17 STREETADDRESS OF CALIFORNIA OFFICE ) . CITY ", STATE  ZIPCODE . . f,
5065 Logan Ave, Suite 101 : San Diego ] CA 92113 “

8. NAME ADDRESS . cry . T _STATE 2ZIP CODE
Ninus Malan 5065 Logan Ave, Suite 101 San D|ego cA;' B 92113

Name and Compléete Address of Any Manager or Managers, or If None Have Been Appointed or Elected Provide the Name and
Address of Each Member (Attach additional pages, if necessary.)

5, . ary ©7STATE  2IP CODE
Ninus Malan 5065 Logan Ave, Suite 101 _ SanDiego - -CA = 92113
10. NAME ADDRESS ciry - .., STATE. ‘ZIPCODE
11, NAME ' ADDRESS Lo . ... STATE  ZIPCODE

Agent for Service of Process Jf the agent is an individual, the agent must reside In Califoria and ltem 13 must be Gompléted with a California addréss; a

Corporations Code section 1505 and ttem' 13 must be left blank.

P.0. Box is not acceptable. If the agent is a corporation, the agent must have on file with the Califomia Seeratary of State a certificate pursuant to Caltfomia )

12, NAME OF AGENT FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS

Ninus Malan : . . G

13, STREET ADDRESS OF AGENT FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS IN CALIFORNIA, FAN mocwmm oY : ' STATE  ZIP CODE
5065 Logan Ave, Suite 101 San Diego CA 92113
Type of Business ' i I

14, DESCRIBE THE TYPE OF BUSINESS OF THE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY
Real Estate Lending and Investment Company

15, THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN, INCLUDING ANY ATTACHMENTS, IS TRUE AND CORRECT. "~
11/19/2015 Ninus Malan . Manager N
DAYE TYPE OR PRINT NAME OF PERSON COMPLETING THE FORM TITLE NATUR

LLC-12(REV 01/2014) . APPROVED BY SECRETARY OF STATE
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11
12

14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

23

24

25
26
27
28

DOUGLAS JAFFE, ESQ. Bar No. 170354
LAW OFFICES OF DOUGLAS JAFFE
501 West Broadway, Suite 800

San Diego, California 92101

Telephone: (619) 400-4945

Facstmile: (619) 400-4947

|| Attorneys for Plaintiff

AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS;
LLC,

Plaintiff,
vs.

DENNISE GURFINKIEL individually and
l/b/a Starting Point Realty, and d/b/a SLS
Management Services; EDGARDO
MASANES, individually and d/b/a Starting
Point Realty; JOEY SORIANO individually
hnd d/b/a Starting Point Realty; and DOES 1
through 10, inclusive,

Defendants.

F'rLe ﬁb:vgwug E

Clork of e Sugarier Cotrt

JUL 01 2016
-ei.;..:'.,-,-‘ ’

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY (OF SAN DIEGO ~ CENTRAL

Case No.: 37-2016-00022168-CU-BC-CTL

...COMELAINT .

3 BREACH OF CONTRACT
OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR
DEALING -

3% FRAUD

4) NEGLIGENT
MISREPRESENTATION

6) NEGLIGENCE

UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

)

as follows:

COMES NOW American Lending and Holdings, LLC (“Plaintiff” or “ALH") and alleges|

eSS 0
CENTRAL a.'wsFrFo'fS' 4

MG ~) g
-

AN DIZ60 Coyy

BREACH OF IMPLIED COVENANT

53 BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY

H 9y

=S

Complaint
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1l and complete work on the real estate properties; 3)List and sell the properties; and 4)Produce a

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

1. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereupon alleges, that Defendant Dennise
Gurfinkiel, individually and d/b/a Starting Poi.nt Realty, and d/b/a SLS Management Services,
("Gurfinkiel") is an individual doing business within the County of San Diego, State of
California, |

2. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereupon alleges, that Defendant Edgardo
Masanes, individually and d/b/a Starting Point Realty ("Masanes") is an individual doing
business within the County of San Diego, State of California.

3 Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereupon alleges, that Defendant Joey
Soriano, individually and d/b/a Starting Point Realty ("Soriano") is an individual doing business
within the County of San Diego, State of California.

4. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate or
otherwise, of Defendants Does 1 through 10 are unknown to Plaintiff who therefore sues said
Defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiff will amend this complaint to show their true
names and capacities when they have been ascertained, Plaintiff alleges that each of the
fictitiously named Defendants engaged in the actions and omissions hereinafier alleged and that
each is fully liable for all the damages requested herein.

5. This Court has personal and subject matter jurisdiction over this action and venue

is properly placed in this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ACTION
6. Gurfinkiel represented that she, along with Joey Soriano, Edgardo Masanes, and
Starting Point Realty, would: 1)Acquire real estate properties below market value; 2)Remodel

profit from the sale of the properties.
7. The pioperties at issue are: 1843 J Avenue, National City, CA 91950; 1415

Eckman Avenue, Chula Vista, CA 91911; 1077 Laguna Seca Loop, Chula Vista CA 91915,

14515 Arroyo Hondo, San Diego, CA 92127; 2912 Pine Grove Ct, Spring Valley CA 91978;
2

" Complaint
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10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

24 ||

25
26
27
28

1137 Naranca Avenus, El Cajon CA 92021; 3029 Broadway, San Diego CA 92102; 13034 Old
Borona Rd, Lakeside CA 92040 and 2437 Camino de las Palmas, Lemon Grove CA 91945,

8. Defendants have failed to timely and properly perform their work and services.

9, Furthermore, ALH has discovered that Gurfinkiel and Soriano have not been
properly licensed, and Starting Point Realty has not been listed with the California Department
of Real Estate as affiliated with any person or entity which is properly licensed. The records of
the San Diego Clerk and Recorder indicate that Arlene Masanes filed a fictitious business
staternent in 2012 regarding Starting Point Realty, although Arlene Masanes was not, and is not,
licensed according to the records of the California Départment of Real Estate,

10.  Defendants have engaged in a conspiracy to defraud money from ALH. Their
conduct was illegal, Defendants had and have an agreement to commit a wrongful act to harm
ALH. Defendants were and are aware that they planned to commit the wrongful acts to harm
ALH, and Defendants agreed and intended that the wrongful acts be committed to harm ALH.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
{Breach Of Contract)

11, Plaintiff incorporates by this reference each of the previous paragraphs.

12 Defendants have materially breached their agreements with ALH.

13, ALH did all, or substantially all, of the significant things that the agreements
required them to do, or ALH was excused from doing those things.

14. Al conditions required by the agreements for Defendants’ performance have

occurred.
15, Aswedirect and proximate result of the foregoing, ALH has sustained damages in

an amount to be determined at trial, plus interest, costs and attorneys’ fees.

3
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10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

26
27
28

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Breach Of Implied Covenant Of Good Faith And Fair Dealing)

16.  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference each of the previous paragraphs.

17.  Inthe agreements between the parties there were implied promises of good faith
and fair dealing,

18, The parties entered into the agreements.

19.  ALH did all, or substantially all of the significant things that the agreements

required it to do or it was excused from having to do those things.

20,  All conditions required for Defendants' performance occurred.

2], Defendants have unfairly interfered with ALH's right to receive the benefits of
the agreements.

22.  ALH has been harmed by Defendants® conduct, and continues to be harmed by
Defendants’ conduct

23.  As adirect and proximate result of the foregoing, ALH has sustained damages in

an amount to be determined at trial, plus interest, costs and attorneys® fees.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Fraud)
24,  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference each of the previous paragraphs.

25.  Defendants made material misrepresentations and conceeled information in order

to induce ALH to enter into the agreements.
26.  Defendants made representations of material fact which were in fact false.

27, When Defendants made the representations, Defendants knew they were false or |

had no reasonable ground for believing the representations were true.
28.  Defendants made the representations with the intent to defraud and induce ALH

to enter into the agreements. ALH acted in justifiable reliance upon the truth of the

reptesentations,

4

Complaint
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29.  Defendants concealed or suppressed material facts Defendants were duty bound to
disclose.
30.  Defendants concealed or suppressed material facts by telling ALH other facts to

mislead ALH and prevent ALH from discovering the concealed or suppressed facts.

31, Defendants concealed or suppressed facts with the intent to defraud and induce
ALH to enter into the Agreement, At the time ALH entered into the agreements, ALH was

unaware of the concealed or suppressed facts and would not have taken the actions if it had

known the facts,
32, Asadirect and proximate result of the foregoing, ALH has sustained damages in

an amount to be determined at trial, together with interest and costs.
33, Incommitting the aforementioned acts and omissions, Defendants are guilty of

fraud, oppression or malice, for which Defendants should be punished with the imposition of
punitive damages.

FIFTH CAUJSE OF ACTION
(Negligent Misrepresentation)
34.  Plaintiffs incorporate by this reference the foregoing paragraphs.
35,  The misrepresentations made by Defendants as set forth in the facts herein were
made by Defendants without reasonable grounds for Defendants to believe the

misrepresentations were true.
36.  ALH acted in justifiable reliance on the representations of Defendants.
37, Asadirect and proximate result of the foregoing, ALH has sustained damages in

an amount to be determined at trial, together with interest and costs,

5
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STXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Breach Of Fiduciary Duty)

38,  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference the foregoing paragraphs.
39,  Defendants had fiduciary duties to ALH.
40,  Defendants were duty bound to act with the utmost good faith for the benefit of

ALH.
41, By reason of the foregoing, Defendants failed to act with the utmost good faith for]

the benefit of ALH.
42, Asadirect and proximate result of the foregoing, ALH has sustained damages in

an amount to be determined at trial, together with interest and costs.
43.  Incommitting the aforementioned acts and omissions, Defendants are guilty of
fraud, oppression or malice, for which Defendants should be punished with the imposition of

punitive damages.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Negligence)
44,  Plaintiffs incorporate by this reference gach of the previous paragraphs.
45.  Defendants owed duties to ALH to act reasonably.

46. Defendants breached their duties to ALH.
47.  Asadirect and proximate result of the foregoing, ALH has sustained damages in

an amount to be determined at trial, together with interest and costs.

6
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays as follows:
a) For damages in an amount to be determined at rial;

b) For interest according to proof;

¢) For costs, disbursements and reasonable attorneys' fees as provided in any
agreement between the parties, any statute or otherwise;

d) For punitive damages;

e) For injunctive relief; and

f) For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

LAW OFFIC ()p AUGLAS JAFFE

Douglas Jaffe * / y

7
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ATTORNEY OR PARW WITHOUT ATTGRNEY {Name, State Bar number, and address): FOR COURT USE ONLY

Douglas Jaffe, Esq. #170354
501 West Broadway, Suite 800 E%&Eg}gmfﬂ-é—;ﬂfﬁksn
San Diego, CA 92101 County of 5an Disgo
TELEPHONE NO..619-400-4945 FAX 1D {Optionaty: 619-400-4947 07472016 at 03:31:00 PR
ATTORNEY FOR (Neme): Plaintiff Clerk of the Superiar Dourt
By Jacqueline J. Walters, Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR GOURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO
[X] CENTRAL DIVISION. HALL OF JUSTICE 330 W. BROADWAY, SAN DIEGO, (A 92101
EAST GOUNTY DIVISION, 250 E. MAIN ST EL CAJON, CA 92020
NORTH GOUNTY DIVISION, 325 8, MELROSE DR., SUITE 1000, VISTA, C:A 92081
SOUTH COUNTY DIVISION, 500 3RD AVE., CHULA \/JSTA GA 91910

PLAINTIFF(S) JUDGE
American Lending and Holdings, LLC Joel R. Wohlfell
DEFENDANT(S) DEPT
Dennise Gurfinkiel, et. al. 73
‘ CASE NUMBER
AMENDMENT TO COMPLAINT __137-2016-00022168-CU-BC-CTL

Under Code Civ. Proc. § 474: _
FICTITIOUS NAME (Court order required once case is at issue)

Plaintiff(s), being ignorant of the frue name of a defendant when the complaint in the above-named case was filed, and having 4

designated defendant in the complaint by the fictitious name of

Doe 1

and having discovered the true name of defendant to be

D'Kiel Group, LLC —— _

amends the complaint by inserting such true name in place of such fictitidus naWer ver ars in the complaint.

Date: 7/14/16

-

Under Code Civ. Proc. § 473: ;f;A"ti S o
NAME - Add orCorrect(Courtorderreqmred) S

Plaintiff(s), having designated  [] defendant ] plairtiff in the complaint by the name of

and having discovered ] name to be incorrect arid the correct name is [ defendant also uses the name of

amends the complaintby [ substituting [ adding such name(s) wherever the name of

appears in the complaint.

Date: :
- : Signature

Signature

ORDER
The above amendment to the complaint is aliowed.

Date: .
Judge/Commissioner of the Superior Court

SDSC CIV-012 (Rev. 9/13) AMENDMENT TO COMPLAINT CodaCiv., pm;§§473&474

3148




EXHIBIT G

3149




“$)Sonbay UOHEWIIOU] 0} JojoJ ‘SPI0Jas 10} YIIRaS :9AISUSIXS 9J0u B jsanbal
0} 10 Yoleag ssaulsng sy} Ui sjge|ieAe AQUaLIND JOU SJUSLINDOP JO SBIdoD PUB SJUSWINOOP JO S9Idod Palued ‘spodal SNJe)s ‘sajeoyiad BULIBPIO U0 UOHBULIOMI 10 o

“S}Senboy UOHEUIIGHU] 0} Jojeu Adoo e BuLIBPIO U0 UOjeULIOJU] JO} ‘BUIJUO BIQE|IBAR JOU SI obBWI oy} §] o
“ANGE]IeAY SWEN 0] Jajed ‘aleu & BulAiasal. 1o BUppayo uo uojewloju o4 «

"podas snjejs e Buuepio Aq pajsenbal aq Aew Juabe ay) Jo sseippe 8y} ‘UoneIodioD e si $5820.d JO 8OIAISS J0) Juabe ay] Jj 910N

"aseqejep s,9)e)S Jo Ale}eiosg BILIOJED Sy} Ul PSUIBJUCD JOU SI LONEBULIOMI 8y} SSJedIpu] ,

9L02rTeILL NOLLVILSIOTY |
9L0z/eLiTL _ 3137dWODIS
; areqgad i It adA] Juswndoq

“JaqUIBAON jJo pud 8y} ybnouy) pue aiojeq syjuow oAy BuuuiBaq Jead gIUIGWNN-NIAT AMIAT @Np S UOKRULIOJU] JO JUSWSRIS Y

Jebeuepy sup

juswiabeue 971
S¥616 YO IAOHD NOWI1
AVMAVYOXHd 2261 :ssalppy Buljieyy Aug
S¥616 VO IAOHO NOWTT
AVMAVYONHQa 2264 :ssalppy Anugy
S¥616 VO IAOHO NOWIT
AVMavodd 2464
IMNZVY WYIVS 1SS900.d JO 3JIAIRS Joj Juaby
ALV snjejg
OlLS3INOA :adA] Qpug
VINJO4ITVO :uonaIpsune
910z/ze/LL :a)eq uonensibay

071 'SININLSIANI FLVAIYD ODIIA NVS  9Z10LLEEILOT

*auljuo s|gejieAe ase sabeuw |je JoN "Ajjud ue Jo piodal payied Jo 8)e|dwod € jou st papiroid ejep sy L "passaooid Bureq Apuauno sbuny jo sejep
paAleoal ay) JoJ SSWIL BUISSI901g JUSWINOOP 0] 1oJal asedld "9L0Z ‘2L aunp ‘Aepsan} ybnoiyy passaoouid >uom spapal pue Ajiep pajepdn si yoseag ssauisng eiuiojife) oy

ey Amju3 - yoleag ssauisng f@

ajJe)s jo Aiejaudas ejulojijen
. ej[iped X9y

., ™
/f H ; \v

3150




“
P —
i

H

:o..mmw Mo z

SRR —
!
i

CRPR——

“SUOHSOND poSy ARUSNDSIF 0} J9ja! ‘sadA} Snjels pue spal SnoLeA ay) Jo wco_ﬁ:owmv 04 -
R “Sdi yo1eag 0] J9jo1 ‘sweu bacw ue Buiyosess yym dje’ \J .

3151

:o..uom bios_




[

Secretary of State 20163 3710126

Articles of Organization LLC-1
= Limited Liability Company (LLC)
IMPORTANT — Read Instructions before completing this form. F".ED :
Filing Fee - $70.00 Secretary of State
State of Califomia
Copy Fees -First plain copy free; Additional copies: First page $1.00 & .50 for each
attachment page; Cerification Fee - $5.00 NOV 22 2018 /ﬁ/\

important! LLCs may have to pay an annual minimum $800 tax to the California Y,
Franchise Tax Board. For more information, go to https://www.ftb.ca.gov. \ )
This Space For Office Use Only

1. Limited Liability Company Name (See Instructions — Must contain an LLC ending such as LLC or L.L.C. “LLC" will be added, if not included.)

San Diego Private Investments, LLC

2. Business Addresses

a. Initial Street Address of Designated Office in Califomia - Do not list a P.O, Box City (no abbreviations) State | Zip Code
7977 Broadway Lemon Grove CA [91945
b. Initlal Mailing Address of LLC, if different than item 2a Clty (no abbreviations) State Zip Code

) Item 3a and 3b: If naming an individual, the agent must reside in California and Item 3a and 3b must be
completed with the agent's name and complete Califomia street address.
/3. Agent for Service of Process Item 3c: If naming a California Registered Corporate Agent, a current agent registration certificate must be an file
with the Califomia Secretary of State and ltem 3c must be completed (leave Item 3a-3b blank).

a. California Agent's First Name (if agent is not a corporation) Middle Name Last Name Suffix
Salam Razuki

b. Street Address (if agent is not a comparation) - Do not fist a P.O. Box City (no abbreviations) State 2Zip Code
7977 Broadway Lemon Grove CA (92123

¢. California Registered Corporate Agent's Name (if agent is a corporation) — Do not complete Item 3a or 3b

4. Management (Select only one box)

me LLC wili be managed by:
[ —~- One-Manager- - -r»-Morerthan One Manager - - All-LLLE Member(s) -

§. Purpose Statetrient (Do hot alter Purpose Staterment)

The purpose of the limited liability company is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which a limited liability company
may be organized under the California Revised Uniform Limited Liability Company Act.

|

6. The information contained herein, including in any attachments, is true and correct.

) Thomas C. Nelson

Organizer sign here ) Print your name here

LLC-1 (REV 08/2016) 2016 Calffomia Secretary of State
www.s0s.cagovibusiness/be
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State of California L
Secretary of State FILED
Secretary of State
STATEMENT OF INFORMATION 47 State of Califomia

(Limited Liability Company)
Filing Fee $20.00. If this is an amendment, see instructions.
IMPORTANT — READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE COMPLETING THIS FORM

o] DEC 12 2016

1. LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY NAME
San Diego Private Investments, LLC S

2\20l0

This Space For Filing Use Only

File Number and State or Place of Organization

3. STATE OR PLACE OF ORGANIZATION (if formed autside of Cdlifornia)

# SECRETARY OF STATEFLENMBER 511633710126

No Change Statement

4. [f there have been any changes to the information contained in the last Statement of Information filed with the California Secretary of
State, or no Statement of Information has been previously filed, this form must be completed in its entirety.
D if there has been no change in any of the information contained in the last Statement of Information filed with the Califomia Secretary of
State, check the box and proceed to ltem 15.

Complete Addresses for the Following (Do not abbreviate the name of the city. ltems 5 and 7 cannot be P.O. Boxes.)

5. STREET ADDRESS OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE oy STATE  ZIP CODE
7977 Broadway Lemon Grove CA 91945
6. MAILING ADDRESS OF LLC, IF DIFFERENT THAN ITEM 5 cry STATE  ZIP COOE
7. STREET ADDREéS OF CALIFORNIA QFFICE CITY STATE ZIP CODE
Lemon Grove CA 91945

7977 Broadway

Name and Complete Address of the Chief Executive Officer, If Any

8 NAME ADDRESS cITY . STATE : ZIP CODE
Salam Razuki 7977 Broadway Lemon Grove, CA 9194

Name and Complete Address of Any Manager or Managers, or if None Have Been Appointed or Elected, Provide the Name and
Address of Each Member (Attach additional pages, if necessary.)

8. NAME ADDRESS CiTY STATE  ZIP CODE
Salam Razuki 7977 Broadway Lemon Grove CA - 91945

10. NAME ADDRESS cITY STATE  ZIP CODE

11, NAME ’ ADDRESS cITY STATE  2IP CODE

J-P.0.-Box-Is-not-acceptable —if-the agent.Is a corporation, the-agent.must- have .on file with-the Califomia Sacretary.of State a certificate pursuant-to California

Agent for Service of Process Ifthe agent is an Individual, the agent must reside in California and Item 13 must be completed with a California address, a

Corporations Code section 1505 and Item 13 must be left blank.

.12, _NAME OF AGENT FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS

Salam Razuki ™
13, STREET ADDRESS OF AGENT FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS IN CALIFORNIA, IF AN INDIVIDUAL  CITY STATE  ZIP CQDE
7977 Broadway Lemon Grove CA 91945
Type of Business

14, DESCRIBE THE TYPE OF BUSINESS OF THE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY
Real Estate Lending and Investment Company

] 15. THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN, INCLUDING ANY ATTACHMENTS, IS TRUE AND CORRECT.

12/9/2016 Salam Razuki Manager
DATE TYPE OR PRINT NAME OF PERSON COMPLETING THE FORM TITLE 1 SIGNATURE~

LLE-12 (REV 01/2014) —ZPPROVED BY SECRETARY OF STATE
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DOUGLAS JAFEE, ESQ. Bar No. 170354 CENTRA

LAW OFFICES OF DOUGLAS JAFFE .

gOI gestBEo:lqtyvax, Sguzitleo?oo JMIROEC 12 AN 8: 37
an Diego, California CIERIGR COLRT

Telephone: (619) 400-4945 CLERK-SURERIGR LOLR

Facs?mile: (619) 400-4947 SAN OIEGO COUNTY. CA

Attorneys for Plaintiff

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FOR THE COUNTY GF SAN DIEGO ~ CENTRAL

SAN DIEGO PRIVATE INVESTEMENTS, Case No.:37-2016-00043277-CU-ORCTL

LLC,
COMPLAINT .

1; QUIET TITLE
2) WRONGFUL FORECLOSURE

3) FRAUDULENT CONVEYANCE
4; DECLARATORY RELIEF

5) BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY

PlaintifT,

VS,

;
D’KIEL GROUP, LLC; ALISON
MCCLOSKEY ESCROW COMPANY; DEL
TORO LOAN SERVICING, INC,;

SEQUOIAN INVESTMENTS, INC.;

DENNISE GURFINKIE]; and DOES 1-10,

Defendants,

)

COMES NOW San Diego Private Investments, LLC (“SDFI” or “Plaintiff"*)) and alleges

as follows:

1

Complaint
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

1. On information and belief, defendant D*Kiel Group, LLC is a limited liability
company doing business in the county of San Diego, California (“D’Kiel”).

2. On infon_nation and belief, defendant Alison McCloskey Escrow Company is a
corporation doing business in the county of San Diego, California (“McCloskey™).

3, On information and belief, defendant Del Toro Loan Servicing, Inc. is a
corporation doing business in the county of San Diego, California (“Del Toro™).

4. On information and belief, defendant Sequoian Investments, Inc. is a corporation
doing business in the county of San Diego, California (“Sequoian™).

5. On information and belief, defendant Dennise Gurfinkiel is an individual residiin
in the county of San Diego, California (“Gurfinkiel”).

6. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate or
otherwise, of defendants Does 1 through 10 are unknown to Plaintiff who therefore sues said
defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiff will amend this complaint to show their true
names and capacities when they have been ascertained. Plaintiff alleges that each of the
fictitiously named defendants engaged in the actions and omissions hereinafter alleged and that
each is fully liable for all the damages requested herein,

7. This Court has personal and subject matter jurisdiction over this action and venue

is properly placed in this Court.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(Quiet Title)
(As Against All Defendants)

8. . Plaintiffincorporates by.this reference the foregoing paragraphs.
9,  Plaintiffis the owner of the following properties:
(@  2602-2604 Newton Avenue, San Diego, CA 92113 (the “Newton Property™);
(b) 1778 Bramblewood Court, Chula Vista, CA 91913 (the “Bramblewood

Property”); and

2
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(¢) 6780 Friars Road, #133, San Diego, CA 92108 (the “Friars Road
Property”)(collectively the “Properties™),

10.  Grant deeds for the transfer of ownership of the Properties from D’Kiel to
Plaintiff have been deposited in escrow with McCloskey.

11, D’Kiel and McCloskey are wrongfully refusing to recognize and comply with
the escrow instructions and record the deeds of trust for the Properties. }

| 12, Plaintiff is the owner of Properties and is entitled to possession of the Properties.

13, Defendants claim an interest in the Properties adverse to Plaintiff.

14.  Plaintiff seeks a declaration that the title to the Properties is vested in Plaintiff.

15.  Gurfinkiel fraudulently submitted documents to Defendants wrongfully indicating
that she had power and authority to act on behalf of D’Kiel, and fraudulently submitted
documents to Defendants indicating they were signed by Salam Razuki when they were not.

16.  As adirect and proximate result of the foregoing, Plaintiff is entitled to an order
compelling Defendants to transfer legal title and possession of the Properties to Plaintiff, Fora
declaration and determination that Plaintiff is the rightful holder of title to the Properties; For a
temporary restraining order and/or injunction; and For a judgment that Plaintiff is the rightful
holder of'title to the Properties; together with damages in an amount to be determined at trial,

interest, costs and attorneys’ fees.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Wrongful Foreclosure)
(As Against D’Kiel, Del Toro, and Sequoian™)

17, Plaintiff incorporates by this reference each of the previous paragraphs.

18 There is an ongoing illegal, fraudulent or willfully oppressive attempt to sell the
Properties when Defendants have no ability to sell the Properties.

19.  Defendants have failed to comply with all legal requirements to conduct a

foreclosure sale of the Properties.

3

Complaint

3157




Y

\Dm\lmm.bwml__,

N NN D NN
i e I T
mqmwmwwwommqmm§$S$S

determined at trial, plus interest, attorneys’ fees and costs.

20.  Defendants are liable for Plaintiff’s damages as a direct and proximate result of
their illegal, fraudulent or willfully oppressive attempt to sell the Properties, See, Munger v.
Moore (1970) 11 Cal.App.3d.

21. By reason of the foregoing, Plaintiff sustained damages in an amount to be
determined at trial, plus interest, costs and attorneys' fees,

| - 22, By reason of the foregoing, Plaintiff is entitled to damages, penalties, attorneys'

fees and punitive damages.

23, Asadirect and proximate result of the foregoing, Plaintiff is entitled to a

temporary restraining order and/or injunction, and has sustained damages in an amount to be

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Fraudulent Conveyance)
(As Against D’Kiel, Del Toro, and Sequoian™)

24.  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference each of the previous paragraphs.

25.  Gurfinkiel fraudulently transferred her interest in the Properties to D’Kiel.

26.  Gurfinkiel fraudulently submitted documents to Defendants wrongfully indicating
that she had power and authority to act on behalf of D’Kiel, and fraudulently submitted
documents to Defendants indicating they were signed by Salam Razuki when they were not.

27, Plaintiff is a creditor pursuant to Civil Code section 3439.01(c).

28.  Gurfinkiel is a debtor pursuant to Civil Code section 3439.01(g).

29,  When the above-referenced fraudulent transfers were made, Gurfinkie! had the
actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud Plaintiff. '

30,  The above-described transfers occurred without Gurfinkiel receiving a reasonably |

equivalent valﬁe in exchange for the transfers. _

31, Eachofthe Defendants participated in the above-referenced fraudulent transfers
with knowledge or intent to assist Gurfinkie] in hindering, delaying, or defrauding Plaintiff.

4
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32.  Asadirect and proximate result of the above-described fraudulent conveyances,
Plaintiff was damaged in an amount according to proof at trial, plus interest and costs.

33.  Based on the foregoing, Plaintiff seeks an order from this Court voiding and

setting aside the fraudulent transfer.
34.  Pursuant to the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act, California Civil Code 3439 et.

seq., a creditor aggrieved by a fraudulent transfer made by a debtor is entitled, inter alia, to an
order from the trial court avoiding the fraudulent transfer, as well as injunctions against further
disposition by the debtor or a transferee of the asset transferred.

35.  Wherefore, Plaintiff requests judgment its favor as set forth in its Prayer for

Relief,

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Declaratory Relief)
(As Against All Defendants)

36.  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference each of the previous paragraphs.

37.  There is an actual controversy between the parties.
38.  Plaintiff is entitled to a determination that Defendants have no legal right to

conduct a foreclosure sale regarding the Properties.
39.  Asadirect and proximate result of the foregoing, Plaintiff is entitled to a

temporary restraining order and/or injunction, and have sustained damages in an amount to be

determined at trial, plus interest, costs and attorney’ fees.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
. (Breach Of Fiduciary Duty)
(As Against McCloskey)

40.  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference each of the previous paragraphs.
41, McCloskey agreed to act as the escrow officer for Plaintiff in the escrow for the

Properties known as Escrow No, 145644S-CG.

5
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11
12
13
14

15 |

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

42, The escrow instruction signed by SDPI anid D'Kiel authorizes and directs
McCloskey to record the deeds MeCloskey isholding. That escrow instruction is dated
November 18, 2016, McCloskey had no explanation for why the deeds were not immiediately
recorded pursuant to the escrow instruction, and McCloskey breached it fiduciary duties in this
matter by failing to immediately record the deeds.

43.  D’Kiel has not alleged that SDPI has breached any agreement or term of the
existing agreed upon escrow. McCloskey is wrongfully favoring D’Kiel by refusing to recerd ‘
the deeds. Demand has made for the deeds to be immediately recorded as set forth in the escrow
instruction. McCloskey has failed and refused to record the deeds regarding the Properties.

44, As adirgct and proximate result of the foregoing, Plaintiff is entitled to a
temporaty restraining order and/of injunction, and has sustained damages in ann amount to be

determined at trial, plus interest, attorneys’ fees and costs.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays as follows:

a)  Foratemporary restraining order and/or injunction;

b)  For damages according to proof;

c) For a civil penalty;

d)  For punitive damages;

¢)  Forinterest according to proof;

f) For costs and reasonable attorneys' fees as provided in any agreement between the
parties, any statute or othetwise; and

2) For such other and further telief as the Court deems just and proper.

24

25
26

28

Dated: December 12, 2016

LAW OFFI E’ES‘QVI)/@UG[ .AS JAFFE

Complaint
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WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO:
N TovespmenT 2T

Cobs Leqan Avt 4% 121
San DI't4o ca U3

APN:  538-751-15-00 SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER'S USE

DEED OF TRUST WITH ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS
(SHORT FORM)

This DEED OF TRUST, made December 30, 2016, between San Diego Private Investments LLC, herein called TRUSTOR,
First American Title Insurance Company, a corporation, herein catled TRUSTEE, and

NM Investment Corp, Client Trust Account, as the disclosed agent of an undisclosed principal herein called
BENEFICIARY, 5065 Logan Ave Unit 101, San Diego CA 92113

Trustor grants to Trustee in trust, with power of sale, that property in the City of San Diego, County of San Diego, State of
California, commonly known as 6780 Friars Rd Unit 133, San Diego CA 92108 and more particularly described as:

See attached Exhibit one

together with the rents, issues and profits thereof, subject, however, to the right, power and authority hereinafter given
to and conferred upon Beneficiary to collect and apply such rents, issues and profits for the purpose of securing (1)
payment of the sum of Sixty Eight Thousand Eight Hundred Thirty Five Dollars and Ninety Three Cents ($68,835.93) with
interest thereon according to the terms of a promissory note of even date herewith made by Trustor, payable to order of
Beneficiary, and extensions or renewals thereof, (2) the performance of each agreement of Trustor incorporated by
reference or contained herein and (3) payment of additional sums and interest thereon which may hereafter be loaned to
Trustor, or his successors or assigns, when evidenced by a promissory note or notes reciting that they are secured by this

Deed of Trust.

To protect the security of this Deed of Trust, and with respect to the property above described, Trustor expressly makes
each and all of the agreements, and adopts and agrees to perform and be bound by each and all of the terms and
provisions set forth in subdivision A, and it is mutually agreed that each and all of the terms and provisions set forth in
subdivision B of the fictitious deed of trust recorded in San Diego County on August 18, 1964, in the book and at the page
of Official Records in the office of the county recorder of the county where said property is located noted below opposite

the name of such county, namely: .

- COUNTY BOOK  PAGE COUNTY BOOK  PAGE  COUNTY BOOK PAGE  COUNTY  BOOK  PAGE
Alameda 1288 556 Kings 858 73 Placer 1028 k70) Slerra 38 187
Alpine 3 13031 Lake 437 110 Plumas 166 1307 Siskiyou 506 762
Amador 133 438 Lassen 192 367 Riverside 3778 347 Solana 1287 62
Butte 1330 513 Los Angeles T-3878 874 Sacramento 5039 124 Sonoma 67 427
Calaveras 185 338 Madera 911 136 $an Benito 300 405 Stanislaus 1970 56
Cotusa 323 391 Marin 1849 122 San Bermardino 6213 768 Sutter 655 585
Contra Costa 4684 1 Mariposa ] 453 San Francisco A-804 596 Tehama 457 183
Det Norte 101 549 Mendacino 667 » San Joaquin 2855 283 Trinity 108 595
El Dorado 704 635 Merced 1660 753 San Luis Obispo 1311 137 Tulare 2530 108
Fresno 5052 623 Modoc 191 93 San Mateo 4778 175 Tuolumne 177 160
Glenn ) 469 76 Mono 69 302 Santa Barbara 2065 881 Ventura 2607 237
Humboldt 801 a3 Monterey 357 239 Santa Clara 6626 664 Yolo 769 16
Imperial C1189 701 Napa 704 742 Santa Cruz 1638 607 . Yuba 398 693
Inyo 165 672 Nevada 363 94 Shasta 800 633
Kern 3756 690 Orange 7182 18 San Diego SERIES 5 Book 1964, Page 149774

(CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE) 1158 (1/94)
’ Page | of 4
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shall inure to and bind the parties hereto, with respect to the property above described. Said agreements, terms and
provisions contained in said subdivisions A and B, (identical in all counties, and printed on pages 3 and 4 hereof) are by the
within reference thereto, incorporated herein and made a part of this Deed of Trust for all purposes as fully as if set forth
at length herein, and Beneficiary may charge for a statement regarding the obligation secured hereby, provided the charge
therefor does not exceed the maximum allowed by law. ) '

The undersigned Trustar, requests that a copy of any notice of default and any notice of sale hereunder be mailed fo him
at his address hereinbefore set forth. .

Satdm Razbki—Prevident ,
San Pleqo frivaie xnve}m ents LLC

. M . < aps N o g3, N
A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual who signed the
document to which the certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document.

a——

State of California )
County of San Diego )

3}
On December 30, 2016, before me jahovl %‘ardm M{g Notary Public in and for said State, personally
appeared : ' ) , who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the
@s) whose @amd(s agjare subscribed to the within instrument, and acknowledged to me that{eyshe/they
executed the same Tn GisY her/their authorized(apacityfies), and that by i3/her/theirGignaturels) on the instrument,
thes) or the entity on behalf of which the@erson)s) acted executed the instrument.

| certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct.

WITNESS my hand and official se:

0 T
2070

Signature:

Notary Public - California-
$an Diego County

Commission, # 2161685

My Comm. Expires Jul 31, 2020

;
-

]

(This area for official notarial seal) .

»

(CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE) _ ' 138 (1/54)
Page 2 of 4
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.- . EXHIBITONE
A CONDOMINIUNE COMRRISED OF:
_PARCEL1:

AN UNDIVIDED 1/153 INTEREST IN AND TO l.OT 1 OF FRIARS ESTATES, IN THE CITY OF 5AN D'IEGO, COUNTY OF
SAN DIEGO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ACCORDING TO MAP THEREQF NO. 6786, FILED IN THE DFFICE OF THE
COUNTY RECORDER OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, NDVEMBER 13, 1970

EXCEF"NG THEREFROM LIVING UNI(TS 101 TO: 117 )NCLUSIVE 119 7O 124, INCLUSIVE, 126 TO 135, INCLUSIVE,
143 TO 149, INCLUSIVE, 151 TO- 157, INCLUSIVE, 201 TO 273, INCLUSIVE, AND 301 TO 373, INCLUSIVE, AS

SHOWN ON THAT CERTAIN CONDOMINIUM PLAN ENTITLED "THE FRANCISCAN" RECORDED AUGLIST 3, 1578 AS
FILE NO. 78-323080 OF DFFICIAL RECORDS, AND DEFINED IN THE DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS
AND RESTRICTIONS RECORDED AUGUST 3, 1978 AS FILE NO, 78 325081 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS AND ANY

AMENDMENTS THERETO.

ALSO EXCEPTING THEREFROM THE EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO USE ALL BALCONIES, TERRACES AND PARKING SPACES
AS SHOWN ON SAID CONDOMINIUM PLAN. .

PARCEL 2:

UNIT 133 AS SHOWN ON THAT CERTAIN CONDOMINIUM PLAN REFERRED TO IN PARCEL 1 ABOVE.

PARCEL 3:

THE EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO USE THE CORRESPONDINGLY NUMBERED BALCONIES OR TERRACES APPURTENANT TO
PARCEL 2 AS SET FORTH ON THAT CERTAIN CONDOMINIUM PLAN REFERRED TO IN PARCEL 1 ABOVE.

PARCEL 4:

THE EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO USE PARKING SPACE P-158 AS SET FORTH ON THAT CERTAIN CONDDMINIUM PLAN
REFERRED TO IN PARCEL 1 ABOVE.
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WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: S A
N M =Favesimet cq0? Lo )
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San Deao CA QU3 ' .
APN: 538-751-15-00 SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER'S USE
DEED OF TRUST WITH ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS

(SHORT FORM)
This DEED OF TRUST, made December 30th, 2016, between San Diego Private Investments LLC, herein called TRUSTOR,
First American Title Insurance Company, a corporation, herein called TRUSTEE, and
NM Investment Corp, 5065 Logan Ave Suite 101, San Diego CA 92113 hereiﬁ called BENEFICIARY,

Trustor grants to Trustee in trust, with power of sale, that property in the City of San Diego, County of San Diego, State of
California, commonly known as 2602;2604 Newton Ave, San Diego, CA 92113 and more particularly described as:

The following described real property in the County of San Diego, State of California: : '
The Southerly 96 feet of Lots 25 and 26 in Block 12 of Reed and Hubbells Addition, in the Clty of San Diego. County of San
Diego, State of California, according to Map thereof no. 327, filed in the office of the County Recorder of San Diego
County, June 30. 1886. .

together with the rents, issues and profits thereof, subject, however, to the right, power and authority hereinafter given
to and conferred upon Beneficiary to collect and apply such rents, issues and profits for the purpose of securing (1)
payment of the sum of Sixty Eight Thousand Eight Hundred Thirty Five Dollars and Ninety Three Cents (568,835.93) with
interest thereon according to the terms of a promissory note of even date herewith made by Trustor, payable to order of
Beneficiary, and extensions or renewals thereof, (2) the performance of each agreement of Trustor incorporated by
reference or contained herein and (3) payment of additional sums and interest thereon which may hereafter be loaned to
Trustor, or his successors or assigns, when evidenced by a prom1ssory note or notes rec1t1ng that they are secured by this

Deed of Trust.

To protect the security of this Deed of Trust, and with respect to the property above described, Trustor expressly makes
each and all of the agreements, and adopts and agrees to perform and be bound by each and all of the terms and
provisions set forth in subdivision A, and it is mutually agreed that each and all of the terms and provisions set forth in
subdivision B of the fictitious deed of trust recorded in San Diego County on August 18, 1964, in the book and at the page
of Official Records in the office of the county recorder of the county where said property is located, noted below opposite

the name of such county, namely:

COUNTY BQOK PAGE COUNTY BOOK PAGE COUNTY BOOK PAGE COUNTY BOOK PAGE
Alameda 1288 556 Kings 858 713 Placer 1028 379 Sierra 38 187
Alpine 3 130-31 Lake 437 110 Ptumas 166 1307 Siskiyou 506 762
Amador 133 438 Lassen 192 367 Riverside 3778 347 Solano 1287 621
Butte 1330 513 Los Angeles T-3878 -+ 874 Sacramento 5039 124 Sonoma 2067 27
Calaveras 185 338 Madera 911 136 San Benito 300 405 Stanislaus 1970 56
Colusa 33 kil Marin 1849 122 San Bernardino 6213 768 Sutter 655 585
Contra Costa 4684 1 Mariposa 90 453 San Francisco . A-804 596 Tehama 457 183
Del Norte 4 101 549 Mendocino 667 9 San Joaquin 2855 283 Trinity ., 108 595
Et Dorado 704 635 Merced 1660 753 San Luis Obispo 1311 137 Tulare | 2530 108
Fresno 5052 623 Madoc 19 93 San Mateo 4778 175 Tuolumne 77 160
Glenn 469 76 Mono 69 302 Santa Barbara 2065 881 Yentura 2607 237
Humboldt 801 8 Monterey 357 239 Santa Clara 6626 664 Yolo 769 16
impertal 1189 701 Napa 704 742 Santa Cruz 1638 607 Yuba 398 693
Inyo 165 672 ‘Nevada 363 94 Shasta 800 633
Kemn 3756 690 Orange 7182 18 San Diego SERIES 5 Book 1964, Page 149774
(CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE) ' 1158 (1/94)
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shall inure to and bind the parties hereto, with respect to the property above descnb&' Sald agreements, ten’ns and
provisions contained in said subdivisions A and B, (identical in all counties, and printed on pages 3 and'4 hereof) are by thes
within reference thereto, incorporated herein and made a part of this Deed of Trust for all purposes as fully as if set forth
at length herein, and Beneﬁaary may charge for a statement regarding the obligation secured hereby, provided the charge

therefor does not exceed the maximum allowed by law.

The undersigned Trustor, requests that a copy of any notice of default and any notice of sale hereunder be mailed to him -
at his address hereinbefore set forth.

L_/lanrﬁazukl - Presidert—"

Sen DI040 Privake :t:nves+MM+S LL ¢

YA notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual who siglﬁl

document to which the certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document.

State of California )
County of San Diego )

On December 30, 2016, be ore me, %MD%J"' /'Wm[d a Notary Public in and for sald State, personally
, who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the
S (F" are subscnbed to the within instrument, and acknowledged to me tha:@she/ they

executed the same / her/their authorized Yies), and that bythisy her/their §ignaturgls) on the instrument,
the Persor)s) or the entity on behalf of which th s) acted executed the instrument: ‘

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws qf the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct.

WITNESS my hand angd officiat seal

/;W YANCY mmona BT

Notiry Public ~ California - .
0 . San Diego County '
: Commission # 2161685

Signature:

My Comm. Exgires Jul 31, 2020

(This area for official notarial seal)

(CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE) ! 1158 (1/94)
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DOUGLAS JAFFE, ESQ. Bar No. 170354
LAW OFFICES OF DOUGLAS JAFFE

501 West Broadway, Suite 800 '
San Diego, California 92101 'L ERN &
%‘ele hqlne: égllg)) 288:4432; Clork o the Suputer Cour =0 55
acsimile: b
IN1ga0m
Attorneys for Plaintiff r

By: J. CERDA

X i) Yo,

trey v

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO - CENTRAL

AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS, Case No.: 37-2016-00022168-CU-BC-CTL

)

LLC, %

- ) STIPULATION FOR ENTRY OF

Plaintift, I{UL%GMENT AGAINST D’KIEL GROUP,
VS.

DENNISE GURFINKIEL individually and
4/b/a Starting Point Realty, and d/b/a SLS
Management Services; EDGARDO
MASANES, individually and d/b/a Starting
Point Realty; JOEY SORIANO individually
hnd d/b/a Starting Point Realty; D'KIEL
GROUP, LLC; SANCHEZ IMPORTS AND
EXPORTS, LLC; and DOES 4 through 10,
inclusive,

Defendants.
)

Plaintiff American Lending & Holdings, LLC (“ALH”) and Defendant D’Kiel Group,
LLC (“D’Kiel”) enter into the following Stipulation For Entry of Judgment (the “Stipulated

Judgment”) and agree that a judgment may be so entered:
L. Plaintiff American Lending & Holdings, LLC and Defendant D’Kiel Group, LLC

are patties to this action. Ninus Malan is an authorized represertative of ALH and Salam Razuki

is an authorized representative of D’Kiel.
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2. The parties wish to avoid the burden and expense of further litigation and
accordingly have determined to compromise and settle their differences in accordance with the
provisions of this Stipulated Judgment,

3. D’Kiel acknowledges and agrees that ALH had and continues to have a real
property interest in the real properties known as 2602 Newton Avenue, #4, San Diego, CA 92113
(the “Newton Avenue Property”); and 1778 Bramblewood Court, Chula Vista, CA 91913 (the
“Bramblewood Property™).

4, D’Kiel acknowledges and agrees that the Newton Avenue Property and the
Bramblewood Property were fraudulently transferred to D’Kiel from Defendant Dennise
Gurfinkiel (“Gurfinkiel”), a member of D’Kiel, The parties acknowledge and agree that
Gurfinkiel’s actions and omissions in this action were taken without the knowledge of any other
member of D’Kiel.

5. D’Kiel acknowledges and agrees that the amount owed as damages in this action
by D’Kielto ALH regarding the Newton Property is Two Hundred Eighty One Thousand Dollari

($281,000).
6.  D’Kiel acknowledges and agrees that the amount owed as damages in this action

by D’Kiel to ALH regarding the Bramblewood Property is Three Hundred Ninety Four
Thousand Dollars ($394,000).

7. The parties to this Stipulated Judgment hereby acknowledge and agree that
Jjudgment shall be entered against Defendant D*Kiel Group, LLC and in favor of American
Lending and Holdings, LLC in the amount of Six Hundred Seventy Five Thousand Dollars

($675,000),
8. The full amount owed by Defendant D’Kiel Group, LLC in this action in the

amount of Six Hundred Seventy Five Thousand Dollars ($675,000) is immediately due and
payable, and Plaintiff American Lending and Holdings, LLC shall be entitled to pursue any and
all remedies provided by law for the enforcement of this Stipulated Judgment. The amount of
this Stipulated Judgment shall bear interest at the prevailing legal rate from the date of entry of
this Stipulated Judgment until paid in full.
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9. The parties to this Stipulated Judgment hereby acknowledge and agree that the
Court shall enter judgment putsuant to, without limitation, CCP section 664.6 which states, “If
parties to pending litigation stipulate, in a writing signed by the parties outside the presence of
the court or orally before the court, for settlement of the case, or part thereof, the gourt, upon
miotion, miay enter judgment pursuant to the terms of the settlement, [f réquested by the patties,
the court may rétain jurisdiction over the parties to enforce the settlement until performance in
full of the terms of the settlement.”

10, Plaintiff American Lending and Holdings, LLC shall be entitled to its reasonable
attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in enforcing this Stipulated Judgment.

11, Theclerk of the Court is ordered to immediately enter this Stipulated Judgment.

IT IS SO STIPULATED.

Dated: Januaty (¥, 2017

Dated: January (t, 2017

AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS, LLC

By:

Managing Member

Title

D’KIEL GROUP, LLC ///'__*_\
f%
6“\ QN ' ‘..\
Managing Member
Title
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Pursuant to the stipulation of the parties heretto and their agreement to entry of this
Stipulated Judgment, and good cause appearing therefore, IT IS SO ORDERED, ADJUDGED
AND DECREED that Judgment is entered in favor of Plaintiff American Lending and Holdings,

ix Hundred Sevgnty F%
JUDG OF THE

st ot o d 0"

LLC and against D’Kiel Group, LLC in the amount
Dollars ($675,000).

ot __[7/2/]
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PROOF OF SERVICE

I am over the age of 18 years and not a party to or interested in the within entitled action.
My business address is 501 West Broadway, Suite 800, San Diego, California 92101.

On January 11, 2017, I served the foregoing

STIPULATION OF ENTRY OF JUDGMENT

by placing true copies in a sealed envelope, postage fully prepaid, with the United States Postal
Service, addressed as follows:

Danny McDonald, Esq.
4725 Mercury Street, Suite 210
San Diego, CA 92111

Edgardo Masanes
1328 N. Paradise Ridge Way
Chula Vista, CA 91915

Dennise Gurfinkiel
9175 Judicial Drive, #6419
San Diego, CA 92122

I am readily familiar with the firm’s practice of collection and processing for mailing. It
is deposited with the U.S. Postal Service, postage prepaid on the same day in the ordinary course

of business.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the
foregoing is true and correct. Executed on January 11, 2017 at San Diego, California.

o

Douglas
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1| DAVID A. QRTIZ ATTORNEY #167

| TIEFANY L. C
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LESLIEA. S M, ATTORNEY #2935 96

UNITED £ TKT S )EPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

O FICE QF * INITED STATES TRUSTEE
2 West Breadwziy Sulte 600

San Diego, CA 92101

(619) 557-5013

Attorneys for

ACTING UNITED STATES TRUSTEE

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

) Case No,: 16-07541-LT13

UNITED STATES TRUSTEE'S

y MOTION FOR SANCTIONS

) AGAINST GEORGE PANAGIOTOU

) ANDTH E_CO STA LAW GROUP

-3 PURSUANT TO FEDERAL RULE OF
y BANKRUPTCY PROCEDURE 9011:
| RE%UEST FOR REFERRAL TO THE

DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE O
[HED UNITED STATES DISTRICT

Date Mag 11,2017
] B )

} Rept:. 10y

 Judge: Hon. Laura S. Taylor

Inre:

'RODRIGO MARQUEZ,

(IJ

Debtor.

INTRODUCTION

The Acting United States Trustee (“UST”), by and through counsel, files thi
motion for sanctions against G’eéjr_ge Panagiotou and The Costa Law Group
pursuant to Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure (“Rule”) 9011 (“Motion”). The

basis of this Motion is that George Panagiotou (“Counsel”’) and The Costa Law
!

MARQUEZ 16-07541-LTI3
UST*s MOTION FOR SANCTIONS
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Group (the “Firm”) violated Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure (“Rule”)
9011(b) and California Rules of Professional Conduct 3-200(B) and 5-200(B) by
filing a chapter 13 petition under the name of Rodrigo Marquez (“Mr. Marquez”)
without his knowledge, consent, and/or authorization. See the Declaration of
Rodrigo Marquez (“Marquez Decl.”), 99 11-12,

Filing the chapter 13 petition was frivolous, legally unreasonable, and
without evidentiary support. As a result, the UST requests the Court impose
appropriate sanctions upon Counsel and the Firm (jointly and severally), including
but not limited to: (1) a monetary civil penalty payable to the Court designed to
deter similar future conduct, (2) compensatory sanctions in the form of attorneys’
‘fees and costs, payable to the UST as the moving party, which are the direct result
of Counsel’s violations of Rule 9011; (3) additional CLE requirements and ethical
training in the area of professional responsibility; (4) suspension of Counsel’s
CM/ECF"' filing privileges for a defined minimum period, until such time Counsel
has completed all CLE and CM/ECF recettification requirements imposed upon
Counsel by the Court; (5) require Counsel file a Disclosure of Compensation of
Attorney for Debtor (Form CSD 2030) in this case, as required by Rule 2016(b);

(6) to the extent Counsel’s CM/ECEF filing privileges are restored, require Counsel

! CM/ECF is an acronym for Case Management/Electronic Case Files. It is a system being used
by the bankruptcy court of the Southern District of California to provide filers certified in this
district the option to electronically file case documents online. See
http://www.casb.uscourts.gov/html/cmecf/cmectf_test.html

2
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{6780 Friars Road, #133, San Diego, California 92108 (the “Property”). See

lase 16

.07541-LT13 Filed 04/05/17 Entered 04/05/17 09:19:43 Doc 16 Pg. 3 of 2?

to prospectively file a declatation in every bankruptey case affirming that he
personally met with the petitioner; he verified the petitioner’s identification, and
the petitioner signed the petition and/or the Declaration Re: Electronic Filing (CSD
Form 1801); (7) refer Counsel to the Disciplinary Committee of the United States
District Court for further proceedings, and (8) a finding that the chapter 13
bankruptcy case was filed without the knowledge and/or consent of Mr. Marquez.
FACTS

1. OnDecenber 14, 2016, a voluntary chapter 13 petition was filed
under the name of Mr. Marquez, 'i_ni’tiating case number 16-07541-LT13
(“Petition”), See ge;zerqllji the Docket ke

9. The Petition falsely lists Mr, Marquez’s residential living address as

Petition, Docket Entry #1. 3 The Petition further contains the statement that Mr.
Marquez received “a briefing from an approved credit counseling agency wit,h‘inl
180 days before [he] filed this bankruptcy petition, but [he does] not have a

certificate of completion.” Id. at 5.

3. The docket reflects that Counse] failed to file the “Disclosure of

2 Goe Docket of this case. The United States Trustee requests that the Court take judicial notice
of the Docket and pleadings filed in this case pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 201.

3 The United States Trustee requests that the Court take judicial notice of the Petition for Relief,
docket item #1 (and the contents thereof), filed in this case pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence
201.

MARQUEZ 16-07541-LT13
UST’s MOTION FOR SANCTIONS
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<

Compensation of Attorney for Debtor” (CSD Form 2030) as required by Rule
2016(b) and 11 U.S.C. § 329 (hereinafter, “Rule 2016(b) Statement”). See
generally the Docket.*

4, Mr. Marquez states he was the victim 'of a fraud relating to the
purchase of the Préperty, perpetrated by Denise Gurfinkiel (“Ms. Gurfinkiel”).
Marquez Decl., ]10.

5. Through a mutual acquaintance, Mr. Marquez was introduced to Ms.
Gurfinkiel to invest in real estate in San Diego. Based on this introduction, Mr.
Marquez invested in the Property around February of 2016 with the understanding
that he would receive a substantial profit by “flipping” the Property. Mr. Marquez
would provide the funds necessary to acquire the property; Ms. Gurfinkiel would
provide the expertise and services necessary to remodel and repair the property, as
well as arrange for its sale. Marquez Decl., {{ 3-6.

6.  As part of his arrangement with Ms. Gurfinkiel, Mr. Marquez signed a
listing agreement with Starting Point Realty in March 2016. In or around
September or October of 2016, Mr. Marquez was informed by Ms. Gurfinkiel that
the Property-had been sold for approximately $255,000. Mr. Marquez received

three checks from Ms, Gurfinkiel, totaling $35,703.29, which he believed to be the

# See Docket of this case. The United States Trustee requests that the Court take judicial notice
of the Docket and the absence of a Rule 2016(b) Statement filed in this case pursuant to Federal

Rule of Bvidence 201.
4

MARQUEZ 16-07541-LT13
UST*S MOTION FOR SANCTIONS

3181




23
24
25
26
27

28

"

ase 16-07541-LT13 Filed 04/05/17 Entered 04/05/17 09:19:43 Doc 16 Pg. 5 of 23

surplus sale proceeds from the sale of the Property. Marquez Decl., 11 7-8.

7. On or around January 10, 2017, Mr. Marquez learned of the above-
captioned bankruptcy filing through his Wells Fargo Theft Protection Account
(“WF Account”), which showed that a chapter 13 bankruptey case was filed under
his name on December 14, 2016. Marquez Decl., 19.

8.,  The filing date of the Petition coincided with the date of a scheduled
foreclosure sale of the Property. Marquez Decl., § 13. Mr. Marquez only leatned
of the recorded Notice ofﬁéfault and Notice of Trustee’s Sale after investigating
the status of the Property when he léarned about the bankruptcy case through his
WF Account. Id.

9.  The above-captioned bankruptcy case was filed by Counsel as
attorney for the debtor, allegediy Mr. Marquez. See Petition. Counsel
electronically filed the Petifion with the Banldupt(;y Court for the Southern District
of Califomia, using Counsel’s CM/ECF log-in and password. See Petition, Docket
Entry #1; see generally the Docket.

10. The Petition contains an electronic “/s/” signature for both Counsel
and Mr. Marquez. See Petition for Relief, Docket Entry #1.

11.  The docket reflects that a “Declaration Re; Electronic Filing of
Petition, Schedules, & Statements” (CSD Form 1801) (hereinafter, “Declaration

Re: Electronic Filing”) was never filed with the Court as required by Local

5
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Bankruptcy Rules for the Southern District of California (“LBR”) 1007-2 and
5005-4(c). See generally the Docket.

12.  According to Mr, Marquez, he never discussed and/or met with any
attorney regarding filing for bankrubtcy. He does not know and has never met
Counsel. He has never heard of or visited the offices of the Firm. He neither saw
nor signed the Petition or any other documents associated with the above-captioned
bankmptcy case, either before or after such documents were filed. Marquez Decl.,
1M9-12,

13.  The above-captioned chapter 13 bankruptcy case was subsequently
dismissed by the order entered on January 3, 2017 for failure to file schedules
and/or statements, certificate of credit counseling, declaration re: electronic filing,
and/or a chapter 13 plan.® See Order Dismissing Case, Docket Entry #7.°

14.  On or around January 13, 2017, after receiving the foregoing
information about this bankruptcy case, Mr. Marquez contacted the Office of the

United States Trustee to report the unauthorized bankruptcy filing. Marquez Decl.,

q10.

3 The UST notes that Counsel also filed a bankruptcy case for Denise Gurfinkiel on December
13, 2016, case no. 16-07535-LA13. The United States Trustee requests that the Court take
judicial notice of the filing of that petition for relief, docket item #1(and the contents thereof), in
case no. 16-07535-LA13, pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 201. That case was similarly a
“bare bones” case, and was likewise dismissed for failure to file schedules, statements and a

chapter 13 plan.

¢ The United States Trustee requests that the Court take judicial notice of the Order Dismissing
Case, docket item #7, filed in this case pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 201.
6
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After notice and a reagonable opportunity to respond, the court may impose
appropriate sanctions if it determines that Rule 9011(b) has been violated. FED. R.
BANKR. P. 9011(c). Here, Counsel and the Firm have been properly and timely
served the Motion and Notice of Hearing in accordance with Rule 7004. FED.R,
BANKR. P. 9011(c)(1)(A); FED. R. BANKR. P. 7004.

A motion f;)r Sanctigns must also desctibe the specific conduct alleged to
violate subdivision (b). FED. R, BANKR. P. 901 1(c)(1)(A). As discussed more fully
below, Counsel and the Firm conducted no inquiry, ora grossly inadequate
inquiry, prior to filing the chapter 13 Petition under Mr. Marquez’s name. Mr.
Marquez did not consent to and/or authorize the filing of the chapter 13 Petition
and, in fact, never signed the Petition or any other document associated with the
above-captioned bankruptcy case. Marquez Decl., J12. Counsel’s conduct was in
direct violation of Rule 9011(b).

The safe harbor provision of Rule 9011(c) is inapplicable here. Rule
9011(c) provides, “motion[s] for sanctions may not be filed with or presented to
the court unless, within 21 days after service of the motion, ... the challenged paper
... is not withdrawn or appropriately corrected, except that this limitation shall not
apply if the conduct alleged is the filing of a petition ...” FED. R. BANKR. P.

7
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9011(c)(1)(A)(emphasis added); see also FED. R. BANKR. P. 901 1 Advisory
Committee’s notes to the 1997 amendments (the safe harbor provision does not
apply to the filing of the initial petition because the “filing of a petition has
immediate serious consequences, including the imposition of the automatic stay
under 362 of the Code, which may not be avoided by the subsequent withdraWal, of]
the petition.”). Based on the language of Rule 9011(c), this Mofion is procedurally
proper as the safe harbor rule does not apply to the filing of the initial petition. See
Dressler v. Seely Co. (In re Silberkwﬁus), 336 F. 3d 864, 868 (9th Cir. 2003).

2. Violation of Rule 9011@)

Rule 9011(b), like its sister counterpart Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11,
imposes on attorneys “the obligation to insure that all submissions to a bankruptcy
court are truthful and for proper litigation purposes.” Miller v. Cardinale (Inre
DeVille), 361 F.3d 539, 543 (9th Cir. 2004). Rule 901 1(b) “incorporates a
reasonableness standard which focuses on whether a competent attorney admitted
to practice before the involved court could believe in like circumstances that his
actions were legally and factually justified.” Shalaby v. Mansdorfy (In re

Nakhuda), 544 B.R. 886, 899 (9th Cir. 2016).

7 Rule 9011 is the bankruptey counterpart to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11. Case law
interpreting Civil Rule 11 is applicable to Rule 9011. Marsch v. Marsch (In re Marsch), 36 F.3d

825, 829 (9th Cir.1994).
8
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Under Ninth Circuit precedent, the feasonableness of an attorney's inquiry as
to facts contained in signed documents submitted to a court is'based on an
objective standard, Orton v. Hoffiman (Inre Kayne), 453 B.R. 372, 382 (9th Cir.
BAP 2011) (the trial court must measure the attorney's conduct “objectively

against a reasonableness standard, which consists of a competent attorney admitted

|to practice before the involved coutt”); see also Valley Nat'l Bank v. Needler (Inre

Grantham Bros.), 922 F.2d 1438, 1441 (9th Cir.1991),

Of particular relevance to the case at bar are Rule 9011(b)(1) and (3), which

state:

(b) By presenting to the court (whether by signing, filing, submitting,
or later advocating) a petition, pleading, written motion, or other
paper, an attorney or unrepresented party is certifying that to the best
of thie person's knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an
inquiry reasonable under the circumstances,—
(1) it is not being presented for any improper purpose, such as
to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in
the cost of litigation; ‘

(3) the allegations and other factual contentions have
evidentiary support o, if specifically so identified, are likely to
have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for
further investigation or discovery; and '

FED. R. BANKR. P. 9011(b).
Rule 9011(b)(1) “provides for the imposition of sanctions when a filing is

frivolous, legally unreasonable, or without factual foundation, or is brought for an

9
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improper purpose.” In re Sandford, 403 BR. 831, 841 (Bankr. D. Nev. 2009)
(citing Simpson v. Lear Astronics Corp., 77 F.3d 1170, 1177 (9th Cir.1996). In the
Ninth Circuit, the bankruptcy court “must consider both frivolousness and
improper purpose on a sliding scalé, where the more compelling the showing as to
one element, the less decisive need be the showing as to the other.” Dressler v. The
Seeley Co. (In re Silberkraus), 336 F.3d 864, 870 (9th Cir, 2003)(citing Marsch v.
Marsch '(In re Marsch), 36 F.3d 825, 830 (9th Cir.1994)). Likewise, under Rule
9011(b)(3), an attorney is certifying that to the best of his knowledge, information
and belief all “allegations and other factual contentions have evidentiary support.”
See In re Brown, 328 B.R. 556, 556 (Bankr.N.D.Cal. 2005); FED. R. BANKR. P.
9011(b)(3). |

Here, Counsel’s conduct fails to meet the “objectively reasonable” standard
and is sanctionable under Rule 9011 for several reasons. First, the facts show that
Counsel conducted no inquiry, or a grossly inadequate inquiry, as to the identity of
Mr. Marquez before filing the Petition as Mr. Marquez never met Counsel, did not
know Counsel at the time, did not engage Counsel in any capacity, and had no
knowledge of the bankruptcy filing. Marquez Decl., 7 11-12. Consequently,
Counsel made no inquiry, or a grossly inadequate inquiry, into the identification of

the person on whose behalf he was filing the Petition.
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Second, pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §§ 109 and 521, a debtor is required to
receive credit counseling within 180 days before filing bankruptcy and must file a
certificate from the ctedit counseling agency contemporaneously with the Petition.
In the Petition, Counsel checked the box indicating that Mr Marquez “received a
briefing from an approved oredit coutiseling agency within 180 days before [he]
filed this bankruptey petition, but [he does] not have a cettificate of completion.”
See Petiﬁon, Docket Entry #1, pg. 5. However, this assertion is false, and
unsupported by any evidence. Marquez Decl., J12. Mr. Marquez did not, and
could not, verify, affirm, or inform Counsel that he in fact received the required
credit counseling because, again, Mr, Marquez never met Cou!ns}el at the time this
r&preseﬂtation was maq.e,by Counsel when the Petition was filed.

Based upon the foregoing, the filing of the Petition, and the asseitions made
therein, were legally baseless and without evidentiary support. Thus, Counsel and
the Firm clearly violated Rule 9011(b)(1) and (3) by filing the chapter 13 petition
without any evidentiary suppott, for an improper purpose, and without conducting
a reasonable and competent inquiry.

Related to Rule 9011(b) is Rule 1008, which also requires that “[a]ll
petitions, lists, schedules, statements and amendments thereto shall be
verified...” FED, R, BANKR. P, 1008. In other words, debtors “must sign the

petition ... as a means of not only authdrizing the filing of these documents,

11
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but of verifying, under penalty of perjury, that they have reviewed the
information contained therein and that it is true aﬁd correct to the best of
their knowledge, information, and belief.” In re Stomberg, 487 BR. 775,
807 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. 2013) (citing In re Phillips, 317 BR. 518,523-24
(8th Cir. BAP 2004)(upholding sanctions award where counsel violated
9011(b) by forging debtor's electronic signature on bankruptcy petition)).
But again, because Mr. Marquez never saw or signed the petition or any
other document related to above;captioned case, he could not (and did not)
verify the accuracy of the information contained therein. Marquez Decl.,
912. Counsel’s filing a document with the Court that Counsel represented

as having been verified by the debtor (pursuant to Rule 1008), likewise

violates Rule 9011(b).

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Since the document at issue was filed electronically with the Court,
additional rules regarding verification apply. Rule 5005(a)(2) allows a court, by
local rule, to permit documents to be filed, signed, and verified electronically.
FED. R. BANKR. P. 5005(2)(2) (emphasis added). Pursuant to LBR 1007-2,
documents requiring original signatures may be filed electronically as long as the
filer fully complies with LBR 5005. See LBR 1007-2. LBR 5005-4(a) provides
that a user’s CM/ECF login and password “serve as the signature for the purposes

of FRBP 9011, the Local Bankruptcy Rules, the Administrative Procedures, and
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any other purpose for which a signature is required in connection with proceedings
before the Court.” See LBR 5005-4(a).

Pursuant to LBR 5005-4(c), the “signature of the debtor ... authorizing the
electronic filing of the bankruptcy case must be accomplished by the electronic
filing of an executed Local Form CSD 1801 on the Petition Date.” " See LBR 5005-
4(c). LBR 5005-8 also requires the Registeted User to “maintain ... any document
that is filed using their login and password that contains an otiginal signature, other]
than that of the registered user... until 5 years after the case is closed...” See LBR
5005-8,

Since the Petition was filed electronically, Counsel also violated Rule
9011(b)(3) by. ﬁ],ﬁlg the Petition without a Dt;cla:ratidn re: Electronic Filing on
CSD Form 1801, Counsel used his CM/ECF log-in and password fo electronically
file the petition. By doing so, Counsel certified ‘tp the Court that he made a
reasonable inquiry, and to the best of his knowledge, information and belief, the
factual contentions contained in the Petition were supported by evidence. He also
certified that he possessed the appropriate document (CSD Form 1801) bearing the
debtor’s original “wet” signature.

However, as noted above, Mr. Marquez never met Counsel, did not
authorize the bankruptcy filing, and never saw, let alone signed, the petition,

Marquez Decl., Y 11-12. A reasonable attorney would have ensured the debtor
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had an opportunity to review and verify the accuracy of statements made in the
petition. See FED. R, BANKR. P. 1008. A reasonable attorney would have ensured
that the petition was executed in accordance with the Rules and LBRs. Counsel
did neither.

Rather, Counsel presented the Petition to the Court before making an
adequate inquiry that it contained evidentiary support, i.e., he falsely certified that
he possessed the petition and/or other documents bearing Mr. Marquez’s original
“wet” signature. This constitutes a violation of LBR 5005-4 and Rule 9011(b).
See In' re Kayne, 453 B.R. at 382 (debtor's attorney may Be sanctioned under FRBP
9011 for failing to conduct reasonable inquiry into facts underlying schedules and
statement of financial affairs); In re Stomberg, 487 B.R. 775 (Bankr. S.D. Tex.
2013) (“electronically filing a document that purports to have the debtor’s
signature but which was not, in fact, signed by the debtor, is no different than
physically forging the debtor’s signature on a paper document”).

Based on the foregoing, Counsel and the Firm violated Rule 9011(b) by
filing a frivolous, legally unreasonable, and unsupported chapter 13 petition under
the name of Mr. Marquez without his knowledge, vconsent, or authorization.

3. Sanctions under Rule 9011(c)(2)

While subdivision (b) of Rule 9011 provides the required standard,

subdivision (c) governs the nature of sanctions the bankruptcy court may impose.
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See FED. R, BANKR. P. 9011(c). “A sanction imposed for violation of [Rule 9011]
... Shall be limited to what is sufficient to deter repetition of such conduct or
cémpa‘rabl.e conduct by othets similatly situated.” FeD. R. BANKR. P. 9011(¢)(2).

The sanction “may consist of; or inclide, directives of a nonmonetary
nature, an order to pay a penalty into the court, or .,, an order d'irecting payment to
the movant of some or all of the IféaSpnable,,attomeys" fees and other expenses
inCuqed as a direct result of the violation.” Id, As discussed below, the UST
requests the court to impose monetaty and non-monetary sanctions against Counsel|
and the Fitm for violating Rule 9011(b).

(2) Monetary Sanctions

An attorney who violates Rule 9011(b) may be sanctioned ﬁursuant to Rule

9011(c), which in,ciudcs, inter alia, the payment of a,penallty into the court and/or

the payment of attorneys’ fees of the moving party that result from the violation of

(The bankruptey court has “wide discretion in determining the amount of a
sanctions award”). The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has also held that
bankruptcy courts have broad and inherent authority to deny attorney fees if the
attorney fails to meet the Bankruptcy Code’s requirements as set forth in §§ 327,
329, 330, and 331. Law Office of Nicholas A. Franke v. Tiffany, U.S. Trustee (In

re Lewis), 113 F.3d 1040, 1045 -(9th Cir, 1997), “A bankruptcy court may examine

&
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the reasonableness of a debtor’s attorney fees” and order disgorgement of
compensation that exceeds the reasonable value of services. Hale v United States
Trustee, 50§ F.3d 1139, 1147 (9th Cir, 2007); 11 U.S.C. §329(b).

Here, Counsel and the Firm filed the Petition with the Court and presented it
as factually supported. In doing so, Counsel and the Firm falsely attested that Mr.
Marquez both vefiﬁed the accuracy of, and signed, the Petition when that was not
the case. Rather, the document was filed without conducting a reasonable and
competent inquiry into the identity of the individual in whose name the case was
filed and/or the factual circumstances surrounding the filing,

Given the serious nature of the conduct at issue, the monetary sanctions
requested by the UST are proportional to the violation and consistent with the
goals of the Rule -- to insure that all submissions to a bankruptcy court are truthful
and proper. Conseqﬁently, the UST requests the Court order monetary sanctions as
follows: (1) a civil penalty designed to deter similar future conduct, and (2)
compensatory sanctions in the form of attorneys’ fees and costs, payable to UST as
the moving party, which are the direct result of Counsel’s violations of Rule 9011.

(i) Civil Penalty

The UST fequests the Court to impose a monetary civil penalty against

Counsel and tﬁe Firm (jointly and severally) in an amount of one thousand dollars

($1,000), plus the dollar value of any fees or compensation received by Counsel in

16

MARQUEZ 16-07541-LT13
UST’s MOTION FOR SANCTIONS

3193




10
1
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

27

28"

‘|Case 16-07541-LT13 Filed 04/05/17 Entered 04/05/17 09:19:43 Doc 16 Pg. 17 of
23

this case. A monetary civil penalty is permissible under Rule 9011(c) and should
be payable to the Court See FED, R, BANKR. P. 9011(¢)(2); see also In re DeVille,
361 F.3d at 551 (the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals noted that Rule 9011(c)(2)
expressly contemplates “an order to pay a penalty into the court” as a form of
sanction and held that such penalty need not be awarded through criminal
contempt proceedings). *I“he conduct at issue is significant and requires an equally
significant sanction necessary to deter riepétition of Counsel’s conduct and prevent
Coutisel and the Firm from profiting from their inappropriate and improper
conduct,

(ii) Attorneys’ Fees Resulting from the Violation.

The UST also requests that Counsel and the Firm pay reasonable attorneys’
fees and costs incurred by the Ofﬁ.cé of the United Stafes Trustee which are the
diré_c't- result of Counsel and the Firm’s filing of the Petition for Relief in violation
of Rule 9011. See FED. R. BANKR. P. 9011(c)(2); see also In re Ka‘_);ne, 453 B.R. at
386 (“Although the court may award all reasonable fees and costs claimed by
Trustee [under Ruie 9011(c)(2)], it also has thé 'discret-ionv to set the sanction at a
lower amount where sufficient to get the offender's attention and deter future
abuses™). As discussed above, the sanctionable conduct by Counsel and the Firm
more than adequately justifies a fee shifting sanction. A competent attomey

admitted before this Court would have inquired as to the identity of the debtor and
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ensﬁred that the petition was propérly executed in accordance with the Rules angl
LBRs. Counsel did neither. As for the reasonableness of the amount of fees and
costs incurred, the UST is filing concurrently with this Motion, declarations in
support of this request.
(b) Non-Monetary Sanctions

Rule 9011(c)(2) also permits sanctions in the form of directives of a
nonmonetary nature. FED. R. BANKR. P. 9011(c)(2). As the Court deems~
appropriaté, the UST requests that the Court impose CLE/training requirements
upon Counsel. The facts of the case show Counsel failed to adequately perform hisH
professional duties as a licensed attorney. As such, Counsel should be required to

complete at least ten (10) hours, or as the Court deems appropriate, of ethical

The facts further show that Counsel failed to follow the requirements for '
electronic filing of documents and bankruptcy cases, as set forth in the LBRs.
Therefore, the UST also requests that the Court suspend Counsel’s CM/ECF filing
privileges until such time as Counsel provides evidence of completion the CLE
requirements noted above as well as any additional educ;ational requirements
imposed by the Court to obtain recertification to file using CM/ECF. This
nonmonetary directive should require Counsel to complete additional CM/ECF.

training regarding the obligations of Counsel when electronically filing documents
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and/or bankruptoy cases.

To assist the Court and UST with monitoring Counsel’s compliance with the
CLE/training requirements to be imposed by the Court, the UST submits that
Counsel should file within a time prescribed by the Court, a declaration outlining
which courses Counsel has identified that comply with the CLE/training
requitements of the Court’s oider. The UST further submits that upon completion
of said courses, Counsel be required to file verified proof of said completion.

Second, in addition to the training noted above, the Court should order
Counsel to file a Rule 2016(b) Statement in this case and fully disclose the amount
of compensation received. See FED. R. BANKR, P. 2016(b); 11 U.8.C. § 329.
Without such disclosure, it cannot be determined what compensation was received
by Counsel and the Firm; this information is necessary to assist the Court with
arriving at the appropriate deterrent sanction. As noted above, Counsel and the
Firm should not profit from inappropriate and improper conduct.

Third, as required by the LBRs, a Declaration Re: Electronic Filing must be
filed for evety bankruptcy case that is electronically filed through CM/ECF. See
LBR 5005-4(c). This declaration is important as it declares, under penalty of
perjury, that the petitioner consents to the filing and that all the information
electronically filed is true and correct. Here, Counsel failed to file a Declaration

Re: Electronic Filing. Consequently, and to the extent Counsel’s CM/ECF filing
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privileges are restored, the UST requests that the Co"urt order Counsel to
prospectively file a declaration in every case affirming that: (1) he personally met
with the petitioner, (2) he verified the petitioner’s identification, and (3) the
petitioner signed the petition and/or the Declaration re: Electronic Filing.

Lastly, the UST requests that the Court refer Counsel and the Firm to the
Disciplinary Committee of the United States District Court for the Southern
District of California. See In re Schivo, 461 B.R. 765, 781-82 (Bankr. D. Nev.
2011) (as sanctions for violating Rule 9011(b), the bankruptcy court referred the
matter to the State Bar of Nevada to determine if further disciplinary proceedings
were warranted). Civil Local Rule 83.4 of the United States District Court for the
Southem District of California incorporates the California Rules of Professional
Conduct as the standards of conduct for both the District Court and this Court. See

Civil Local Rule 83.4.% Civil Local Rules 83.5(a), (c), and (e) provide that when

this Court can refer said conduct to the Disciplinary Committee. The Disciplinary
Committee can then determine (through its adjudicative process) whether
additional sanctions are warranted, such as requiring supplemental ethics training
or temporary suspension until counsel completes any such training, or any other

relief that the Committee may deem appropriate.

® LBR 1001-5 adopts both Civil Local Rules 83.4 and 83.5 as rules of the Bankruptcy Court.
20
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The UST submits that the conduct undertaken by Counsel in this case
warrants referral to the Disciplinary Committee. California Rule of Professional
Conduct 3-200(B) provides that an attorney shall not accept or continue
employment if he khows or should know that the objective of such employment is
“to present a claim or defense in litigation that is not warranted under existing
law...” CAL.R.PROF, 3-200(B). Furthermore, California Rule of Professional
Conduct 5-200(B) prohibits an attotney from misleading the judge, judicial officet,
ot jury “by an artifice or false statement of fact or law.” CAL.R. PROF. 5-200(B).

Without the consent, knowledge, or authorization of Mr, Marquez, the filing
of the above-captioned chapter 13 pétition was not warranted under existing law or
fact. Counsel and the Firm further misled the bankruptcy coutt by filing the
petition with Mr. Marquez’s electronic signature when Mr. Marquez neither saw
nor signed the petition. Therefore, Counsel and the Firm should be referred to the
Disciplinary Committee for additional disciplinary proceedings as set forth above,

In addition to the monetary and non-monetary sanctions requested above, the
UST also requests the Court to make a finding that the above-captioned chapter 13
bankruptcy case was filed without the knowledge and/or consent of Mr. Marquez.
Mr. Marquez was harmed as to both his credit score and reputation. A finding that
this case was filed without his knowledge and/or consent will assist Mr, Marquez

in reviving his credit with the various credit agencies, restoring his reputation, and
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alleviating any emotional distress the bankruptcy filing may have caused.
CONCLUSION

For all of the above reasons, the UST respectfully requests tﬁat the Court
sanction Counsel and the Firm, jointly and severally, pursuant to Rule 9011 for
filing the above-captioned chapter 13 case without conducting a reasonable and
competent inquiry. Filing the chapterﬁ 13 Petition was ﬁ'}violodé,ilegal]& |
unreasonable, and without evidentiary support. As it deems appropriate, the UST
requests that the Court impose any, or all, of th’e;‘foregoing sanctions against
Counsel and the Firm: (1) a monetary civil penalty payable to the Court designed
to deter similar future conduct, (2) compensatory sanctions in the form of
attorneys’ fees and costs, payable to tﬁe UST as the moving party, which are the
direct result of Counsel’s violations of Rule 9011; (3) additional CLE requirements
and ethical training in the area of professional responsibility; (4) suspension of
Counsel’s CM/ECF filing privileges for defined minimum period of time, requiring
completion of CLE and other educational requirements for recertification said
CM/ECF privileges; (5) compel the filing of the Disclosure of Compensation of
Attorney for Debtor (Form CSD 2030) as required by Rule 2016(b); (6) require
Counsel to file a declaration in every bankruptcy case filed by Counsel and/or the
Firm affirming that hé pefsonally met with the petitioner, he verified the petitioners

identification, and the petitioner signed the petition and/or the Declaration Re:
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Electronic Filing (CSD Form 1801); (7) referral to the Disciplinary Cormittee of
the United States District Coutt for farther proceedings, and (8) a finding that the

chapter 13 bankruptcy case was filed without the knowledge and/ot consent of Mr,

Marquez.
Respectfully submitted,
TIFFANYL.CARROLL
ACTING UNITED STATES TRUSTEE
Dated: April 4,2017 By:/s/ Da;vidA; Orgz g
David A. Ortiz, Esg.
Attorney for the
Acting United States Trustee
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Recorded Requested By
First American Title

RE San Diego

AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL THIS DEED AND, UNLESS
OTHERWISE SHOWN BELOW, MAIL TAX STATEMENTS TO:

Name )
Street San Diego Private Investments, LLC
Address Altn: Salam Razuki '
city 7977 Broadway
glme Lemon Grove, CA 81945

p

DOC# 2017-0224563
OO AR

May 18, 2017 03:54 PM

OFFICIAL RECORDS
Ernest J. Dronenburg, Jr.,

SAN DIEGO COUNTY RECORDER
FEES: $15.00

PCOR: YES
PAGES: 1

oroerne, S DL/ STT

ESCROW NO. 146530S-W-CG

The undersigned grantor declares that the documentary transfer tax is

X computed on the full value of the interest of the property conveyed, or is

RECORDERS USE ONLY

GRANT DEED
TAX PARCEL NO. 586-120-11-00

$0.00 M/Zﬂ/[vg Dt b WI}Q

computed on the full value less the value of liens or encumbrances remaining thereon at the time of sale.

The land, tenements or realty is located in

unincorporated area X city SanDiego

and

FOR A VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged,
American Lending and Holdings, LI.C, a California Limited Liability Company

hereby GRANT(S) to

San Diego Private Investments, LL.C, a California Limited Liability Company

The following described real property in the City of San Diego, County of San Diego, State of California:

LOT 1292 OF HERITAGE ADDITION UNIT NO. 9, IN THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO,
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ACCORDING TO MAP THEREOF NO. 4913, FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY

RECORDER OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, FEBRUARY 9, 1962.

Dated  04/06/2017

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the
identity of the individual who signed the document to which this certificate
Lis attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, )
COUNTY OF SANDIEGO )
[F

On __ M| Ob, Slo

Ninus Malan

before me,
, Notary Public

personally appeared

who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose
name(s) (ars-subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that
disheithey executed the same in piSTherithair authorized capacity(ies), and that by
d/hecktheir signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of
which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument.

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California
that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct.

WITNESS my hand and offici; .
Signaturg| ) :‘:> , Notary Public

American Lending and Holdings, LLC, a

Californi%ity Company
. -By. / )

Riius Malan, Managing Member

CONINL, #3145018
NOTARY PUBLIC-GALIFORNIA
SAN DIEGO COUNTY

(Notary Seal)

MAIL TAX STATEMENTS TO PARTY SHOWN BELOW: IF NO PARTY SO SHOWN, MAIL AS DIRECTED ABOVE.

Name Street Address
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Rt Amioraan T DOC# 2017-0224555

1 San Diego -
S 00O

AND WHEN RECORDED MAL THIS DEED AND, UNLESS May 18, 2017 03:54 PM
OTHERWISE SHOWN BELOW, MAIL TAX STATEMENTS TO: OFFICIAL RECORDS
. . E J.D burg, Jr.,

g:em: San Diego Private Investments, LLC SANmDeISEtGO rCogaSNu_lr_gY RrECO'RDER
Address /;gj,'l; %alam Razuki F %I':(';S0 R-$\;| g .SOO

City roadway . .
State Lemon Grove, CA 91945 . PAGES: 1
Zip

. — ~ RECORDERS USE ONLY
ESCROWNO,  148308-P-C0 ' TAX PARCEL NO. 168-600-20-00 / },LL

The undersigned grantor declares that the documentary transfer taxis . $0.00 [/)/M/ /4 J}b’)’teﬂ and is
X computed on the full value of the interest of the property conveyed, or is
computed on the full value less the value of liens or encumbrances remaining thereon at the time of sale.
The land, tenements or realty is located in
unincorporated area X city LaMesa and
FOR A VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged,
American Lending and Holdings, LL.C, a California Limited Liability Company

hereby GRANT(S) to
San Diego Private Investments, LLC, a California Limited Liability Company

The following described real property in the City of La Mesa, County of San Diego, State of California:

SUB LOT 20 OF LA MESA TOWNHOUSE, IN THE CITY OF LA MESA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, STATE OF
CALIFORNIA, ACCORDING TO THE MAP THEREOF NO. 5519, FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY
RECORDER OF SAID SAN DIEGO COUNTY ON JANUARY 25, 1965. .

Dated _04/06/2017

- A notary public or other officer completing this certiﬁcafe verifies only the
identity of the individual who signed the document to which this certificate

is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ) American Lencin
COUNTY OE SAN DIEGO ) ornia Ljm -- 7
on _Shor ] e, Aol F_ before me, By /l
Cf titedee. COtrteo. ) , Notary Public Nitte€Malan, Managing Member

personally appeared _ Ninus Malan

who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose
name(s) {&ure subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that
&heftrey executed the same in difStheriheir authorized capacity(ies), and that by

ir signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of
which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument.

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California
that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct.

WITNESS my ang officj . - .
Signaturg Lzéib , Notary Public (Notary Seal)

MAIL TAX STATEMENTS TO PARTY SHOWN BELOW: IF NO PARTY SO SHOWN, MAIL AS DIRECTED ABOVE.

CLAUDIA GARCIA
COMM, #2145613
\  NOTARY PUBLIC-CALIFORNIA @

SANDIEGOCOUNTY  Q
My Commission Expires
APRIL 4, 2020 _E

Name Street Address City & State
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Recorded Requested By DOC# 2017-0224558

\’| Rt First American Title
San Dleg | OO OO A

S TER T SRS May 18, 2017 03:54 P
Name . . Ernest J. Dronenburg, Jr.,
steet  5an Diego Private Investments, LLC SAN DIEGO COUNTY RECORDER
Address Altn: Salam Razukl . FEES: $24.00

7977 Broadway . PCOR: YES :
Sy Lemon Grove, CA 91945 PAGES: 4
Zp

RECORDERS USE ONLY
“oroerro. § DT Y ST-Z GRANT DEED

ESCROWNO. 1465305-R-CG TAX PARCEL NO. 186-273-11-00 }Wﬂ GW
The undersigned grantor declares that the documentary transfer taxis ~ $0.00 W and is

X  computed on the full value of the interest of the property conveyed, or is
computed on the full value less the value of liens or encumbrances remaining thereon at the time of sale.

The land, tenements or realty is located in
unincorporated area X city  Valley Center and
FOR A VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged,
American Lending and Holdings, LLC, a California Limited Liability Company

hereby GRANT(S) to
San Diego Private Investments, LLC, a California Limited Liability Company

The following described real property in the City of Valley Center, County of San Diego, State of California:

PARCEL A: PARCEL 1, IN THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA AS SHOWN AT PAGE
12269 OF PARCEL MPS, FILED IN THE OFFICER OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY,
AUGUST 12, 1982. AS MORE COMPLETELY DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT "A" ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE

A PART HEREOF.
Dated  04/06/2017

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the
| identity of the individual who signed the document to which this certificate
is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document,

American Lending and Holdings, LLC, a

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ) erical Lending anc
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO ) California L iabitity Company
On _@7)’)/ J4] (4’ ._/_QZ)/ P before me, By; / .

,”,‘/ firedep J @ rELa , Notary Public - “ Ninis Mélafi, Managing Member
personally appeared _ Ninus Malan

who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose
name(s) &3e subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that
executed the same in M authorized capacity(ies), and that by
ir signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of

which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument.

1 certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California
that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct.

WITNESS my band and official seal.

Notary Public

Signature
MAIL TAX STATE TO PARTY SHOWN BELOW: IF NO PARTY SO SHOWN, MAIL AS DIRECTED ABOVE.
Name Street Address Cy & State
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PARCEL J: (APN: 185-273-11-00)
Exhibit A

PARCEL 1 OF PARCEL MAP NO..12269, IN THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FILED IN
THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, AUGUST 12, 1982 AS INSTRUMENT NO.

82-249865 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS.

PARCEL J1:

AN EASEMENT FOR WATER PIPE LINES, PUBLIC UTILITY AND INGRESS AND EGRESS FOR ROAD PURPOSES
OVER, UNDER, ALONG AND ACROSS A STRIP OF LAND 40.00 FEET IN WIDTH LYING WITHIN THE EAST
HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 11 SOUTH, RANGE 2 WEST, SAN
BERNARDINO MERIDIAN, IN THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ACCORDING TO
OFFICIAL PLAT THEREOF, THE CENTER LINE OF SAID 40.00 FOOT STRIP BEING DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH 7.00 FEET OF THE NORTHWEST
QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 11, WITH THE WEST LINE OF SAID
NORTHWEST QUARTER OF NORTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH 7.00
FEET OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 11, NORTH 88° 11' 15" WEST, 694.70 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 01° 48' 45" WEST, 188.00 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 01°
48' 45" WEST, 60.95 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A TANGENT 400.00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE, CONCAVE
WESTERLY; THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID CURVE THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 18° 00' 00", A DISTANCE
OF 125.66 FEET; THENCE TANGENT TO SAID CURVE, SOUTH 19° 46' 45" WEST, 229.85 FEET TO THE
BEGINNING OF A TANGENT 400.00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE, CONCAVE EASTERLY; THENCE SOUTHERLY
ALONG SAID CURVE THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 19° 40' 00" A DISTANCE OF 137.30 FEET; THENCE TANGENT
TO SAID CURVE, SOUTH 00° 08' 45" WEST, 272.32 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A TANGENT 500.00 FOOT
RADIUS CURVE, CONCAVE WESTERLY; THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID CURVE THROUGH AN ANGLE OF
14° 00’ 00" A DISTANCE OF 122.17 FEET; THENCE TANGENT TO SAID CURVE, SOUTH 14° 08' 45" WEST,
710.28 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A TANGENT 1000.00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE, CONCAVE
NORTHWESTERLY; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 06° 20' 00" A
DISTANCE OF 110.54 FEET; THENCE TANGENT TO SAID CURVE, SOUTH 20° 28' 45" WEST, 507.95 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 22° 28' 45" WEST, 376.84 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE SOUTH LINE OF THE
NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 11.

THE SIDE LINE OF SAID 40.00 FOOT STRIP ARE TO BE PROLONGED SO AS TO TERMINATE ON THE SOUTH
AT THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER. ALSO THAT PORTION OF THE SOUTH 40.00 FEET OF
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THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 11, LYING WESTERLY OF
THE WESTERLY SIDE LINE OF THE ABOVE 40.00 FOOT DESCRIBED STRIP OF LAND.

PARCEL J2:

AN EASEMENT AND RIGHT OF WAY FOR ROAD AND PUBLIC UTILITY PURPOSES, OVER, UNDER, ALONG A
STRIP OF LAND 40.00 FEET WIDE WITHIN THE NORTH HALF OF THE NORTH HALF OF SECTION 11,
TOWNSHIP 11 SOUTH, RANGE 2 WEST, SAN BERNARDINO MERIDIAN, IN THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO,
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ACCORDING TO OFFICIAL PLAT THEREOF, LYING SOUTHERLY AND EASTERLY OF

THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED LINE.

BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE CENTERLINE OF LILAC ROAD (R. S, 940) WITH THE
NORTHERLY LINE OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 11; THENCE NORTH 89° 20' 51" WEST,
1139.41 FEET TO THE NORTH QUARTER CORNER OF SAID SECTION 11; THENCE ALONG THE NORTHERLY
LINE OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 11, NORTH 88° 11' 31" WEST, 471.63 FEET TO THE
NORTHEAST CORNER OF THAT LAND GRANTED TO VALLEY CENTER MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT,
RECORDED MAY 22, 1974 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 74-134095 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS; THENCE ALONG THE
EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LAND AND ITS SOUTHERLY PROLONGATION SOUTH 01° 48' 29" WEST, 202.53
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89° 29' 20" WEST, 209.30 FEET TO AN ANGLE POINT IN THE NORTHERLY LINE OF
THAT 30.00 FOOT EASEMENT GRANTED TO VALLEY CENTER MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT, , RECORDED
MAY 22, 1974 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 74-134096 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS; THENCE ALONG THE NORTHERLY
LINE OF SAID EASEMENT, SOUTH 89° 29' 20" WEST, 64.36 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A TANGENT
707.00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE, CONCAVE SOUTHERLY; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE THROUGH
AN ANGLE OF 22° 35' 00" A DISTANCE OF 278.67 FEET; THENCE TANGENT TO SAID CURVE, SOUTH 66°
54' 20" WEST, 329.47 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 65° 40' 50" WEST, 49.19 FEET TO THE EASTERLY LINE OF THE
WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 11, THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID 40.00
FOOT STRIP IS TO BE PROLONGED OR SHORTENED SO AS TO TERMINATE ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF THE

WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 11.

EXCEPTING THEREFROM THAT PORTION LYING WITHIN LILAC ROAD (R. S. 940) AND WESTERLY OF THE
WESTERLY LINE OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED PARCEL J1.

PARCEL J3:
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AN EASEMENT AND RIGHT OF WAY FOR ROAD AND PUBLIC UTILITY PURPOSES, OVER, UNDER, ALONG |
AND ACROSS THE NORTHERLY 40.00 FEET OF PARCEL 4, IN THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, STATE OF f
CALIFORNIA AS SHOWN AT PAGE 5724 OF PARCEL MAPS, FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY

RECORDER OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, MARCH 24, 1977.

PARCEL J4:

AN EASEMENT AND RIGHT OF WAY FOR ROAD AND PUBLIC UTILITY PURPOSES, OVER, UNDER, ALONG
AND ACROSS THE EASTERLY 30.00 FEET OF PARCEL 4, IN THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, STATE OF
CALIFORNIA, AS SHOWN AT PAGE 5724 OF PARCEL MAPS, FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY
RECORDER OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, MARCH 24, 1977.

PARCEL J5:

AN EASEMENT AND RIGHT OF WAY FOR ROAD AND PUBLIC UTILITY PURPOSES, OVER, UNDER, ALONG
AND ACROSS THE WESTERLY 30.00 FEET OF PARCELS 3 AND 4, IN THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, STATE OF
CALIFORNIA, AS SHOWN AT PAGE 9548, FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAN DIEGO

COUNTY, JANUARY 3, 1980.

PARCEL J6:

AN EASEMENT AND RIGHT OF WAY FOR ROAD AND PUBLIC UTILITY PURPOSES OVER, UNDER, ALONG
AND ACROSS THE WESTERLY 30.00 FEET OF PARCEL 2 IN THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, STATE OF
CALIFORNIA, AS SHOWN AT PAGE 12269 OF PARCEL MAPS, FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY

RECORDER OF SAN DIEGO, AUGUST 12, 1982,
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. o DOC# 2017-0271404
RECORDING REQUESTED BY: IIIII!IﬂllIllilllllllllIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIllIIlIIIIIII

Fouadaaen-EscmNoMeunty.
LowessTi He- . Jun 16, 2017 3 AM
: : OFFICIAL RECORDS ’

W aif X statements fo / : ’ EmestJ. Dronenburg, Jr., -
When Recorded Mall Document To: SAN DIEGO COUNTY RECORDER
WafaKatto - : F%ECSO R'SY 10 .
1581 Dumar Avenue PR TE PAGES: 3

El Cajon, CA 92019

Escrow No.: N10314—AS
Tltle No.:

SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER'S USE

- GRANT DEED

The undersigned grantor(s) declare(s) ) g o0i meatovy Transfey B /U b CD NS, 0 ernTid
0O computed on full value of property gnveyed or j T}% ¢ T
O computed on full value less value of liens or encumbranees remainlng at time of sale,

B The propertyis Iocated in the City of San Dlego

APN: 536-340-26-00

FOR A VALUABLE CONSIDERATION recelpt of whlch is hereby acknowledged,
Wafa Katto, a Single Woman ‘

hereby GRANT(S) to

Wafa Katto, a Single Woman, and Ninus Malan an unmarried man, as Joint Tenants

the following described real property:
The land hereinaﬂer referred to'is sltuated in the City of San Diego, County of San Dlego. State of CA, and is described as

follows: :
Lots 43 and 44 in Block 240 of San Dlego Land and Town Company’s Addition, in the Clty of San Dzego. County of San

Diego, State of California, according to map thereof No. 379 filed in the office of the County Recorder of San Diego
County, October 30, 1886.

Dated:

: |
Wafa Katto m

document fied for record by LAWYERS TITLE
m’ s mwnhasnmm

maummmuawm
upon e,
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APN: 538-340-26-00

A notary pubhc or other ofﬁcer completmg th:s certlfcate
verifies only the tdent:ty of the individual who signed the
document to which this certificate is ‘attached, and not
the truthfulness accuracy, or valldity of that document.

1 ,b'f"l‘v Lol before me,
/ L Notary Public.
+o

person 3 ‘

e who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be
the person(s)’whose name sYiShare .subscnbed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that
executed the same inhigMerARST authorized capacity(ies), and that by.bj Aheir-signature(s) on the instrument the

person{s), or the' enttty upon behalf of which the person{sy-acted, executed the mstrument

t certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph is true and
correct.

Witness my hal d grd ofﬂc«al—sea//

el TR
(Seal) ) Natary Public - California
‘< LR R §an Diego County

Signature

Commussion # 2161685
My Cormm_Expires Juf 31 2020

i document B o ecord oy LAWIETS oy
s asonrlon B s el
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GOVERNMENT CODE 27361.7

I CERTIFY UNDER PENALTY OF PERTURY THAT THE NOTARY SEAL ON THE
DOCUMENT TO WHICH THIS STATEMENT IS ATTACHED READS AS FOLLOWS:
Name of the Notary: \/d."tby 9‘ pndin Fueaes

Commission Nmber: 2161 bDE  Date Commission Expires: 7-3 |- 7070
Courty where Bond i filed: S Lies0

Vendor/Manufacturer No: N dAL

Place of Execution:  San Diego Date: L’ -l 4' }0 ‘7
_ Sigm‘fure: : W
Lawyers Title San Diego
4/94
Recorder Form #R10
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San Diego, CA 92110

AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP, APC
3990 Old Town Ave, Ste A-112

ina M, Austin (SBN 246833)
E-mail: gaustin@austinlegalgroup.com
amara M. Leetham (SBN 234419)

-mail: tamara@austinlegalgroup.com

USTIN LEGAL GROUP, APC

990 Old Town Ave, Ste A-112
San Diego, CA 92110

hone: (619) 924-9600

acsimile: (619) 881-0045
Attorneys for Defendants
San Diego United Holdings Group, LLC, Ninus Malan
lAnd Balboa Ave Cooperative - -

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO- CENTRAL DIVISION

MONTGOMERY FIELD BUSINESS CASE NO. 37-2017-00019384-CU-CO-CTL

CONDOMINIUMS ASSOCIATION, a

California Nonprofit Mutual Benefit Assigned to Judge: Honorable Ronald L. Styn

Corporation, ‘

o DECLARATION OF SALAM RAZUKI IN
Plaintiff, SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS BALBOA
: AVE COOPERATIVE, SAN DIEGO
vs. UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC, AND
NINUS MALAN'S OPPOSITION TO
BALBOA AVE COOPERATIVE, a
California corporation; SAN DIEGO PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR
PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

UNITED HOLDINGS GROUPS, LLC, a
California limited liability company;

NINUS MALAN, an individual; RAZUKI [IMAGED FILE]
INVESTMENTS, LLC, a California

limited liability company; SALAM .
RAZUKI, an individual: and DOES 1 DATE: September 8, 2017
through 25, inclusive; ) DEPT: C-62

Defendants.

I, Salam Razuki, declare:
1. I am over the age of 18 and am a party to this action. I have personal knowledge

of the facts stated in this declaration, If called as a witness, I would testify competently thereto. I
provide this supplemental declaration in support of defendants San Diego United Holdings
Group, LLC, Balboa Ave Cooperative, and Ninus Malan's opposition to plaintiff Montgomery

1
RAZUKI DECLARATION ISO OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION
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San Diego, CA 92110
S & R O B = =

3990 Old Town Ave, Ste A-112
3

AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP, APC
n |\ ] [s&)
® 3 &8 2 R B NRN3Z =

Field Business Condominiums Association's ("Association" or "Plaintiff") request for prelimitiary
injunction ("Plaintiff's Motion").

2. I am the former owner of 8863 Balboa Ave Unit E, San Diego CA 92123 and
because of my ownership, a fotmer member of the Montgomery Field Business Condominiums
Assogiation (the “Association™),

3 In 2016, I met with Peter Michelet and he told me that he was the Association
Secretary and had been since 2010. He also stated that the only other board membets were Daniel
Burakowski and Glenn Strand. He said that no one else wanted to be on the board because Mr.
Burakowski operated everything by himself. When I inquired about Ed Quinn's role with the
Association, he said Mr. Quinn was only an owner and the reason why he was always present at
meetings was because they were often held at his office because it was the nicest.

4, In early 2017, I met with Ed Quinn in his office and he told me that he had never
been the Association’s Secretary or an officer; and that there was never anything in writing
indicating that he was the Secretary or an officer of the Association. He indicated that his office
was used for Association meetings.

5. I showed Mr, Quinn the 2015 Amendment to the Association’s CC&Rs that
contained his signature and he stated that it was his signature, but he did not know why Mr.
Burakowski asked him to sign it. He said he was bothered by the fact that Mr. Burakowski had
him sign it when he was never on the Board of Directors or the Association’s Se.cretary.

I declare under penalty of perjury under California state law that the _foregoing is true-and

correct, Executed in San Diego, California, on September 6,

 Lgdlam Raziki—"

2
RAZUKI DECLARATION IS0 OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

1
2 COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION
3
4 NINUS MALAN, ) OR’G'NAL
: ) Case No.
5 Plaintiff, ) 37-2016~00006980
) CU~BC~CTL
6 V. )
)
7 HANK SYBRANDY; GARY KENT; )
SOLYMAR REAL ESTATE; KELLER )
8 WILLIAMS LA JOLLA; and )
DOES 1 through 50, inclusive, )
S )
)
10 Defendants. )
' _)
pi s
12
13 :
14 DEPOSITION OF SALAM RAZUKI
15 San Diego, California
16 Monday, March 26, 2018
17 VOLUME II
18
19
20
21| Reported by:
ANELA SHERADIN, CSR NO. 9128
22
23 JOB NO. 2854718
24
25| PAGES 329 - 400

Page 329

Veritext Legal Solutions
866 299-5127
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION

NINUS MALAN,
Case No.

37-2016-00006980
CU-BC-CTL

Plaintiff,

)

)

)

)

)

)

HANK SYBRANDY; GARY KENT; )

SOLYMAR REAL ESTATE; KELLER )
WILLIAMS LA JOLLA; and )

DOES 1 through 50, inclusive, )

)

)

)

)

Defendants.

Deposition of SALAM RAZUKI, VOLUME II, taken
on behalf of Defendants, at 110 West A Street, Suite
625, San Diego, California, beginning at 10:00 a.m. and
ending at 11:52 p.m. on Monday, March 26, 2018, before
ANELA SHERADIN, Certified Shorthand Reporter No. 9128,

Page 330 __J
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APPEARANCES:

For Plaintiff:

BY: DOUGLAS JAFFE, ESQ.

501 ‘West Broadway, Suite 800
San Diego, California 92101
619,400-4945
douglasjaffel@aol.com

For Defendants Keller Williams La Jolla and Gary Kent:

BARTSCH LAW GROUP
BY: DUANE I. BARTSCH, ESQ.

317 Rosecrans Avenue
Manhattan Beach, California 90266
310.939.0937 :
duane@bhlawfirm.us

For Defendants Hank Sybrandy and Solymar Real Estate

Also

LAW OFFICES OF ROBERT E. MUIR
BY: ROBERT E. MUIR, ESQ.

110 West A Street, Suite 625

San Diego, California 92101-3703
619.231.6500

rm@muirlaw.com

Present:
NINUS MALAN
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WITNESS
SALAM RAZUKI
VOLUME II

DEPOSITION
Exhibit 12

Exhibit 13,
Exhibit 14
Exhibit 15

Exhibit 16

Exhibit 17

Exhibit 18

Exhibit 19

Exhibit 20

INDEX

EXAMINATION

BY MR. BARTSCH 333, 384, 392

BY MR. MUIR 381, 385
EXHIBITS

PAGE

333

Civil Subpoena for Personal
Appearance at Trial or Hearing

LoopNet Listing 347
Grant Deed 353
Deed of Trust with Assignment of 361
Rents
City of San Diego Lobbying Firm 363
Quarterly Disclosure Report
Exclusive Right to Represent Owner 368
For the Sale of the Ground Lease
of Real Property
Exclusive Right to Represent Owner 369
For Sale or Lease of Real Property
Commercial and Residential Income 371
Listing Agreement
Residential Listing Agreement - 376
Agency
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San Diego, California, Monday, March 26, 2018
©10:00 a.m.
000000
SALAM RAZUKI,
having been first administered an oath, was examined and

testified as follows:
FURTHER EXAMINATION

BY MR. BARTSCH:

o) Mr. Razuki, thank you for coming here today. I
have a new trial subpoena I want to give you. I gave
you one last time but that court date got continued.

MR. BARTSCH: So we are going to call this 12?

THE REPORTER: Yes.

(Exhibit 12 was marked for identification

by the court reporter and is attached hereto.)
BY MR. BARTSCH:

Q So this is a copy. I keep the original.

And I previously gave you a witness fee and an
on-call letter. If you choose to sign it, that's great.

I am going to ask about 12 questions that the
Court authorized me to ask and then I have a éouple of
other topics to talk about, so let's get started.

I have given a copy of the transcript to your

counsel that I am going to be reading from for the
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A It could be my assistant, it could be in the

computer, it could be at escrow, it could be at the

broker, it could be at an attorney. It could be

anywhere when transaction happened, sir.

Q Page 187, line 10 -- well, this is kind of the

exact same question. So I am going to read the whole

thing because it's all one long question with

objections.

"So just so I am clear, your joint represented

party, Ninus Malan, is suing my client for, like, I

don't know, 500,000 -~ 1,500,000 because he claims that

he did so much business with you and now he doesn't do

business with you anymore."

Let me stop there. You do currently do

[t

business with Ninus Malan; right?

MR. JAFFE; objection vague as to do business.

BY MR. BARTSCH:

Q Ninus Malan currentiy represents you in real

estate transactions; 1s that correct?

A No, this is not correct, sir. When you say

represent to me or a real estate transaction, that's not

correct.
L e Y

Q I am going to step a little out of order here.

Let's take a look at a LoopNet listing. You =-- well,

let's ask something else. You are engaged in a

Page 344
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marijuana dispensary with Ninus Malan; is that correct?

MR. JAFFE: Objection; vague as to engaged.

THE WITNESS: _This is incorrect, too, when you

say engaged with marijuana business. So I hope, I hope,

next time, just to be very, very clear how you say
engage with marijuana business, I am not a drug dealer
or anything like that.

BY MR. BARTSCH:

Q _Well, you are currently involved in a lawsuit

in San Diego County with a Bradford Harcourt who is

suing both you and Ninus Malan for a -- Bradford

_Harcourt claims you took over his marijuana dispensary

without paying him. So are you involved in any business

with Ninus Malan?

MR. JAFFE: Objection; vague and ambiguous as

to involved.
You can answer.

THE WITNESS: Yes, I -- I hope, if you can be

very clear on the question and tell me exactly what you

mean by that, yes, I had -- I have a lawsuit right now

pending and with these people.

I think

I purchased a property from them.

Ninus, he is the person that I sell him that property.

But I say engaged with business with Mr. Malan? That's

incorrect, sir.
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BY MR. BARTSCH:
Q And I have read the Complaint of the lawsuit

you are talking about and I have looked at the public

records. You had transferred the conditional use permit

to Ninus Malan, didn't you, for the use of the marijuana

dispensary?

MR, JAFFE: Objection. It calls for a legal

conclusion regarding transfers of conditional use

permits.

THE WITNESS: g@ah, that's -~ that's incorrect,

too. There is a document and we went through an escrow.

And I hope you went through all the paperwork when

.escrow was open and when I was a seller and Ninus Malan

was a buyer and it was completely two different escrows

and I did not transfer any conditional use permit to

Mr. Malan.

MR. JAFFE: Were those companies or you both

individually?

THE WITNESS: No, that was companies. It

wasn't me individually or anything like that.

BY MR. BARTSCH:
Q And do you know that Ninus Malan took a listing

for -- do you know that Ninus Malan took a listing in

the last several months for your Euclid Plaza property
for $7.495 million?
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they have
it's not

market.

been talking about listing the property, so

surprise me that the property, it's on the

Q So when you say the company, who would that be?

A

Razuki Investments, LLC.

o] And who is Razuki Investments, LLC? Isn't that

xou?

BY MR. BA

That --

MR. JAFFE: Objection., It's vague.

RTSCH:

Who makes up Razuki Investments, LLC?

Who makes up Razuki Investments, LLC?

Q

. A Say again.
Q
A

Who --

MR. JAFFE: Objection; vague.

THE WITNESS: Who makes it?

BY MR. BARTSCH:

Who are the members?

_Just the two of.you?

Q

A It's me and my brother.
Q

A

Yes.

—

Q And would you be upset to learn that your

brother had retained Ninus Malan to list the Euclid

Plaza property?

A As I said, without even going back and see if
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A  8dy again.

Q Do you know that Ninus Malan also lists as a
branch office one of his real estate addresses or,
éxéuse me, do you know that Ninus Malan lists as a

branch office an office space that is one of the

properties you own?
A  Which property, sir?
Q Logan Avenue. I am not certain of the address.
,A Logan Avenue, the only thing I have with one of

the corporation belong to Mr. Malan, it's the Mexican

taco shop.

Q And are you aware that that address is also
used as -- from the BRE, Bureau of Real Estate website
as a -- what's it called? I forgot the name -- as a

branch office?

A I don't know.
0 So let's take a look at this. And I don't have

any copies of this, so we will have to use this as
the -- we will have to use this as the official
document. I think this is 14.

(Exhibit 14 was marked for identification

by the court reporter and is attached hereto.)

BY MR. BARTSCH:
Q Take a look at this, please. This appears to

be a Grant Deed dated March 20th, 2017f One of your
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1 { companies is San Diego United Holdings Group, LLC;

2

3
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correct?,

A Correct.

0 And the Grant Deed is to be sent to Ninus

Malan. If you can take a look at that, please.

MR. JAFFE: Let's take a break.
MR. BARTSCH: Hold it. Why are we taking a
break? |
MR. MUIR: He didn't ask for a break.
MR. BARTSCH: Tybically you don't take a break
when there's a question pending.
MR. JAFFE: Was therg g question?
MR. BARTSCH: Yes.
Q Why did you have the Grant Deed sent to Ninus
Malan in 20172
A It say here that it was sent to 7977 Broadway

Avenue, sir. I don't know why you say that is sent to

Ninus Malan.
Q Look at the bottom.
MR. JAFFE: That's his answer. Let's take a

break.

(Recess.)

BY MR. BARTSCH:
Q All right. So you have had a chance to speak

with your attorney.
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that document to be sent Eo Ninus Malan?

A Well, this is -- this is saying here United

Holding Group, LLC and I thought it's San Diego Private

Investment, because I have San Diego Private Investment;

so by mistake I thought you were talking about San Diego

Private Investment, not San Diego United because I own

San Diego Private Investment.

So let me -- let me correct my answer and say I

thought that you say San Diego Private Investment. My

apology. I just try to be fast and just not pay any

attention because I -~

Q So you are stating that this has nothing to do

with you; is that correct?

A San Diego United Holding Group, LLC, I don't

have nothing to do with that.

Q And that address, 7977 Broadway Avenue, Lemon
Grove, California, that's the address that shows up all
over your various companies. That has nothing to do
with you?

MR. JAFFE: Objection; argumentative.
THE WITNESS: Okay. Okay. I am sorry. What
are you say?

BY MR. BARTSCH:
Q - That 7977 Lemon Grove property address, that's

a property address you own; correct?
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signed on Salam Razuki as a member on behalf of Razuki

Investments, LLC.

Q Yes.

A That's how she notarized my signature. That
mean Salam Razuki or Razukil Investments, LLC. That's
only involvement that I have here in the bottom, Razuki
Investments and Salam Razuki.

Q Right. I don't understand the point. The

point is this document is being sent to Ninus Malan.

May I see it again?

A Sure.

Q You are saying that San Diego United Holdings

Group, LLC is a company that you have no business w%ph;“_w

is that correct?

A That's correct, sir.

MR. JAFFE: Objection; vague as to no business

with. There's a sale transaction that's represented by

that document.

THE WITNESS: Correct, Mr. Jaffe. But let me

make it clear. Razuki Investments, LLC, when I sold

that property, there was a conditional use permit

attached to that property; and when I sell the property,

that CUP would go with the properties.

Does that make it clear? So that's the

involvement that I have only as me, Salam Razuki, or
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[' Razuki Investments, LLC.

I don't have any interest, as I say, in_any

San Diego United Holding. So if you will try to ask me

a question that I don't understand it or whatever to

make me say that I have anything to do with San Diego

United Holding, I am saying I don't have a direct

interest in San Diego United Holding.

BY MR, BARTSCH:

Q So you signed that transfer from -- excuse me.

You signed the transfer from Razukl Investments, LLC to

San Diego United Holdings Group, LLC?

A This is not correct, sir.

o] It's notarized and signed by you. It's

notarized by your employee.

A Correct, sir. But don't try to -- to make me

answer a question that I don't understand. When I

signed this Grant Deed, the Grant Deed is under Razuki

Investments, LLC, not to San Diego.

So that Grant Deed, when I purchased that

property under Razuki Investments, I sign it, I notarize

}t -~ without even having here San Diego United or

anything on it and I signed the Grant Deed as Razuki

Investments own the property and me as Salam Razuki or

whatever. Whatever entity he want that property to be

grant deeded to, that's what he create.
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Q Who is he?

A Ninus Malan. He is the one that -- he have an

interest on San Diego United Holding.

Q So you are transferring a Grant Deed to Ninus

Malan?
Sttty

A It's not personally to Ninus Malan, to the

entities that Ninus Malan have an interest in.

0 Other than Ninus Malan, who else has an

interest in San Diego United Holdings Group, LLC?

MR. JAFFE: Objection; vague.

THE WITNESS: No, I don't -- I don't know.

BY MR. BARTSCH:
Q And you testified that you transferred the

Grant Deed and a conditional use permit on this Grant

Deed;ris that correct?

MR. JAFFE: Objection. It calls for a legal

conclusion.

But you can answer.

THE WITNESS: Yeah. Well, from my

understanding, I transferred the Grant Deed on the

property and the CUP that's attached to that property.

BY MR. BARTSCH:

Q And what consideration did Ninus Malan pay you

for that transfer?

A Well, there 1s an escrow paper. It show there
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I, SALAM RAZUKI, do hereby declare under
peﬁalty of perjury that I have read the foregoing
transcript; that I have made such corrections as noted
herein, in ink, initialed by me, or attached hereto;
that'my testimony as contained herein, as corrected, is

true and correct.

EXECUTED this day of ,

2018, at , ,
(City) (State)

SALAM RAZUKI
VOLUME II
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I, the undersigned, a Certified Shorthand
Reporter of the State of California, do hereby certify:

That the foregoing proceedings were taken
before me at the time and place herein set forth; that
any witnesses in the foregoing proceedings, prior to
testifying, were duly sworn; that a record of the
proceedings was made by me using machine shorthand
which was thereafter transcribed under my direction;.

that the foregoing transcript is a true record of the

testimony given.
Further, that if the foregoing pertains to

the original transcript of a deposition in a Federal
Case, before completién'of the proceedings, review of

the transcript [ X] was [ ] was not requested.

. I further certify I am neither financially
interested in the action nor a relative or employee

of any attorney or party to this action.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have this date

subscribed my name.

Dated: 04/09/2018

ALl Gt fom s

ANELA SHERADIN
CSR NO. 9128
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DOUGLAS JAFFE, ESQ. Bar No. 170354
LAW OFFICES OF DOUGLAS JAFFE
501 West Broadway, Suite 800

San Diego, California 92101

Telephone: (619)400-4945

Facsimile: (619) 400-4947

Attorneys for Plaintiff

5AN DIEGO PRIVATE INVESTMENTS,
LLC,

Plaintiff,

vs.

ALLISON-MCCLOSKEY ESCROW
COMPANY; and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants.

i

&

SSOEFCED -
=5 DVSON

Z

g N3 A IS5
=

CLERS-SLB BOR COURT

gy Dtaigcoumv, CA

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO - CENTRAL

Case No.: 37-2018-00029303-CU-BT-CTL

 COMPLAINT _
! i BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY
3

NEGLIGENCE :
BREACH OF CONTRACT

)

asAfolloW's:

COMES NOW San Diego Private Investments, LLC (“SDPI” or “Plaintiff”) and alleges

1

Complaint
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Lo | GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
1 -On mformatlon and behef defendant Alhson—McCloskey Escrow Company isa

Fhom sv ..

o b

corporation doing business in the county of San Diego, California (“McCloskey”)

2. The true names and capacities, whether mchv1dual corporate, assocxate or

otherwise, of defendants Does 1 through 10 are unknown to Plamtlﬁ' who therefore sues sa1d

defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiff will amend this complannt to show thelr true
names and capacmes when they have been ascertamed. Plaintiff alleges that each of the
fictitiously named defendants engaged in the actrons and omlssrons heremaﬁer alleged and that

each s fully liable for all the damages requested herein. ., ‘ Calien
3. This Court has personal and subject matter jurisdiction over this action and venue

is properly placed in this Court. - . ¢ . S

-
i . B . . o . t e - e o
v . '

1

F .. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION |
o ) (Breach of deuclary Duty) _ g

-

4, Plalntlff mcorporates by this reference each of the prevrous paragl:aphs
5 McCloskey agreed to act as the €sCrow holder for Plamhﬁ' in the escrow for the
property at 1778 Bramblewood Court, Chula Vista, CA 91913 known as Escrow No. 145644S- |

CG. , v e ‘
6. The escrow mstructlon sngned by SDPI and D'Kiel Group, LLC (“D’Kiel”)

| authonzed and directed McCloskey to record the deeds McCloskey was holding. That escrow ;

mstructron is dated November' 1 8 2016 McCloskey has no eXplanatlon for why the deeds were

(X4

not xmmedlately recorded pursuant to the escrow mstructlon, and McCloskey breached its

- v 1
PR

ﬁduclary dutics § in this matter by farlmg to 1mmed1ately record the deeds.
7. As a direct and proxnnate result of McCloskey ] fallure to record the deeds the

Bramblewood property was sold w1thout the consent of SDPI and w1thout compensatmn to

. N 0 Y -
LN - v o . L . . KT

L XN R , . .o
s AN N " RS P - et
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damages. - - . - e

CG.

8. D’Kiel did not allege that SDPI has breached any agreement or term of tﬁe
existing agreed upon escrow. McCloskey wrongfully favored D’K.ie‘l by rcfusix;g to record the
deeds. : , -‘

9. Demand was made to McCloskey by SDPI for the deeds to be immediately
recorded as set forth in the escrow instruction. MecCloskey vyrongfully failed and refused to
record the deeds. '

10.  As the escrow holder for Plaintiff, McCloskey owed fiduciary duties to Plaintiff,

11. Escrow holders have a fiduciary duty to the parties in escrow to comply st;’ictly
with the parties’ written instructions and to exercise reasonable skill and diligence in carrying ouf

the escrow instructions. . g B
‘ "2 ‘McCloskey materially breached its:fid,uciary dutie;s to Plaintiff, _ . ‘
13.  Asadirectand proxi%nate result of the foregoing, Plaintiff has sustained damages
in an amount to-be determined at trial, plus interest, attorneys’ fees and costs.
14, Incommitting the aforementioned acts and omissions, JLC is guilty‘ of fraud,

oppression or malice, for whiqh JLC should be pupished with the imposition of punitive

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
. (Negligence) ,

15. ‘Plaintiﬁ‘ incorporates by this reference each of the previous paragraphs.

16.  McCloskey égreed to act as the escrow officer for Plaintiff in the escrow for the
property at 1778 Bramblewood Court, Cliula Vista, CA 91913 known as Escrow No. 145644S-

. 17, Theescrow instruction signed by SDPI and D’Kiel authorized and directed
McCloskey to recor'd‘tllle deeds McClosk_ey was holding. That escrow instruction is dated
November 18, 2016, McCloskey has no explanation for why.the deeds were not immediately
recorded pursuant to the escrow instruction, and McCloskey acted negligently in this matter by
failing to immediately record the deeds.
3
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‘deeds.

18.  Asadirect and broximate result of McCloskey’s failure to record the deeds, the
Bramblewood property was sold without the consent of SDPI and without compensation to
SDPL

19,  D’Kiel did not allege that SDPI has breached any agreement or term of the
existing agreed upon escrow. McCloskey wrongfully favored D'Kiel by refusing to record the

20.  Demand was made McCloskey by SDPI for the deeds to be immediately recorded
as set forth in the escrow instruction, McCldskey wrongfully failed and refused to record the
deeds.

21.  McCloskey had a duty to reasonably and properly -perform its escrow work. |

22.  McCloskey had a duty to exercise reasonable skill and diligence in this matter.

23, McCloskey failed to reasonably and properly perform its escrow work.

24,  McCloskey failed to exercise reasonable skill and diligence in this matter.

- 25.  McCloskey breached its duties to SDPI.

26.  Asa direct and proximate result of the foregoing, Plaintiff has sustained damages

in an amount to be determined at trial, plus interest, attorneys’ fees and costs.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Breach of Contract)

27.  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference each of the previous pamgraphs.'

28, SDPI and McCloskey entered into an escrow agreement.

29.  McCloskey materially breached the escrow agreement.

30.  SDPI did all, or substantially all; of the significant things that the escrow
agreement required it to do or it was excused from having to do those things.

31.  All conditions i'equired for McCloskey's pérformance occurred.

32. Asa direct and proximate result of the foregoing, Plaintiff has sustained damages

in an amount to be determined at trial, plus interest, attorneys’ fees and costs.

.
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays as follows:
a) For damages according to proof;

) For interest according to proof,

c) For costs and reasonable attorneys' fees as provided in any agreement between the

parties, any statute or otherwise;

d) For punitive damages; and

e) For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Dated; June 4, 2018

DOUGLAS JAFFE

LAW OFP’IC%
/

Douglas Jaffe

5
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ina M. Austin (SBN 246833)
-mail; gaustin@austinlegalgroup.com
amara M, Leetham (SBN 234419)
-mail: tamara@austinlegalgroup.com

[AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP, APC

3990 Old Town Ave, Ste A-112

San Diego, CA 92110

Phone: (619) 924-9600

[Facsimile: (619) 881-0045

Attorneys for Cross-complainant
San Diego United Holdings Group, LLC

AVAIL SHIPPING, INC., a California
corporation,

Plaintiff,
vs.

RAZUKIINVESTMENTS, L.L.C.,a
California limited liability company,
SALAM RAZUK]I, an individual, NINUS
MALAN, an individual, MARVIN
RAZUKI, an individual, AMERICAN
LENDING AND HOLDINGS, LLC a
California limited liability company, SAN
DIEGO PRIVATE INVESTMENTS, LLC
a California limited liability company; SH
WESTPOINT GROUP, LLC, a California
limited liability company, SAN DIEGO
UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC, a
California limited liability company; and
DOES 1 through 100, inclusive;

Defendants.

SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDINGS
GROUP, LLC, a California limited liability

company;
Cross-complainant,
Vs,

RAZUKI INVESTMENTS, LLC, a
California limited liability company;

ELECTROMICALLY FILED
Superior Court of California,
County of 5an Diego

06/27/2018 =t 04:33:00 Fid

Clerk of the Superior Court
By Eika Engel,Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO- CENTRAL DIVISION

CASE NO. 37-2018-00022710-CU-FR-CTL
SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDING
GROUP’S VERIFIED CROSS-
COMPLAINT FOR:

(1) QUIET TITLE;
(2) DECLARATORY RELIEF

[IMAGED FILE]

1
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SALAM RAZUKI, an individual; All
persons unknown, claiming any legal or
equitable right, title, estate, lien or interest
in the properties described in the Cross-
complaint adverse to Cross-complainant’s
title thereto; and ROES 1-15, inclusive.

Cross-defendants.

Cross-complainant San Diego United Holdings Group, LLC alleges as follows:
PARTIES

1. Cross-complainant San Diego United Holdings Group, LLC (“Cross-complainant”
or “SDUHG”) is, and at all times relevant to this action was, a California limited liability
company with its principal place of business in San Diego County, California.

2, Cross-defendant Razuki Investments, LLC is, and at all times relevant to this
action was, a California limited liability company with its principal place of business in San
Diego County, California.

3. Cross-defendant Salam Razuki is, and at all times relevant to this action was, an
individual residing in San Diego County, California.

4, Collectively Razuki Investments and Salam Razuki (“Cross-defendants”).

5. SDUHG owns a 100% interest in real property located at 8861 Balboa Ave, Suite
B, San Diego, California 92123 (APN 369-150-13-23) (“8861 Balboa”).

6. SDUHG owns a 100% interest in real property located at 8863 Balboa Ave, Suite
E, San Diego, California 92123 (APN 369-150-13-15) (‘8863 Balboa”).

7. 8861 Balboa and 8863 Balboa are collectively referred to as the “Properties.” A
complete legal description of the Properties is attached as Exhibit A and incorporated by
reference.

8. Cross-complainant does not know the true names of Cross-defendants All Persons
Unknown, Claiming Any Legal or Equitable Right, Title, Estate, Lien, or Interest in the
Properties Described in the Cross-complaint adverse to Cross-complainant’s title or any cloud on
Cross-complainant’s title thereto and ROES 1-15 inclusive, and therefore sues them by those

fictitious names. Cross-complainant will amend this Cross-complaint to allege their true names

2
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and capacities when ascertained, Cross-complainant is informed and believes, and thereon
alleges that at all relevant times mentioned in this Cross-complaint, each of the fictitiously named
Cross-defendants are responsible in some manner for the injuries and damages to Cross-
complainant so alleged and that such injuries and damages were proximately caused by Cross-
defendants, and each of them. Cross-complainant is informed and believes that each of the ROE
defendants claims, or may claim, 'some interest in the real properties described in this Cross-
complaint.

9, Cross-complainant is informed and believes and thereon alleges that at all times
herein mentioned, each of the Cross-defendants were the agents, employees, servants and/or the
joint-venturers of the remaining Cross-defendants, and each of them, and in doing the things

alleged herein below, were acting within the course and scope of such agency, employment

and/or joint venture.

JURISDICTION

10,  The transaction and events which are the subject matter of this Cross-complaint all
occurred in San Diego County, California,
11. 8861 Balboa and 8863 Balboa are located in San Diego County, California.
STATEMENT OF FACTS
12.  In or about July 2015, the City of San Diego (“City”) Planning Commission
approved a Conditional Use Permit for a medical marijuana consumer cooperative (“MMCC
CUP”) at 8863 Balboa. At that time, 8863 Balboa was owned by a California limited liability

company named Leading Edge Real Estate.
13.  On July 29, 2015, the MMCC CUP was recorded with the San Diego County

Recorded as a covenant running with the land as to 8863 Balboa.
14.  Cross-complainant is informed and believes that between July 29, 2015 and
August 2016, a California limited liability company named High Sierra Equity (“High Sierra”)
acquired title to 8863 Balboa and 8861 Balboa was owned by a trust named The Melograno Trust.
15.  Cross-complainant is informed and believes that by August 2016, The Melograno
Trust and High Sierra simultaneously offered 8861 and 8863 Balboa for sale and that Cross-

3
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defendants learned the Properties were for sale,

16.  Cross-complainant is informed and believes that on or about August 22, 2016,
Razuki Investments offered to purchase 8863 Balboa from High Sierra for $375,000 and 8861
Balboa from The Melograno Trust for $375,000.. No steps had been taken to open the marijuana
dispensary at 8863 Balboa e.g. no tenant improvements had been done and no steps had been
taken to have a certificate of occupancy issued by the City.

17.  Cross-complainant is further informed and believes that Cross-defendants learned
the Properties were part of commercial homeowners’ association named Montgomery Field
Business Condominiums Association (“HOA”) and that the HOA adamantly opposed the MMCC
and had threatened to sue the property owner and the MMCC operator when it opened.

18.  On or about October 4, 2016, Razuki Investments purchased 8861 and 8863
Balboa for $750,000. Cross-complainant is informed and believes that Razuki Investments
and/or Salam Razuki borrowed money to acquire the Properties and that Razuki Investments
and/or Salam Razuki borrowed money from TGP Opportunity Fund I, LLC and that TGP

Opportunity Fund I, LLC secured the note through a Deed of Trust.
19.  On or about October 4, 2016, a Deed of Trust was recorded in the Properties’

chain of title; Razuki Investments as Trustor granted a Deed of Trust for the benefit of a limited
liability company named TGP Opportunity Fund I, LLC and named a California corporation
named FCI Lender Services, Inc. as the trustee (“TGP Deed of Trust”).

20.  Between October 4, 2016 and March 20, 2017, Cross-defendants made no attempt
to open the MMCC and did nothing to improve the Properties. Cross-complainant is informed
and believes that Cross-defendants decided they did not want to battle the HOA and did not want
to pay for and manage the tenant improvements and conditions required by the MMCC CUP,

21.  On or about March 20, 2017, Cross-complainant purchased 8861 Balboa and 8863
Balboa from Razuki Investments for $750,000. Cross-complainant purchased the Properties
subject to the TGP Deed of Trust, in the amount of $475,000 at closing, and knew that it would
be imminently required to borrow money to pay off the TGP Mortgage to allow for a
reconveyance of the TGP Deed of Trust.

4
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22.  Onor about March 20, 2017, a Deed of Trust was recorded in the Properties’ chain
of title; Cross-complainant as Trustor granted a Deed of Trust for the benefit of Razuki
Investments and named a California corporation named Allison-McCloskey Escrow Company as
the trustee (“Razuki Deed of Trust”).

23, On or about May 11, 2017, to pay off the TGP Deed of Trust and to relieve Razuki
Investments of its obligation on the TGP Note and TGP Deed of Trust, Cross-complainant
borrowed money, as evidenced by a note and a Deed of Trust.

24.  On May 15, 2017, a Substitution of Trustee and Deed of Reconveyance for the
Razuki Deed of Trust (“Razuki Deed of Reconveyance”) was recorded with the San Diego
County recorder. The Razuki Deed of Reconveyance reconveyed to person or persons legally
entitled the estate held under the Razuki Deed of Trust. At the time the Razuki Deed of
Reconveyance was recorded, Cross-complainant and TGP became the “persons” legally entitled
to all.estate, title, and interest in the Properties.

25.  On or about May 15, 2017, a Deed of Trust was recorded in the Properties’ chain
of title; San Diego United Holdings Group, LLC as Trustor of the Properties granted a Deed of
Trust for the benefit of Michael J. Hall and Linda D. Hall, Trustees of the Hall Family Trust dated
June 14, 1989 and named a California corporation named Statewide Reconveyance Group, Inc.
dba Statewide Foreclosure Services as the trustee (“Hall Deed of Trust”).

26.  On or about May 31, 2017, a Deed of Reconveyance for the TGP Deed of Trust
(“TGP Deed of Reconveyance”) was recorded with the San Diego County recorder. The TGP
Deed of Reconveyance reconveyed to person or persons legally entitled the estate, title and
interest held by the TGP Deed of Trust with respect to the Properties. At the time the TGP Deed
of Reconveyance was recorded, Cross-complainant and the Hall Family Trust became the
“persons” legally entitled to all estate, title, and interest in the Properties.

27.  In or about May 2017, the MMCC opened at 8863 Balboa. SDUHG paid all
expenses related to the MMCC CUP and through the date of this Cross-complaint has paid all
expenses related to the Properties including property taxes, HOA fees and assessments, the
mortgage, and CUP related expenses.

5
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28. In or about June 2018, Cross-complainant learned that Cross-defendants had
informed a third party that one or both had some interest in the Properties. Cross-complainant
became extremely concerned by this statement and this Cross-complaint ensued.

29.  Cross-defendants cannot show proper receipt, possession, transfer, negotiations,
assignment or ownership of the Properties, the Note or Deed of Trust, resulting in no interest or
claim to the Properties. '

30.  Cross-complainant has perfected title and therefore Cross-defendants cannot
establish that they legally or properly hold any interest in the Properties.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
QUIET TITLE
(Against All Cross-defendants)

31.  Cross-complainant re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding
paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

32.  Cross-complainant is the fee owner of the Properties and Cross-complainant’s title
to the Properties is derived from its ‘March 22, 2017 purchase from Razuki Investments for
$750,000, which is secured by a note and the Hall Deed of Trust. |

33.  All Cross-defendants named herein claim an interest and estate in the property
adverse to Cross-complainant in that Cross-defendants assert they are an owner or have an
interest in the Properties by a debt instrument.

34.  Cross-defendants claims are without any right whatsoever and Cross-defendants
have no right, estate, title, lien or inferest in or to the Properties or any part of the Properties.

35.  Cross-defendants claims, and each of them, claim some estate, right, title, lien or
interest in or to the Properties adverse to Cross-complainant’s title and these claims constitute a

cloud on Cross-complainant’s title to the Properties,

36.  Cross-complainant requests a determination of its fee simple title as of the date it
purchased the Properties from Razuki Investments.

n

"

6
San Diego United Holdings Group’s Verified Cross-complaint Against Razuki Investments and Salam Razuki

3247




O 0 O Y U b WD e

San Diego, CA 92110
& & R & kB = 3

3990 Old Town Ave, Ste A-112
P
q

AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP, APC
N
NN BN N N e e

NN
[> - BN |

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
DECLARATORY RELIEF
(Against All Cross-defendants)

37.  Cross-complainant re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding
paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

38.  An actual controversy has arisen and now exists between Cross-complainant and
Cross-defendants regarding their respective rights and duties to include Cross-complainants
purchase of the Properties and the Razuki Deed of Reconveyance.

39.  Cross-complainant contends that Cross-defendants, and each of them, do not have
any right or title to the Properties and cannot prove to the court that they have a valid interest,
Cross-complainant further contends it is not indebted to Cross-defendants for any debt related to
the Properties, whether secured or unsecured.

40.  Cross-complainant is informed and believes that Cross-defendants dispute Cross-
complainant’s contention and instead contend that they have an interest in the Properties and that
Cross-complainant owes Cross-defendants money, whether secured or unsecured, related to the
Properties.

41.  Cross-complainant requests a judicial determination of the rights, obligations and
interest of the parties with respect to the Properties, and such determination is necessary and
appropriate at this time, and under the circumstances, so that all parties may ascertain and know
their rights, obligations and interest with respect to the Properties.

42,  Cross-complainant requests a determination that the its purchase, the Hall Deed of
Trust and the Razuki Deed of Reconveyance are valid and that Cross-defendants have no rights
under, at a minimum, the Razuki Deed of Trust. Cross-complainant also requests a determination
that it is not indebted to Cross-defendants for any debt related to the Properties, whether secured
or unsecured,

43.  Cross-complainant requests all adverse claims to the Properties be determined by a
decree of this Court.

"

7
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44,  Cross-complainant requests the decree declare and adjudge that Cross-complainant
is entitled to exclusive possession of the Properties subject to the Hall Deed of Trust.

45.  Cross-complainant requests the decree declare and adjudge that Cross-complainant
owns in fee simple and is entitled to the quiet and peaceful possession of the Properties subject to
the Hall Deed of Trust.

46.  Cross-complainant requests the decree declare and adjudge that Cross-defendants,
and each of them, and all persons claiming under them, have no estate, right, title, lien, or interest
in or to the Properties or any part of the Properties.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Cross-complainant prays for the following:

1. For judgment quieting Cross-complainant’s fee simple title to the Properties, and
that Cross-defendants have no right, title, or interest in or to the Properties;

2. For Declaratory Relief, including, but not limited to the following:

a. Cross-complainant is the prevailing party;

b. Cross-defendants have no enforceable secured or unsecured claim against the
Properties;

c. Cross-complainant is entitled to exclusive possession of the Properties;

d. Cross-complainant owns in fee simple, and is entitled to the quiet and peaceful
possession of the Propetties;

e. Cross-defendants and all persons claiming any right or title to the Properties
have no estate, right, title, lien, or interest in or to the Properties or any part of
the Properties.

f. Cross-complainant is not indebted to Cross-defendants for any debt related to
the Properties, whether secured or unsecured,

3. For attorneys’ fees and costs as permitted by law; -

n
m

mn
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4, For any other and further relief the Court deems propet.

Dated: June 26, 2018 ' AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP, APC

Janas A -Cesbam,

By: Gina M. Austin/Tamara M. Leetham
Attorneys for Cross-complainant San Diego
United Holdings Group, LLC

9
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VERIFICATION
I am the manager and sole member for Cross-complainant in this action. 'have read the
foregoing Cross-complaint for Quiet Title and Declaratory Relief and know its contents, The
matters stated in the Cross-complaint are true based on my own knowledge, except as to those
matters stated on information and belief, and as to those matters I believe them to be true.

I declare under penalty of petjury under California state law that the foregoing is true and

correct, Executed June 26, 2018 in San Diego, California.

San Dieg6 Uhited Holdings Group, LLC
By: Ninus Malan

Its: Sole member and manager

10
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EXHIBIT A
Legal Description
8863 Balboa Ave, Suite E, San Dieqo 92123

The land hereinafter referred to is situated in the City of San Diego, County of San Diego, State of CA,
and is described as follows:

A Condominium comprised of:

Parcel 1:

An undivided 1/46th interest in and to the Southwesterly 219.55 feet of the Northeasterly 413.65 feet of
Lot 9 of the City of San Diego Industrial Park Unit No. 2, in the City of San Diego, County of San Diego,
State of California, according to Map thereof No. 4113, Filed in the Office of the County recorder of San
Diego County, March 12, 1959,

Excepting therefrom all office units and industrial units as shown upon that certain Condominium Plan
recorded July 31, 1981 as File/Page No. 81-242888 of official records.

Also excepting therefrom the exclusive right to use and possession of all those exclusive use areas
designated as parking spaces as shown upon the Condominium Plan above referred to.

Parcel 2:
Unit No. 8863E as shown on the Condominium Plan referred to in Parcel 1 above.

Parcel 3:

The exclusive right to use and possession of those portions of said land described in Parcel 1 above,
designated as Parking Space Nos. E-32 and E-31.

APN: 369-150-13-23
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EXHIBIT A
Legal Description
8861 Balboa Ave, Suite B, San Diego 92123

The land hereinafter referred to is situated in the City of San Diego, County of San Diego, State of CA,
and is described as follows:

A Condominium comprised of;

Parcel 1:

An undivided 1/46th interest in and to the Southwesterly 219.55 feet of the Northeasterly 413.55 feet of
Lot 9 of the City of San Diego Industrial Park Unit No. 2, in the City of San Diego, County of San Diego,
State of California, according to Map thereof No. 4113, Filed in the Office of the County recorder of San

Diego County, March 12, 1959.

Excepting therefrom all office units and industrial units as shown upon that certain Condominium Plan
recorded July 31, 1981 as File/Page No. 81-242888 of official records.

Also excepting therefrom the exclusive right to use and possession of all those exclusive use areas
designated as parking spaces as shown upon the Condominium Plan above referred to.

Parcel 2:
Unit No. 8861B as shown on the Condominium Plan referred to in Parcel 1 above.

Parcel 3:

The exclusive right to use and possession of those portions of said land described in Parcel 1 above,
designated as Parking Space Nos. B-48, B-47 and Airplane Parking Space No. (None).

APN: 369-150-13-15
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE

FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN D

SALAM RAZUKI, an
individual,

Plaintiff,
vs.

NINUS MALAN, an individual;
MONARCH MANAGEMENT
CONSULTING, INC., a
California corporation;
SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDING
GROUP, LLC, a California
limited liability company;
MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES, LLC,
a California limited
liability company; ROSELLE
PROPERTIES, LLC, a
California limited
liability company; and
DOES 1-100, inclusive,

Defendants.

TRANSCRIPT OF
August 1

8:28

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION

Hon. Eddie C. Sturgeon

CASE NO. 37-2018-
00034229-CU-BC~-CTL

Hearing

PROCEEDINGS
4, 2018

a.m.

330 West Broadway, Dept. 67

San Diego,

REPORTED BY:
Leyla S. Jones

CSR No. 12750
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APPEARANCES:
For Plaintiff, Salam Razuki:

LAW OFFICES OF STEVEN A. ELIA
STEVEN A. ELIA, ESQ.

MAURA GRIFFIN, ESQ.

JAMES JOSEPH, ESQ.

2221 Camino Del Rio South, Suite 207
San Diego, California 92108
619.444.2244

stevelelialaw.com
mg@mauragriffinlaw.com
james@elialaw.com

For Defendant Ninus Malan:

AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP

GINA M. AUSTIN, ESQ.

TAMARA M. LEETHAM, ESQ.

3990 0ld Town Avenue, Suite A-112
San Diego, California 92110
619.924.9600
gaustin@austinlegalgroup.com
tamaralaustinlegalgroup.com

—AND-

GALUPPO & BLAKE

DANIEL T. WATTS, ESQ.

2792 Gateway Road, Suite 102
Carlsbad, California 92009
760.431.4575
dwatts@galuppolaw.com

For Defendants Chris Hakim, Mira Este
Properties, and Roselle Properties:

GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS

CHARLES F. GORIA, ESQ.

1011 Camino Del Rio South, Suite 210
San Diego, California 92108
619.692.3555

chasgoria@gmail.com

For Defendants SoCal Building Ventures, LLC,
and San Diego Building Ventures, LLC:

NELSON HARDIMAN

SALVATORE J. ZIMMITTI, ESQ.

11835 West Olympic Boulevard, Suite 9200
Los Angeles, California 90064
310.203.2800
szimmitti@nelsonhardiman.com

3257




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

APPEARANCES (CONTINUED) :

For Receiver, Michael Essary:

GRISWOLD LAW

RICHARDSON C. GRISWOLD, ESQ.

444 S. Cedros Avenue, Suite 250
Solana Beach, California 92075
858.481.1300
rgriswold@griswoldlawsandiego.com
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SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA;

TUESDAY, AUGUST 14, 2018; 8:28 A.M.

THE COURT: Everybody come down on Razuki.
It's probably the whole courtroom, so come on down.
Okay. We do have a whole courtroom. How exciting
is this. All right. Let's go on the record. This
hearing will take no more than ten minutes. You'll
see why. But first of all, let's get the name of
the case. So this is -- is it Razuki? Who
represents Razuki?

MR. ELIA: I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Am I pronouncing it correctly?

MR. ELIA: Yes, you are.

THE COURT: Versus -- and is it Malanv?

MS. LEETHAM: Malan. Malan, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you. Let's get that.

So let's have -- I want to know who
everybody else represents. So go slow so I can put
faces with names. Let's go.

MR. JOSEPH: Good morning, Your Honor.
James Joseph on behalf of the plaintiff, Salam
Razuki.

THE COURT: Razuki.

MS. GRIFFIN: Maura Griffin on behalf of
Plaintiff, Salam Razuki.

THE COURT: Razuki.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Good morning, Your Honor.
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Salvatore Zimmitti on behalf of SoCal Building
Ventures, LLC, and San Diego Building Ventures, LLC.

THE COURT: Have you intervened or is that
still a decision to be made by the Court?

MR. ZIMMITTI: Yeah, we have intervened,
Your Honor.

THE COURT: So you're in the lawsuit?

MR. ZIMMITTI: We're in the lawsuit.

THE COURT: SoCal's in?

MR. ZIMMITTI: Correct.

MR. ELIA: Steve Elia on behalf of the
plaintiff, Salam Razuki.

MR. GRISWOLD: Richardson Griswold for
Receiver, Michael Essary.

MR. WATTS: Daniel Watts for Defendant
Ninus Malan.

THE COURT: Malan.

MS. LEETHAM: Tamara Leetham for Ninus
Malan. Mr. Malan is present before the Court.

THE COURT: I always appreciate parties
here. 1It's very important. I like people to know
who, get a sense of who I am.

S0 hold on. Malan, Malan.

MS. AUSTIN: Gina Austin on behalf of Ninus

Malan.
THE COURT: Malan.

MR. GORIA: Charles Goria on behalf of

Chris Hakim, Mira Este Properties, and Roselle
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Properties.

MS. LEETHAM: And a point of clarification,
Your Honor, just so the record is clear, San Diégo
Building is not a party to this lawsuit, although
Mr. Zimmtti does represent them transactionally.

MR. ZIMMITTI: That's incorrect,

Your Honor. We did intervene with both of the
plaintiffs in the intervening case.

THE COURT: I'll sort that out.

Who represents Balboa? I see Balboa is a
defendant.

MS. LEETHAM: I do, Your Honor, but we have
not appeared yet, because we just have been served.
So we're here only for Ninus Malan. I can specially
appear for Balboa and San Diego United.

THE COURT: Thank you. We'll come back to
you. We'll talk about that.

And who represents California Cannabis
Group?

MS. LEETHAM: I do too, as well,

Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Let me keep going. I
think I get a pattern here. Devilish Delights?

MS. LEETHAM: I mean, theoretically, that
would either be myself or Mr. Goria. I don't think
we've made a determination on that entity yet,

although it's related.

THE COURT: And then is it Mira Este =-- am
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I pronouncing that correctly?

MR. GORIA: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: -- Properties? Who represents
them?

MR. GORIA: I'm appearing for them,
Your Honor.

THE COURT: Who represents Roselle Prop --
Roselle -- am I pronouncing that -- Properties?

MR. GORIA: Correct. Yes, Your Honor. I'm
also appearing for them.

THE COURT: That's that lawsuit. Okay.
And then who represents Flip Management?

MS. LEETHAM: Again, that's somebody at
this table. I can specially appear on behalf of

Flip this morning.

THE COURT: Here's —-- first of all, someone
said, "Judge, this is a rehearing." There will be
no rehearing today. It's not going to happen.

Here's what I want to get settled first, and I say
this so respectfully.

I want everybody, everybody -- and that
includes the people that haven't appeared. 1I'd like
you to make formal appearances. I'd like to do this
case Monday at 1:30. We'll take all afternoon with
it. But hold on. No. Go ahead you can write that
down. I said, "Hold on."

What I don't want to happen is for me to

spend all my time -- and I say this so respectfully,
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Counsel. Most of you know me. I don't want to
spend all my time on this and then walk in and
somebody filed a motion.

And you know what motion I'm talking about,
don't you? You've gone through two judges already.
So if somebody wants to file it, file it now. And
boom, I'll send it to another judge in a heartbeat.
But otherwise, you're stuck, because I may make an
order today. So I guess -- no, I'm not going to
make an order today because there's parties that
haven't appeared. So I want everybody to appear.

Can we do this informally? Can we have an
agreement -— I'm talking to this side of the
table -- now that you'll work out the appearances so
I don't have to worry about a 1767

MS. LEETHAM: Your Honor, we will not

exercise a peremptory challenge. And yes, we will

work those out.

MR. GORIA: That's fine.

THE COURT: Then would you all feel
comfértable if I make an order today?

MS. LEETHAM: As long as it's in my favor.

THE COURT: Well said. It will be a pretty

broad order. I'm not going to make any order as to
the receivership. We're going to have a full two-
to three-hour hearing on that, Counsel. I will tell
you that. I have a few questions today.

So can I assume there's going to be no 176
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by anybody in the courtroom and all of the
defendants and plaintiffs? 1Is that a fair

statement?

MR. ELIA: Yes, Your Honor. And it's our
position that each side has already exercised one.

THE COURT: Yeah, but that's each side.
You got -- there are other defendants, right?

MR. ELIA: There are, Your Honor, but
they're -- they have to be -- the law is that they
have to be substantially adverse, and we believe
that they're sharing attorneys. BAnd if they're
not -- so --

THE COURT: That's one opinion.

MS. LEETHAM: I actually think I might
agree with him on that point, and we do not intend
on exercising --

THE COURT: Okay. So let's go.

MS. LEETHAM: =-- challenge.

THE COURT: Here we go. Here's what we're
going to do: Full hearing this Monday. Just real
guick, I have about five or six questions that I'm
going to ask everybody here. And if you just say,

"Judge, I don't want to go there. You'll hear this

on -- on Monday" --
Real quick. Receiver, I've been -- I have
read a lot of this. Somebody says there was

$170,000 in your account, true or false?

MR. GRISWOLD: Yes, true.
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THE COURT: Did you pay the mortgage
payments?

MR. GRISWOLD: No.

THE COURT: With 170K and the mortgage
payments were about 50 grand? Did I read that
right?

MR. GRISWOLD: I think the mortgage
payments that were communicated by counsel for
Mr. Hakim were approximately 30,000.

THE COURT: Why weren't they paid?

MR. GRISWOLD: Well, in the interim report,
the receivers laid out the accounting of what was
paid.

THE COURT: Okay. So did that go to the
licensing? Is that where it went?

MS. LEETHAM: They paid insiders,

Your Honor, almost $100,000 the day we gave ex parte
notice.

THE COURT: And here we go. Here we go.

MS. LEETHAM: I --

THE COURT: We'll get to it. I just --
these are broad questions. Thank you. Stop right
there.

MS. LEETHAM: Okay.

THE COURT: I see there's a disagreement.

MR. GRISWOLD: Yes.

THE COURT: Number 2, can I assume that

when Judge Strauss made his order, he made an order
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to have a final order prepared,

MR. ZIMMITTI: Yes.

MS. LEETHAM: No.
an order on the receivership,

preparing is on how to do the

yes or no?

Our position is that's

that the order we were

accounting piece of

it.

THE COURT: Again, I haven't -- I didn't

see a thing. If -- did Judge Strauss order a final

order on the vacating of the receivership order?

Did he order that.

MS. LEETHAM: Yes, he did order it. Yes,
Your Honor.

MR. GORIA: I have a --

MR. ELIA: Your Honor --

THE COURT: Okay. Answer my question.

MR. ELIA: Disputed.

THE COURT: You'll be able to argue that.
Synergy. Is Synergy here? Anyone represent
Synergy? Nobody?

MS. AUSTIN: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. -- who prepared Mr. -- is

it Hakim? Who prepared that declaration?

MR. GORIA: I did, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Counsel, you indicated that on
8/3 $200,000 was collected? It was. That's in the
declaration.

MR. GORIA: Okay. Yes =--

THE COURT: From --

3266
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MR. GORIA: -- from Synergy.

THE COURT: Yeah. Where's that money?

MR. GORIA: It's in Synergy's account.
There's a blocked account that requires the
signatures of both Synergy and Mira Este and it's in
that account.

THE COURT: Okay. You'll see what I'm
going to order. Okay?

Then real quick, let me just see if I can
figure this out. And these are just yes-or-no
questions.

Does anyone here own 100 percent of
Mira Este Properties, LLC? Obviously not. I know
the answer to my own question.

But is there anyone outside of the parties
here that has an interest in Mira Este Properties,
LLC? Do you understand the question?

MS. LEETHAM: Yes, Your Honor. RM Holdings
is not a party to this litigation. It would be,
according to Plaintiff's theory, the entity to which
ownership is entitled.

THE COURT: And I understand exactly what
you said, Counsel. Would that same argument apply
to Roselle Properties?

MS. LEETHAM: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Would that same property -- is

Balboa in or out?

MS. LEETHAM: Balboa is in. It's the
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operator. It's the consumer cooperative.

THE COURT: Okay. And then Sunrise
Property, in or out?

MS. LEETHAM: They're not in the
litigation, and they should be.

THE COURT: We got work to do. Okay. Then
who —--= who's Attorney Ford (phonetic)?

MR. JOSEPH: He's not here, Your Honor.
We're the same firm.

THE COURT: Let's talk about SoCal, just
for a moment. You put in 2.8 million in this
project, right?

MR. JOSEPH: Actually, it was 2.73.

MS. LEETHAM: Disputed.

THE COURT: Fair enough. Okay. Counsel
used some very strong language. When you accuse an
attorney of stealing, that's strong language,
Counsel?

MR. JOSEPH: It is, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. That -- I just -- who
are you accusing? Okay. Don't say a word. I'm
just telling you, when I read this, I get real
serious. That's —-- I'll stop right there. Strong
language. I read it.

Okay. SoCal, you say that you have
$410,000 worth of equipment that's being held

hostage by Mira Mesa -- at the Mira Mesa facility,

right?
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MR. JOSEPH: That's correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Tell me who you think ~-- who's
holding it on this side of the table?

MR. JOSEPH: I think it's defendants. I'm
not sure of their associations with each other.
They're -- you know, as far as we're concerned,
they're all working in concert. Actually, they have
done us a favor, Your Honor, and they have actually
posted pictures of our equipment in their
declaration.

THE COURT: Thank you. Stop right there.
And I don't want mean to be rude. I just --

MR. JOSEPH: That's fine, Your Honor. I'm
happy to answer your dquestions.

THE COURT: I appreciate that.

Does anyone dispute that they own that
property?

MS. LEETHAM: I think we're just trying to
figure it out, Your Honor. What happened is the
police were called, and we agreed on a stand-down,
essentially, to figure out title.

THE COURT: All right. Anybody else --

You've answered all my questions. Thank
you very much. I'm prepared to make an order, and
I'm making an order right now on everybody. So,

therefore, when I make a judicial order, this is --
there will be no 176. It's done. Do you all want

to take a minute and think about it, that you're
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going to be stuck with me? Okay. Here's my court
order:

Mr. Griswold, I want you here. I don't
know what I'm going to do. 1I'll be quite honest.
I'm going to look at this case fresh, and I'm going
to make a determination whether there were --
Monday, 1:30, whether there will be a receiver or
not. That's going to be the goal. And you're going
to have all afternoon. We'll flesh it out
thoroughly. Okay? Here's the order right now for
all parties:

I don't want any money exchanged, none.

All bank accounts are frozen, and I mean frozen even
for‘an electric bill for the next six, seven days.
No property will be sold, none.

Two, I read something that they're trying

to sell -- when I said "property,”"” I also mean real

property. I don't want any real property sold.

That's under the -- of this Court. So that would be
S -- Mira Mesa, Roselle, Balboa.

Am I right there? Do I have -- am not
saying --

MS. AUSTIN: Mira Este.

(Crosstalk.)

THE REPORTER: I'm sorry. I didn't --

MS. LEETHAM: As a point of clarification,
are you ordering the dispensary to shut down?

THE COURT: No, I'm not. Absolutely not.
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But I don't any money flowing any way for the next
six days. I'ﬁ sure that can happen.

MS. LEETHAM: And I only say that because
the dispensary keeps very detailed logs of its -- so
they can continue to run and manage =--

THE COURT: I hope they make money.

MS. LEETHAM: Me too.

THE COURT: I think we all do.

MR. GORIA: Just on that point, Your Honor,
are you talking about no exchange of money other
than in the regular course of business or nothing?

THE COURT: I want nothing. I don't even
want an electric bill paid. Nothing. 1In six days,
the world won't end, until I can find out.

Counsel, speak. You give me that look.

MS. AUSTIN: I'm sorry, Your Honor.
Because the dispensary runs on a limited amount of
product in store for safety reasons, and so they
regularly purchase product to put it in the store to
sell. Over a weekend, that's a lot of -- could be
a lot of product.

THE COURT: Give me an idea.

MS. AUSTIN: Hundred thousand dollars.

THE COURT: Jeez. Seriously?

MS. AUSTIN: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I'm new to the business,
Counsel. They sell $100,000 worth —--

MS. AUSTIN: They could. 1It's a weekend,
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so you never know on a weekend.

THE COURT: Seriously? I may change my
order a little bit. They need product, this side of
the table.

MS. LEETHAM: Well, and that's the problem
with the dispensary is keeping some cohesiveness to
it. It's been up. It's been down.

THE COURT: Okay. Where does the hundred
thousand dollars come from?

MS. LEETHAM: The dispensary. It's all
internal. So it's at this point, I think, starting
to sustain itself now that we have the new operators
in. So it's coming internally. It's accounted for
too.

MS. AUSTIN: It would be money they
received from sales that would go back towards
product. We could cap it =-- I'd have to verify with
our client, but I'm sure we could cap it a little
bit lower if we had to.

THE COURT: Give me a suggestion.

MS. LEETHAM: 1I'd be more than happy to
provide accounting for the limited number of days.

THE COURT: I know, but I want to set a
cap. See what she says. Give me a number.

MS. LEETHAM: 80,000.

THE COURT: Done. And, Counsel, so they
can have $80,000 for the next eight days.

Obviously, the business is booming, I sense, here.
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MS. AUSTIN: It's expensive product,
Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. If you say so. I'll
learn a lot.

MR. GORIA: So, Your Honor, Jjust so I'm
clear on that, because it's going to apply also to
Mira Este, which is operational now. The 80,000,
that's the amount that can be spent in the regular
course of business?

THE COURT: For product.

MS. LEETHAM: For Balboa only. I mean, the
businesses have to be discretely managed. They
can't be meshed together the way the accounting has
it. They're licensed and accountable by location,
if that makes sense.

THE COURT: It does. So this 80,000 is for
Balboa?

MS. LEETHAM: For the dispensary.

THE COURT: Okay. Is that =--

MS. LEETHAM: And that's Balboa.

THE COURT: Are there any other
dispensaries?

MS. LEETHAM: There's not. There's
manufacturing.

MR. GORIA: Mira Este, which, as we put in
our declaration, generated 200,000 in a week. So
we're going to need some kind of similar arrangement

for replenishment of product.
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THE COURT: 80,000 enough?

MR. GORIA: I believe so.

THE COURT: Give me an accounting, both of
you. Okay?

MS. AUSTIN: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: So this will be for six days
only, and then we'll really get into it on Monday.
Everybody can be here Monday at 1:307?

MR. ELIA: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. GRISWOLD: Yes) Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. LEETHAM: Can --

THE COURT: That's a court order. I'm
putting it in the minute order right now. There
will be no final order. You're all in front of me.
You heard it. You're charged with it.

Counsel, go ahead.

MS. LEETHAM: Sorry.

THE COURT: You don't have to be sorry.

MS. LEETHAM: I'm just chomping at the bit
here.

THE COURT: Go.

MS. LEETHAM: Because we have multiple
entities that haven't appeared and there's volumes
of paper, I -- can we submit supplemental briefing,
and when would you want it? because I -- there's a
lot of information I need to respond to.

THE COURT: Well, that's -- here's the good
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news: We've got plenty of time. Ready?

Anybody that wants to file anything, have
it done by Monday -- no, no, no, not by Monday -- by
Friday at noon. I will read it all this weekend,
anybody who wants to file any supplement. Though,
this isn't enough? Seriously? No. Happy to do it,
and we'll get through this. I promise you that. So
everybody's going to be here?

MR. ELIA: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. GRISWOLD: Yes, Your Honor.

MS. LEETHAM: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I want everybody here, and
we've got the whole afternoon.

MR. ELIA: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: We can sort it out.

MS. LEETHAM: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Hold on. 1I've got an
appointment. We will start at 2 o'clock, 2:00 to
5:00. Okay. Now, if somebody has to make an
appearance, hopefully, you'll make it by being a
little bit late. Thank you for your patience with
this Court.

(The proceedings concluded at 8:44 a.m.)

* Kk %
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA )

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO )

I, Leyla S. Jones, a Certified Shorthand
Reporter, do hereby certify:

That prior to being examined, the witness
in the foregoing proceedings was by me duly sworn to
testify to the truth, the whole truth, and nothing
but the truth;

That said proceedings were taken before me
at the time and place therein set forth and were
taken down by me in shorthand and thereafter
transcribed into typewriting under my direction and
supervision;

I further certify that I am neither counsel
for, nor related to, any party to said proceedings,
nor in any way interested in the outcome thereof.

In witness whereof, I have hereunto

subscribed my name.

Dated: August 17, 2018

ﬁLuZ&éym/<&ntQ

L¥yda S. Jones
CSR No. 12750
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE

FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN D

SALAM RAZUKI,
individual,

an

Plaintiff,
vs.

NINUS MALAN, an individual;
MONARCH MANAGEMENT
CONSULTING, INC., a
California corporation;
SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDING
GROUP, LLC, a California
limited liability company;
MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES, LLC,
a California limited
liability company; ROSELLE
PROPERTIES, LLC, a
California limited
liability company; and
DOES 1-100, inclusive,

Defendants.

TRANSCRIPT OF
August 2

2:03

330 West Broadway,

San Diego,

REPORTED BY:
Leyla S. Jones

CSR No. 12750
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APPEARANCES:

For Plaintiff Salam Razuki:

LAW OFFICES OF STEVEN A. ELIA
STEVEN A. ELIA, ESQ.

MAURA GRIFFIN, ESQ.

JAMES JOSEPH, ESQ.

2221 Camino Del Rio South, Suite 207
San Diego, California 92108
619.444.2244

stevelelialaw.com
mg@mauragriffinlaw.com
james@elialaw.com

For Plaintiffs in Intervention SoCal Building
Ventures, LLC, and San Diego Building Ventures,

LLC:

NELSON HARDIMAN
SALVATORE J. ZIMMITTI, ESQ.
AARON C. LACHANT, ESQ.

11835 West Olympic Boulevard, Suite 900

Los Angeles, California 90064
310.203.2800
szimmitti@nelsonhardiman.com
alachant@nelsonhardiman.comn

For Defendant Ninus Malan, San Diego United
Holdings Group, California Cannabis Group,

Balboa Avenue Cooperative, Devilish Delights,

and Flip Management, LLC:

AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP

GINA M. AUSTIN, ESQ.

TAMARA M. LEETHAM, ESQ.

3990 0l1ld Town Avenue, Suite A-112
San Diego, California 92110
619.924.9600
gaustin@austinlegalgroup.com
tamara@austinlegalgroup.com

For Defendant Ninus Malan:

GALUPPO & BLAKE

DANIEL T. WATTS, ESQ.

2792 Gateway Road, Suite 102
Carlsbad, California 92009
760.431.4575
dwatts@galuppolaw.com
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APPEARANCES (Continued):

For Defendants Chris Hakim, Mira Este
Properties, Roselle Properties, and Monarch
Management Consulting, Inc.:

GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS

CHARLES F. GORIA, ESQ.

1011 Camino Del Rio South, Suite 210
San Diego, California 92108
619.692.3555

chasgoria@gmail.com

For Receiver, Michael Essary:

GRISWOLD LAW

RICHARDSON C. GRISWOLD, ESQ.

444 3., Cedros Avenue, Suilte 250
Solana Beach, California 92075
858.481.1300
rgriswold@griswoldlawsandiego.com

Also present: Michael Essary
Ninus Malan
Chris Berman
" Daniel Spillane
Michael Hickman
Doug Jaffe
Sylvia Gonzales
Chris Hakim
Salam Razuki
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SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA;

MONDAY, AUGUST 20, 2018; 2:03 P.M.

THE COURT: Okay. Let's do some work.
First, I read all of it. I read it, so I kind of
know who every party is. Most of you were --
there's a lot of LLCs. People are here and there's,
like, ten of them. There's LLCs here or there.

So what I'd like to do first, so I can kind
of get everybody's name and who you represent,
because there's a lot of parties here, and then I'm
going to ask to make sure one of the -- so here we
go.

Thank you for bringing a court reporter.
Very important on a case like this. Let's just
start at that end of the table, then I'll go across,
and then we'll go to the back.

MR. LACHANT: Aaron Lachant from Nelson
Hardiman for SoCal Building Ventures and San Diego
Building Ventures.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Good afternoon, Your Honor.
Salvatore Zimmitti for Plaintiffs in intervention,
SoCal Building Ventures and San Diego Building
Ventures, LLCs.

THE COURT: There's two.

MR. JOSEPH: Good afternoon, Your Honor.

James Joseph on behalf of the plaintiff Salam

Razuki.
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THE COURT: One second. Thank you.

MS. GRIFFIN: Maura Griffin on behalf of
Plaintiff Salam Razuki.

THE COURT: Razuki. Got it.

MR. ELIA: Steven Elia on behalf of
Plaintiff Salam Razuki, who's present in the
courtroom.

THE COURT: Yeah. We're going to go
through everybody in the courtroom so I know who
everybody is.

MR. WATTS: Daniel Watts for Defendant

Ninus Malan.

THE COURT: Malan.

MS. LEETHAM: Tamara Leetham and Gina
Austin for Ninus Malan, who's present before the
Court, as well as -- I have a lot of them,
Your Honor. San =--

THE COURT: Okay. Hold on.

MS. LEETHAM: I have a lot of the entities.

San Diego United Holdings Group.

TﬁE COURT: SD United. Go.

MS. LEETHAM: California Cannabis.

THE COURT: Cannabis.

MS. LEETHAM: Balboa Avenue -- Ave
Cooperative.

THE COURT: Say that one again.

MS. LEETHAM: Balboa Ave Cooperative.

THE COURT: I know who that is.
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MS. LEETHAM: Devilish Delights.

THE COURT: I know who that is.

MS. LEETHAM: Flip Management.

THE COURT: I know who that is.

MS. LEETHAM: Just double-check here.

THE COURT: We'wve still got more.

MS. LEETHAM: I think Mr. Goria has some.,

THE COURT: Oh, you represent --

MR. GORIA: I represent a few, Your Honor,
yes. Charles Goria for Chris Hakim, who's present
in court.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. GORIA: And Monarch Management
Consulting, Inc., for which Mr. Hakim is the
president.

THE COURT: Got it.

MR. GORIA: Mira Este Properties, LLC, of

which he's the managing member, and Roselle

Properties,

member.

Judge Taylor,

THE

LLC, which he's also the managing

COURT:

There we go. Thank you.

I got a call Thursday or Friday from

suing -- hold on.

Mr. Malan,

Holding.

MR.

MR.

correct?

WATTS:

ELIA:

a case of S&H -- that group is

I have it here. Is suing

Suing American Lending and

And also Mr. Malan.
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THE COURT: Yeah, those two. And that is
on a residence someplace down south, correct?

MR. ELIA: Correct.

THE COURT: And that is for a TRO to stop a
foreclosure, correct?

MR. ELIA: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Let's just make sure --
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let's start with this. Let's start on the main
case.

MS. LEETHAM: Your Honor?

THE COURT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. LEETHAM: Just to make a clear record,

there's also

a low number matter you have in a third

case --

THE COURT: Didn't know.—— okay.

MS. LEETHAM: -- a related case.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MS. LEETHAM: There's a hearing tomorrow
morning. I have the case number if you would like
it.

THE COURT: I would.

MS. LEETHAM: It's 37-2018-00022710. Do

you want the
THE

MS.

letters?
COURT: Just tell me the case name.

LEETHAM: It's Avail Shipping vs.

Razuki Investments, et al. On June 27th, I actually

filed a cross-complaint for quiet title on the

Balboa Avenue Properties.
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THE COURT: 1Is that case pending?

MS. LEETHAM: We have an ex parte tomorrow

morning.

THE COURT: But is it pending?

MS. LEETHAM: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And has everybody been served?

MS. LEETHAM: You would have to ask the
plaintiff. I'm the cross-complainant, so yes.

THE COURT: We'll find out. Does anyone
represent -- is it Avail Shipping? I think I read

something about that.

MS. LEETHAM: The law firm is Hickman &
Robinson.

THE COURT: And I assume they're not here.

MS. LEETHAM: They are not. They have the
papers and they called me today.

THE COURT: You know what? I'll be here at

8:30 tomorrow morning.

All right. I want to know who everybody is

in the courtroom. So let's start on this side. If
you're the public, you're welcome. But if you're an
entity -- oh, no. We have to finish. Keep going.

MR. ESSARY: Good afternoon, Your Honor.
Michael Essary, receiver.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. GRISWOLD: Good afternoon, Your Honor.
Richardson Griswold, counsel for receiver.

THE COURT: I don't want to know who the
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public is. But if I have litigants here, I would
like to know who they are, and if they could stand.

MR. BERMAN: Chris Berman from SoCal
Building Ventures.

THE COURT: SoCal.

MR. SPILLANE: Dan Spillane, SoCal.

THE COURT: SoCal.

MR. HICKMAN: Good afternoon, Your Honor.
Michael Hickman, not related to the other Hickman
she just mentioned. I'm here, although we're not a
party, on behalf of RM Property Holdings.

THE COURT: I know who that is. Thank you.

MR. JAFFE: Doug Jaffe, Your Honor. I'm an
attorney on the Avail Shipping case that you're
dealing with tomorrow.

THE COURT: Welcome.

MS. GONZALES: Sylvia Gonzales, broker
compliance officer for Mr. Razuki.

THE COURT: And that's Mr. -- and, ma'am --
okay. That's Mr. -- and who are you again?

MS. GONZALES: I'm a broker and I've been
helping him out with property management.

THE COURT: Got it. And what --

Did you get her name, Ms. Reporter?

THE REPORTER: Yes.

THE COURT: Thank you. Okay.

MR. HAKIM: Hi. 1I'm Chris Hakim, here for

Mira Este Properties and Roselle.
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THE COURT: Welcome.
MR. MALAN: Ninus Malan, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you. And you're the

public?

MR. RAZUKI: You could say that.

THE COURT: Have a seat.

MR. RAZUKI: Thank you.

THE COURT: I appreciate it. Here we go.
That's Mr. Hakim ~- I mean, that's Mr. Razuki,
right?

MR. RAZUKI: Salam Razuki, yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Let's talk about 170.6s
first. So the case of -- who's S&H? 1Is S&H here?

MR. ELIA: Yes, Your Honor. I'm counsel
for S&H.

THE COURT: Okay. That case has been
transferred down. You both got notice, hopefully.
Did you know that this case was being -- that that
case was coming from Judge Taylor's department to my
department?

MR. ELIA: Yes.

THE COURT: And then who represents Mr. --

MR. WATTS: Ninus Malan and American
Holdings -- American Lending and Holding.

THE COURT: Any challenges to the current
Court?

MR. WATTS: No, Your Honor.

MR. ELIA: No, Your Honor.
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THE COURT: Welcome. Let's talk about now
how I'm going to treat this hearing. Obviously, I
have read many variations of what happened in
department -- Judge Medel's department and Judge
Strauss' department, whether it's been rescinded,
whether it hasn't.

My thought process is this -- because I
don't want to get into an argument, was there a
valid order. No. I don't want to do that. We're
starting fresh today. Today. So I don't want to
rehash old history. There may be a couple of points
you want to bring up in old history, but I'm not --
we're not going to do that. I don't have that much
time. Okay? So that would be the first thing I
think we should do.

For the parties, I like it when you come to
court. I'm going to make a decision today that's
going to impact all of you, and I think it's a good
idea having who the judge is -- you know, who's this
person in the black robe that's going to make a very
important decision that may have a great effect on
your lives.

So I always invite you to do that, because
you get a sense of who I am, what I am, and I'll try
to give you my thought process as I go along. Okay.
So welcome, and I really mean that. You ought to
come to every hearing that you can, based on

everything that I've read, because there is a lot to
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cover today.

Okay. Shall we start with this: Your --
who's the moving party that wants a TRO?

That ain't you, is it?

MR. ELIA: Good morning, Your Honor. We
wanted -- we requested our receiver and a TRO.

THE COURT: Yeah. Who's the moving party?

MR. ELIA: Mr. Razuki is.

THE COURT: Then whoever it is, let's go.

MR. ELIA: 1I'll start. May I sit,

Your Honor?

THE COURT: You may.

MR. ELIA: Okay. Your Honor, there's a ton
of information on this case. So what I'd like to do
is just kind of give you a -- background
information, because I think that will help you not
only in this case, but also in the foreclosure case.

THE COURT: We're going to do that second.
I just want to focus —-- understand. Different
hearing. Go.

MR. ELIA: And Mr. Razuki met Mr. Malan
sometime in 2014. Mr. Razuki is a ~- owned
substantial assets. He's got many shopping centers,
gas stations, real estate. Suffice it to say, he's
a wealthy individual. His net worth is anywhere
from 15 to $20 million.

He met Mr. Malan, who is a real estate

agent, sometime in 2014. And Mr. Malan went to work
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for him and assisted him in managing properties and
things of that nature.

Now, in -- you'll see, Your Honor, you've
got a stack of paperwork in front of you. We've
submitted a tremendous amount of paperwork
evidencing Mr. Razuki's contributions. And you'll
see that Mr. Malan -- there's not one document that
evidences any cash that he put in himself.

Now, we're requesting the receiver because
my client has a property interest in the
three dispense -- the two dispensaries that are
operating now and the one that isn't operating.

In the Balboa location, my client has put
in $920,000 in cash and obtained financing for
2.2 million. We have a declaration from Mr. Salés
(phonetic), who's a hard money lender, that says,
For the last 15 years, I've known Mr. Razuki and the
only reason I funded this loan is because of
Mr. Razuki's credit.

And I just want to note for the record that
Mr. Hakim, who's also here, has acknowledged that he
doesn't have a property interest in the Balboa
operations.

As far as the Mira Este location, my
client, Mr. Razuki, put in $750,000 in cash -- and
we produced documents -- and also obtained financing
from the loan company, along with Mr. Hakim, for

$3.3 million.
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My client not only pledged three properties
to secure that note, but also an LLC that he owns
called San Diego Private Investments Group, which
owns 22 properties and there's a value of about
$8 million.

So my client has secured this loan by --
with 25 properties. Mr. Hakim has secured it with

one property. And Mr. Malan has given no collateral

whatsoever.

THE COURT: Let's talk about the -- may I

interrupt for a second?
MR. ELIA: Yes.

THE COURT: Let's talk about the three
properties for a bit. Let's talk about grant deeds.
Okay?

MR. ELIA: Okay.

THE COURT: Who is the grant deed owner on
9212 Mira Este Court?

MR. ELIA: I believe that's Mira Este, LLC.

THE COURT: And who's -- that's the way I
look at it. Who's part of that LLC?

MR. ELIA: Mr. Hakim owns 50 percent.

Mr. Malan, on paper, owns the remaining -- other
50 percent, which we contend we own 75 percent of

that 50 percent.

THE COURT: ©So are there legal documents

that support that?

MR. ELIA: Yes, Your Honor. There's a
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fully executed eight-page settlement agreement with
two pages of recitals that --

THE COURT: Oh, I've read that. I got the
settlement agreement. I want to know 1f there is a
separate document that shows that the LLC owns that
property -- no, who the owners of the LLC are, not
the settlement document.

Is there a separate LLC document that
actually says who the owners are?

MR. ELIA: It'é my understanding that the
operating agreement would have Mr. Malan as a
50 percent owner and Mr. Hakim as the other
50 percent owner.

THE COURT: SQ>then let's just look at that
for a moment. So then the analysis is, as far as so
far legally, on the grant deed is MEP, correct?

MR. ELIA: Correct.

THE COURT: The owners of MEP are Mr. Hakim
and Mr. Malan, correct?

MR. ELIA: Only on paper, Your Honor, on
the operating agreement.

THE COURT: Only on paper?

MR. ELIA: Right.

THE COURT: Okay. Paper -- sometimes paper
means a lot, Counsel. But then we have this other
agreement, right?

MR. ELIA: Correct.

THE COURT: Called the settlement
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property into this other entity, correct?

MR. ELIA: RM.
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THE COURT: Let me just ask one question.

Did anybody put any property into RM?

MR. ELIA: No.

THE COURT: I know the answer, Counsel.

MR. ELIA: The answer is no.

THE COURT: Yeah. ©So here -- people are
claiming ownership into an entity. Well, Judge --
did we do it?

No, we didn't do anything.

Okay. I got questions on both sides, but I
just want to make sure I understand the facts.
Okay. Real quick -- so that takes care of
Mira Mesa [sic].

Who's the owner of Roselle?

MR. ELIA: Roselle, similarly, is --

Mr. Hakim owns 50 percent.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. ELIA: And the owner would be Roselle,

I believe, the LLC.

THE COURT: Correct. It's Roselle

Properties, LLC.

MR. ELIA: That's the one, yeah.

THE COURT: And if you look at title,

however you want to say it, under the LLC,

in the LLC are?
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MR. ELIA: I believe title is vested in the
LLC, and I think the operating agreement says that
Mr. Malan is 50 percent owner and Mr. Hakim is the
other 50 percent owner,

THE COURT: Correct again, based on what
I've read. Does your client assert any interest
into Roselle?

MR. ELIA: Yes, Your Honor. He asserts
75 percent interest in Mr. Malan's 50 percent

interest.

THE COURT: And again, that would be under
the settlement agreement, correct?

MR. ELIA: Yes, Your Honor, and all the
funding evidences that as well. And under the --

THE COURT: We'll get to that in just a
minute. You -- and then -- and then who owns
Balboa?

MR. ELIA: Balboa is SD United Holdings.
Mr. Malan is -- on the operating agreement owns
100 percent of that, and title is vested in that
LLC. We contend that we own 75 percent of that.

THE COURT: And again, I assume that
analysis is done under the settlement agreement to
get to that 75 percent, correct?

MR. ELIA: Correct, and the oral agreement
that is evidenced by the settlement agreement.

THE COURT: Let me interrupt one more time.

Do we have anyone representing Far West
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Management, LLC, here?

MS. AUSTIN: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Do we have anyone from
Golden State Greens here?

MR. ELIA: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Sorry for
interrupting. Go ahead, Counsel.

MR. ELIA: I wanted to back up, Your Honor.
As far as RM, my c¢lient did put $24,000 in -- into
the account, so there was some capitalization of RM.
And there's an e-mail from the attorney that we have
that drafted -- or formed the LLC that asked
Mr. Goria's firm sometime in -- I believe it was
March, requested that they put in the assets.

And they came back and said, Well, we're in
the middle of doing, you know, the agreements with
SoCal and we think that might hurt it, so we don't
want to do it now.

So I just wanted to say that.

THE COURT: Well, wasn't your client also
going to put in some property, Counsel?

MR. ELIA: Yes.

THE COURT: Did he do that?

MR. ELIA: No.

THE COURT: Got it. Go.

MR. ELIA: Sometime in -- well, let's get
to the -- let me just go over briefly the settlement

agreement and why I think it's important,
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Your Honor.

THE COURT: There you go.

MR. ELIA: Okay. I think -- Your Honor, we
think that this settlement agreement —-- we think we
win on this because we think it sets forth the
intent. And it's got two pages of recitals that
describe in intricate detail what the partnership
assets are, and those are the SD United that owns
Balboa. It's the Mira Este property. It's =-- and
it's also the Roselle property.

So it's got two full pages of recitals, and
Section 1.2 is the most important. It says Razuki
and Malan have an understanding. It says that
regardless of which party --

THE REPORTER: Can you slow down a little

bit when you read, please.

MR. ELIA: Sorry. I do that in a lot of
hearings. I apologize.

THE COURT: Uh-huh.

MR. ELIA: It says Razuki and Malan have an
understanding such that regardless of which party or
entity holds title and ownership to the partnership
assets, Razuki i1s entitled to a 75 percent interest
in the capital, profits, and losses of each
partnership asset, and Malan is entitled to
25 percent interest. And no party is entitled to
receive any profits whatsoever until and unless the

parties have first been repaid their investment in
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full, hereinafter, the partnership assets ~- that's
a defined term. It refers to the -- all the parties
that are in dispute today.

Now, Your Honor, they contend that these
recitals are incorporated into the agreement in a
different section. The signatories to this
agreement are two people, Mr. Razuki and Mr. Malan.
They contend that my client doesn't have a property
interest, that he shouldn't be here, that he doesn't
have rights.

Well, there's, again, only two individuals.
RM is not an actual party to this agreement, so
we've sued to enforce this agreement. And we think
we win on this, but let's set it aside for argument
purposes and let's say this is void.

Even if this is void, it sets forth and is
evidence of the oral partnership agreement that they
had, which is further evidenced by the millions and
millions of dollars that my client put in, while
Mr. Malan put in virtually no money at all.

Sometime in -- I believe it was May,

Your Honor, my client started to get suspicious of
what was going on with the dispensaries. He was
being told they weren't really making any money. So
he contacted SoCal, had a meeting with SoCal, and
that was the first time that SoCal learned that my
client had a 75 percent interest.

So SoCal sent a letter dated May 24th to
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Mr. Malan and Mr. Hakim, and they said, Hey, what
the heck's going on? We have somebody that says he
owns 75 percent of this and it was not disclosed.
Please produce all the paperwork that shows who the

true ownership is. And they didn't.

So what happened was -- everything was
fine. ©SoCal started operating in October until
June -- or I believe it was July 10th that they
locked them out. So for ten months, there was no

complaint whatsoever about SoCal, that they smoked
weed or that they did this or that they had a felon
working for them. No complaints whatsoever. 1It's
when SoCal stopped paying because of what was going
on that they were locked out.

THE COURT: What did they pay?

MR. ELIA: I'm sorry?

THE COURT: What did they pay?

MR. ELIA: I believe it was --

MR. ZIMMITTI: Your Honor --

MR. ELIA: -- $50,000 just on the Balboa
property, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Who said "Your Honor"?

MR. ZIMMITTI: Your Honor, Salvatore
Zimmitti for SoCal. Your Honor, we -- 1if I may just
sort of jump in on sort of the SoCal piece of this.
We do support Mr. Razuki's request for a receiver.
Basically, you know, there's a lot going on here,

and I appreciate the complexity the Court has to
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face.

THE COURT: That's okay.

MR. ZIMMITTI: From SoCal's point of view,
I think I can sort of just take a high level
approach of how we fit into things.

THE COURT: Can you hold on that --

MR. ZIMMITTI: Sure.

THE COURT: -- and let him finish?

Two questions. Did you make a monthly

payment for consulting fees?

MR. ZIMMITTI: We made -- we made monthly
payments under the agreements. As far as I know, we
made all the required payments. You know, your

monthly guarantee --

THE COURT: It's a very specific question.
Maybe you can do a little research.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Okay.

THE COURT: I want to know if you made
specific payments monthly for consuiting fees that
went to an LLC -- that's what I read, correct -- or
did it not?

Number 2, did you pay management fees above
and beyond -- besides SoCal, who to and how much

monthly?

If you could kind of research that if you

could while he works. You got two attorneys there.
One can do that and the other one can listen. Fair
enough?
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Do you have any idea what I'm talking
about, Counsel, when I say that?

MR. ZIMMITTI: Your Honor --

THE COURT: If you don't, it's okay.

MR, ZIMMITTI: Well, I -- there's a lot
of -- a lot of money being paid. I have a -- I have
a register of what we paid, and I have --

THE COURT: I'm looking at a fee of $50,000
a month. Does that ring a bell?

MR. ZIMMITTI: Yes.

THE COURT: Does $60,000 ring a bell?

MR. ZIMMITTI: I'll get you all the numbers
you'd like, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And I want to know what they
did to earn that fee.

I digress. Go, Counsel.

MR. ELIA: So, Your Honor, under -- under
this management agreement that they entered into
without my client's consent -- when I say "they," I
refer to Mr. Hakim and Mr. Malan.

Now, again, Your Honor, Mr. Hakim has no
interest in the -- Balboa, yet under this settlement
agreement, under Section 2.2.8, there's $35,000 a
month that goes to Monarch, an entity that is owned
by Mr. Hakim and Mr. Malan. And to date, they have
not provided an explanation as to why in the world

money is going to Monarch when it should be going to

Flip.
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THE COURT: Because it's a management
consulting LLC, isn't it? That's what I'm talking
about, Counsel. Go ahead.

MR. ELIA: The understanding, Your Honor,
was that Flip Management was supposed to get that
money, not Monarch.

THE COURT: That's one theory.

MR. ELIA: Let me tell Your Honor why we're
asking for the receiver right now.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. ELIA: We contend that we funded these
properties, that we have an ownership interest,

75 percent. These two individuals already entered
into an agreement where they transferred and gave
options and were paid a substantial amount of money
to provide options for real estate properties in
which they don't own. That's Number 1.

Number 2 --

THE COURT: Let me interrupt again.

SoCal, do you claim that you have an option
to purchase in these -- these business entities?

MR. ZIMMITTI: Yes, Your Honor, we do.

THE COURT: Does anyone here assert that
Far West company may also have options to
participate? Anyone want to comment on that?

MR. ELIA: I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Yeah.

MR. ELIA: The day that they locked them
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out, that was 7/10. The receiver took over on 7/17.
We found an agreement to Far West that had a clause
in there, Section 1.7, that said "long-term
agreement."

Now, what happens if they enter into a deal
with Far West at the same time they have put
$2.8 million in? And they're not just going to let
that 2.8 million go with property rights, so it
creates a situation -- and it's clear that their
intent is to enter into these agreements. And it
creates a situation where there's going to be a
multiplicity of lawsuits.

And what even is even scarier is that they
have just entered into an agreement with Synergy
with the same exact 1.7 section. And in addition to
that, what they did was they gave rights of
royalties in perpetuity in that agreement. And I
can read that to Your Honor.

THE COURT: 1Is that Synergy?

MR. ELIA: Yes. There's -- and I can read
thatAsection for Your Honor.

THE COURT: As you're doing that, is Far
West managing anything now?

MR. ELIA: The Balboa operations.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. ELIA: Section -- Article 3, Section B,
for the Synergy agreement says that following

termination -- so even if this agreement 1is
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terminated -- manager will be entitled to
receive 2 1/2 -- and then it says "5" in
parentheses -- of the net profits of the facility

generated by the manager's contracts every month.

So this goes into perpetuity on assets they
don't own. So now we've got Synergy, we've got
SoCal, and we've got Far West. And this is going to
lead to a big lawsult, and it subjects the
partnership assets to liability of millions of
dollars. And that's why we asked for the receiver
to step in so that there's no waste.

In addition to that, what we're concerned
about is Mr. Malan currently owns the assets in his
name. He can sell those. In the other case, he
sold one property, which we'll get to later on.

THE COURT: When you say "assets," be more
specific. What are you talking --

MR. ELIA: San Diego --

THE COURT: The equipment?

MR. ELIA: ©No, Your Honor. I'm talking
about SD United. I'm talking about the real
property. I'm talking about the Mira Este real
property. I'm talking about the Roselle real
property. And those are in his name, and we just
simply have zero trust. And the fact that he's
already sold a property for half of what the value

is in the other case, which we'll get to later, is

an 1issue.
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The loan for the -- Mira Este of
3.3 million is in default. Their -- the monthly
payments are current, but there was a $200,000
payout that hasn't been made. And what happens is
my client secured that loan with 25 properties. And
that's in default and that’s an issue that terrifies
us, frankly.

The reason we cannot trust Mr. Malan or
Mr. Hakim is because Mr. Malan has violated two
court orders, Your Honor. The last time we were
here, you mentioned on two occasions -- you said, I
want the bank accounts frozen and I mean frozen and
that not even a bill was to be paid.

And that same day, Your Honor, as he sat in
this courtroom, Mr. Malan contacted BBVA Compass and
sent Judge Strauss' order vacating the receiver to
that bank and asked them to unfreeze the account.
That's the -- that's one blatant violation of a

court order.

The second one occurred on the day the

receiver took over when I argued before Judgé Medel.
I was in his courtroom. Ms. Austin was there. He
granted the receiver. Two hours later, Ms. Austin
spoke to the receiver and told them, I'm not going
to -- I'm not going to follow the order, and I'm
going to instruct my clients not to follow the

order, and I'm not -- I'm going to further instruct

them not to cooperate with the receiver.
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And what happened after there [sic],
Your Honor, was caught on video and I brought it
with me. And it's only 28 seconds, and I'd ask that
Your Honor take a look at the video.

THE COURT: 1Is that the backdoor situation?

MR. ELIA: Yes, Your Honor. Suffice it to

say -—-
THE COURT: I don't need it right now.
MR. ELIA: Okay. All right. And so --
THE COURT: You'll get your chance. I
promise.

MR. ELIA: We got —-- we have no confidence
that they‘ll ever provide truthful numbers. This is
an all-cash business, and we need some form of
internal controls.

And you got a sense of the gravity of the
sales and the money that this -- these locations
generate in a weekend. I think they said $200,000
on Mira Este in a weekend, and I think it was
100,000 at Balboa. 1It's a tremendous amount of
money. It's cash.

And what they want to do is they want to
pretend that we have an imaginary interest, although
we funded millions and millions of dollars and put
up 25 properties. Mr. Malan and even Mr. Hakim in
his declaration says that my client did fund it, and
he didn't want to be on the paperwork.

The only person in this courtroom that says
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that we have an imaginary interest is Mr. Malan, and
that's after we put in millions of dollars. We
encumbered 25 properties, and he's put in

virtually -- not one piece of paper that shows that
he put in any cash whatsoever. He wants to take all
that from us and then SoCal's $2.8 million and
pretend that we have no interest whatsoever.

So we have irreparable harm because of the
multiplicity of lawsuits and then giving options on
properties they don't own and royalty agreements in
perpetuity and things of this nature, and we need
internal controls.

Two things I want to say about Judge
Strauss and Judge Medel's order, and I'll make it
very, very brief, Your Honor. There was a discovery
hearing in a related case. And coincidentally, that
case was before Judge Medel, and that was four days
after the receiver was appointed. Ms. Leetham
appeared. Ms. Austin appeared at that hearing. It
was a discovery hearing. It was on the San Diego
Patients case versus some of the same parties here.

They appeared. And in that case, Mr. Jaffe
is counsel and he doesn't know anything about this
case. I wasn't there. And they made a complaint
that everything was in, you know, ruins and there's
all these problems and issues, and they spoke for 17
pages about how the receiver was creating a problem.

So Judge Medel, understandably, said -- and
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he didn't hear from me, because I wasn't there. But
he said, You know what? I have some anxiety and I
want to revisit the issue.

They took that statement and they argued to
Judge Strauss that he was going to sua sponte vacate
the order. Judge Strauss never read my 19-page
ex parte application. He never read my 91 pages of
exhibits, and the reason he didn't is because that
ex parte was filed in Judge Medel's hearing, not
Judge Strauss.

He didn't read my paperwork. He read their
paperwork. And that's on the record, and we got the
transcript. And they went into court and they said
that I misled Judge Medel. And I didn't have the
transcript in Judge Strauss' hearing, but I have it
today and I highlighted it and I cited it in our
brief.

What we asked Judge Medel is we wanted to
preserve the status quo for the last ten months,
which was when SoCal was in operations. SoCal was
at that hearing. They had an ex parte to intervene
into that hearing and they spoke in that hearing.

I did not mislead any judge, Your Honor. I
don't mislead judges, and I certainly don't drive
getaway cars either. But I just wanted to note that
for the record. And I think had Judge Strauss read
my ex parte application and had I been present at

the discovery hearing with Judge Medel and he would
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have heard our side, as he did in the first ex parte
when I argued it and he granted it, I think there

would have been a different outcome before Judge

Strauss.

Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: No. For my mindset, your -- I
want to hear -- who's counsel for Malan? That's who
I want.

And then, SoCal, you'll be next.

And then you're --

MR. GORIA: Hakim.

THE COURT: You'll be after that.

MR. GORIA: Okay.

THE COURT: And then you'll be last. Or
who else? All right. Let's go. Here we go.

Let's —-- talk to me about Mr. Malan.

MR. WATTS: All right. Can I address the
court orders that -- the last couple things he said?

THE COURT: The court orders?

MR. WATTS: Yeah, the way that we responded
to court orders.

THE COURT: If you want it for the record,
of course. I'm treating this as a brand-new
hearing. So whatever happened in Judge Medel's
department, Judge Strauss' department --

MR. WATTS: This is just a couple days ago
when our client contacted BBVA. He wanted to get

copies of the checks that the receiver had written.
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He asked them for access to the account, not to
spend money. Access. He didn't ask them to
unfreeze the account. He said, "Look, there's no
receiver in place. I should be able to look at the
account." That's what we asked for.

On ﬁhe --

THE COURT: Did you do that or did your
client do it?

MR. WATTS: Our -- the client did that.

THE COURT: He called. Okay. Did he fax

them Judge Strauss' order?

MR. WATTS: I think it was attached to the

e-mail. I didn't see his original e-mail. I got it
forwarded afterwards. Judge Medel said that -- he
used the words "sua sponte” in the -- in the hearing

when he said that he would take another look at
that.

MS. LEETHAM: Can I address that? I was
the one there, Your Honor. And I actually take
issue. I try to be as genuine to the Court as I
can.

I appeared at that hearing to let Judge
Medel know that our interpretation of that
receivership order precluded me from representing my
clients in that litigation. It had divested me of
my ability to oppose a motion to compel, and I
explained to him it came from his ruling. So there

was some back-and-forth about the implications of my
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standing in court when, arguably, Mr. Essary had
that choice on who to allow to retain. As the Court
knows, we have four pieces of ongoing litigation.

And so I was in a very awkward position,
and I let him know I felt deeply uncomfortable
advocating for my client at that hearing, which is
when he said he had considered sua sponte relief,
because there was (inaudible) --

THE REPORTER: Because there was what

issue?

MS. LEETHAM: Sua.

THE REPORTER: I got that, "sua sponte
relief because there was" ~-- and you trailed off.

MS. AUSTIN: Notice.

MS. LEETHAM: Notice.

Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. WATTS: So on the merits of this for
the receivership, the contract under which they're
claiming that their client has a property interest,
we argued in the paperwork that it is invalid.
That's the source of their property interest.

He's now brought in the fact -- his
allegation that he's made -- taken out loans
involving the properties, that he's invested
millions of dollars in it.

An investment in something isn't an

ownership of it. It means that you invested money
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in it. But on paper, if he doesn't have anything to
evidence that he was given ownership in response or
in exchange for that, then he doesn't have an
ownership interest in that property.

The settlement contract is illegal because
at the time that it was made, as we argued in our
brief, it dealt with the revenues from -- from
businesses that are operating in a way that's
illegal under federal law. And the public policy in
California we cited in a published appellate
decision is that --

THE COURT: When you said "illegal,"
explain that to ﬁe.

MR. WATTS: This

sale/manufacture/distribution of marijuana. And it

was clear in the settlement agreement. It said that
marijuana was -- that that's the purpose of these
businesses. So this contract at the time -- now,

it's different today.

THE COURT: It's the time. I got it,
Counsel.

MR. WATTS: Okay. And even if -- even if
the contract -- even if that weren't a problem, you
can still enforce the contract. We have the problem
that the business was never capitalized. It wasn't
capitalized at the time that the lawsuit was filed.

The operating agreement for RM Holdings

says that unless these partners make these initial
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capital contributions, none of them have membership
interests in it. No one owns that company.

Those initial capital contributions were
$750 [sic] from their client, 250 from ours. Those
were not made. Our client's declaration says that
they were not made. They have not produced
membership certificates showing that they own

RM Holdings, LLC.

Until that is made —-- until those capital

contributions are made, these people aren't members.

Until an accounting is performed -- that's another
thing that the settlement agreement says. Until an
accounting is performed with the partners'
respective investments in these properties, the
partners aren't entitled to derive profits, losses,
or capital from the properties.

No accounting was made. They don't claim
that an accounting was made. They claim that the
settlement agreement says the parties were supposed
to work together within the first 30 days to try to
finish an accounting, but they didn't do that.

And also, a -- it's not just our client's
responsibility to contribute things to the
settlement agreement. As you mentioned, Super 5
Consulting Group and also Sunrise, which his client
owns -—- he was supposed to contribute those to the

group.

Now, a -- the parties' material breach of
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the agreement excuses the other parties' future
performance of the agreement. He admits his client
has not contributed those LLC percentages to the
agreement, and so he doesn't have an ob -~ the right
to force our client to perform his obligations under
the agreement.

Neither of these guys performed their
obligations under the agreement, and the reason is
that they rescinded the agreement in February of
this year. As our client explains in his
declaration, the two parties came together and
said ~- as he said, they had an oral agreement that
talked about many other properties that they had
worked on over the years. They were going to put
many properties into this holding group.

But when my client went into Mr. Razuki's
lawyer's office and was presented with this and told
that he needs to sign this today, pressured by
attorneys, without his counsel present, he signed
the agreement, and then later discussed with Razuki,
well, what about the other agree -- what about the
other properties? Why aren't -- why aren't they in
here? And he said, Oh, those will be put in later.

And "later" became later and later. And
eventually, our client asked Mr. Razuki, finally,
Put the -- we need to put this in here; otherwise,
we're not going do this.

And Mr. Razuki said, Fine. You keep what
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you have in your name, and I'll keep what I have in

my name.

All this is in our client's latest
declaration that we filed in support.

THE COURT: Which I did read.

MR. WATTS: Which you read. So the --

RM Holdings wasn't capitalized, so nobody owns it.
The settlement agreement -- these preconditions
weren't complied with. Neither party contributed
their money. His client didn't contribute this
capital. Nobody has membership shares, and they
haven't done an accounting yet. And so they're not
entitled to any -- any profits from the companies
that are supposed to be put in the agreement.

Even if they were -- let's say everything
was in RM Holdings, that money =-- he's not entitled
to ownership of the group's control of the
businesses. He's not entitled to prevent them
from -- the business managers from signing options
and things like that. There's nothing about that in
the settlement agreement.

As for SoCal, now, SoCal makes claims too
in this. They claim that their management agreement
gives them the option to buy the properties. It
did. That option expired at the end of June of this
year for Balboa, which was the only one of the three
management agreements where they actually paid the

$75,000 that was necessary to buy that option. The
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other two management agreements, they didn't pay.
So they never had those options to begin with.

And the Balboa agreement expired at the end
of June. They asked to extend it. They asked to
extend it because of this -- this conflict between
Mr. Razuki and Mr. Malan about who allegedly owns
the Balboa properties. And Mr. Malan said, No, I'm
not going to extend it. The agreement is what it
is. Also, here's 25 days' notice that you're in
default of making your payments under the agreement.

So their option agreement has expired.

They no longer have a property interest in there.
They were fired with 25 days' notice, as required
under the management agreement.

Now, these -- when it's his turn to argue,
he's going to argue that he is entitled to manage
that agreement for -- or manage that property until
the end of time and that the only way that he can be
fired is if we go through mediation and then
arbitration, and then he can be fired.

But there's a Thirteenth Amendment in this
country and -- the slavery one, and we're allowed to
breach -- we're allowed to terminate people and fire
them. Mr. Malan can say, "You no longer work here."
He can give 25 days' notice and then cancel the
agreement, because that's what the agreement says in
Section 6.2. What he's referring to is an

arbitration clause.
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Now, I've been on a crulse ship and bought
a ticket, and it says that I have to solve all the
disputes in arbitration. But that doesn't mean that
they can't kick me off the ship if I'm, you know,
smoking weed and drinking on the -- when I'm there.
They can kick me off. And then if they decide to
sue me, then we go to arbitration.

So what SoCal is describing -- it says that
any disputes have to be resolved in arbitration.
That doesn't mean that they can't be fired. That
means that if they want to sue us, as they did in
this case, they should have done it in arbitration.
They should have done it in mediation. That's what
an arbitration clause is. That'é what it means when
it talks about disputes, because Section 6.2 says
that you give 25 days' notice that you're failing to
make payments. If you don't cure, you're fired.

And they proved that they failed to make
payments. The interim report from the receiver says
that they made a payment to the receiver of money
owed ~-- it was in the receiver's report -- of over
$100,000, $120,000, something like that.

Incidentally, the day that we gave ex parte
notice that we were dissolving the receivership, the
receiver spent $100,000, 17,000 on himself, 7,000 to
his attorneys, paid an LLC that one of the partners
at Nelson Hardiman is in charge of, more than

$10,000 into that. And you know the other facts on
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that.

So the -- putting the receiver in place -~
frankly, the companies can't afford the receiver.
They -- the receiver spent $100,000 in a day. He
was in there for two weeks, and he spent $30,000
paying himself and on all these other insiders.

It's an obscene amount of money, and it's
all the money -- practically all the money that was
in the bank account at the time after SoCal made
their payments that they owed.

Do you have anything to add?

MS. LEETHAM: We have different spheres of
knowledge, so --

THE COURT: And you represent Malan,
though, don't you?

MS. LEETHAM: Malan and all the entities,
so we have a slightly different thing. So I thought
a lot of cliches when I was sitting there trying to
figure out how to wrap this all together.

Where's the beef? We have millions of
dollars in contributions, and we don't have
evidentiary support for it. We have loans where
Mr. Malan is actually obligated on those same loans.
He's an guarantor. He's an obligor. So if we're
talking about a commitment to a loan as being an
investment of a million dollars, my client owns Jjust
as much as Mr. Razuki does.

I've also thought of the pot calling the
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kettle black, maybe talking out both sides of your

mouth to where you're coming into court -- I made
the argument in my paper -- with unclean hands.
So you're saying, "I want the benefit of

everything that you have, even though I can't show
anything on paper that says I get it, but I don't
want to give you anything I have," which is why
Super 5 isn't here. It's why Sunrise isn't here.
It's why RM Property Holdings isn't here.

So even if we were to step back and say,
"Can the Court fashion relief today?" the answer is,
unequivocally, no, because the Court does not have
the ability to take those nonparty entities and
require them to do the same thing that all our
defendants are required to do, which is account.

I would also say that we've asked the Court
in our papers to see these as discrete issues. The
plaintiff has put them all together. We have -- we
have SoCal in bed with Razuki.

And really, until May 24th, when SoCal
hired a private investigator to go find
Mr. Razuki -- they met, they colluded, and here we
are. Not once did they come to my client and say,
"Hey, what's going on with Mr. Razuki?" ©No. We hit
red zone ten. And on June -- July 17th, we got
ambushed with a receiver, which leads me to the
purpose of the receiver and the harm.

It is a drastic remedy. The case laws talk
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about it. The impact of what happened in the two
weeks the receiver was in possession of the
properties was significant.

First of all, Mr. Goria will talk about
Mira Este and Roselle. Those entities are in the
red. They were not functioning. There was nothing
to speak of in terms of revenues.

With respect to Balboa, the Court has
numerous examples in our pleadings of malfeasance,
and I actually thought maybe the best way to do that
would be to run through the management services
agreement for Balboa and talk about the breaches.
And I highlighted them all in green. If the Court
wants me to go through that, I can.

They did not -- well, actually, let's talk
about the money.

THE COURT: That's number one on my list.

MS. LEETHAM: Let's talk about the money.
Section 1.6 of the Balboa management agreement talks
about initial contributions. It is the
consideration for SéCal’s right to come in and run
that dispensary.

They were required to pay 125,000 for
FF&E -- which I always forget -- furniture,
fixtures, and equipment. I believe they did, but
they had to. It was part of their consideration.

They paid 44,000, which is said it will

serve as a credit against the purchase price if --
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if the manager exercises its option under Section 8
below. That's the 125-,

It then goes on to say, Managers shall
lend -- not invest -- lend the company an additional
44,000, which was interlineated from an original
83,000, reimbursement for old inventory, which sat
in the dispensary because we were shut down by
Judge Styn. So there's been some talk about waste.

THE COURT: Styn?

MS. LEETHAM: Yes. The homeowners
association litigation was in Judge Styn's --

THE COURT: There we go.

MS. LEETHAM: And so there was some talk
about waste and sales, right. So they were
reimbursed for old inventory they could not sell.
That was a lend too. They were to be repaid.

If you go on, it also says, Manager shall
pay the old operators, Mr. Hakim and Mr. Malan, for
reimbursement of legal and mitigation costs 66,000.
Except for the 15,000 monthly payments which
Your Honor referenced earlier, those were all loans.
Those didn't give them an equity or any right to
anythiﬁg. That's what they had to pay.

If you go on and you look at their
accounting, there's a sheet that has accounting
today, which I don't remember whose declaration it
was attached to. Maybe Jim Townsend's.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Yes.
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MS. LEETHAM: It breaks down an itemization
of expenses. Now, if you look at the Balboa
accounting, there's a minimum guarantee of 35,000,
and there is a -- rent of 15,000 that were to be
paid by SocCal.

SoCal paid my client out of the
dispensary's own sales. So my client was paying my
client, if that makes sense. SoCal didn't make
those payments. My client paid himself.

So when you go and you_do the accounting,
you're going to find that, in fact, SoCal owes my --
Balboa about $180,000 for the minimum guarantee and
the Balboa rent that they should not have paid
themselves.

Trying not to go through all my green
lines, Your Honor. Just give me a moment.

THE COURT: The money that SoCal
invested --

MS. LEETHAM: Right.

THE COURT: And maybe that's a word we need
to look at. They said they put in 936,000 to Balboa
and about 1.7 -- almost 1.8 to Mira Este. How do
you —-- is that a loan? Is that a capital con --
what is that, Counsel?

MS. LEETHAM: Well, first of all, that
figure is disputed. Our math shows ~-~ I have notes
on my sheet of 466,000.

THE COURT: So there was no one point -- go
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ahead. I interrupted you.

MS. LEETHAM: No. I mean, I don't know if
they're aggregating their numbers or what they're
doing with them. We asked for evidence of it. So
if you take out the 180-, they were required to pay
some of it, which was a loan. The only arguable
equitable contribution would be the 125-, which was
intended to go toward the FF&E.

THE COURT: So this is about -- that leaves
about 2.4 million. I'm ballparking. That's what
they said was paid. You have no idea where that
money came from?

MS. LEETHAM: Balboa is fairly
self-sustaining, and we had -- it was entitled. The
tenant improvements were done. It was open but for
the ongoing HOA litigation with Judge Styn. So when
SoCal came in, they paid the 125-. They loaned the
66,000 and 44,000, nonrefundable. That's a loan.
And then I don't know what they did. There's money
in here that --

THE COURT: So that's about 180,000.

MS. LEETHAM: I will make it -- they did
pay the 75,000 for the option?

THE COURT: All right. That's 275- --

250-.
MS. LEETHAM: That's about where we end up.
THE COURT: Did I read that wrong? Is

it -- SoCal, are you claiming that you invested -- I
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MR. ZIMMITTI: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: And they're claiming you put

250-.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Your Honor, that's just

grotesquely inaccurater-

THE COURT: I assume we have checks.
Somebody has some checks, right?

MR. ZIMMITTI: Your Honor, yes.

THE COURT: Okay. All right.

What do you say ~~- that 2.5 million befor
me, what was that? Is that all equipment?l

MR. ZIMMITTI: No, Your Honor. No,

46

e

Your Honor. Equipment we've —-- as I said, we have

about 410- currently locked up and some more --
THE COURT: I'll come back to that. I'm
going to let her finish, Counsel. I want to know

where the 2.4 million went.

MS. LEETHAM: I don't think it went into

Balboa. I don't know if that's an aggregate or what

that is.

THE COURT: No. They break it down. 1It's
900,000.

MS. LEETHAM: They're saying that
approximately.75l,000 went to Balboa.

THE COURT: That's not what I wrote down,
but close enough. They show $936,245 by my notes.

MS. LEETHAM: Oh, they have another -- they
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have another line item with 180-.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. LEETHAM: We're at opposite ends of the
spectrum, which leads me back to why we're here.
There is no urgency to this. This is an accounting
issue. These claims are compensable at law. If the
parties dispute it, at the end of the day, there's a
fact finder that's going to say, You paid or you
didn't pay.

And there's a judgment and there's a way to
get their money. There's nothing that needs to
happen today, which leads me back to the harm my
clients went through with the receiver. And this is
an awkward situation, but, you know, we've detailed
it in our papers that some questionable decisions
were made during that time frame. I think we've
outlined it enough that, unless the Court has
questions for me, I don't know that I need to go
into it.

Suffice it to say, he emptied the bank
account on July 30th and left the clients insolvent.
So there's lesser remedies. Even if the Court is
contemplating something --

THE COURT: What bank account was emptied?

MS. LEETHAM: I'm talking about the
receiver's accounting. So I know he closed the
San Diego United account.

THE COURT: Okay.
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MS. LEETHAM: He, I believe, had closed the
Mira Este and Roselle account.

THE COURT: What were the total of those
amounts that he took?

MS. LEETHAM: So the two San Diego United
accounts had $17,765. SoCal infused 170,000 in. So
they basically put money in, and then they shuffled
it right back out to themselves in insider payments.

THE COURT: It's my understanding to run
these businesses, it takes $100,000 a week, correct?

MS. LEETHAM: It takes a competent
management team, I suppose.

THE COURT: You know, that's a good answer

too, Counsel.

MS. LEETHAM: Which we have in there now,
Your Honor.

THE COURT: Who is it? And that is?

MS. LEETHAM: That would be Far West.

THE COURT: Well, we're going to talk about
that too. I'm concerned -- well, I agree, Counsel.
I don't -- not sure I have all the indispensable
parties here, which is a concern.

Let me just ask. Is it your client's
position that Far West, LLC -- I'll just -—- LLC. Do
they have options in all this?

MS. LEETHAM: I do not believe so. They're

just a management company.

THE COURT: So in their contract, there's
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no provision for options?

MS. LEETHAM: 1It's a short-term contract,
and I don't --

THE COURT: I'll take that as a no then.

MS. LEETHAM: No. It's a no.

MR. GORIA: Your Honor, that's the same
thing with Synergy. Synergy has no options in

Mira Este.

MS. LEETHAM: One thing I can represent to
the Court about Far West is they're a local
dispensary. They've been licensed here. They were
one of the first in District 2, since 2015
operating, and they understand San Diego. They
understand land use. They know what's going on.

And again, in our declarations we've given to the
Court, they're fine.

And the other thing I will add is that the
Court saw that the homeowners association has now
gliven us a notice of default. And all of those
things happened during SoCal's watch, and that,

Your Honor, is the irreparable harm. My client is
the one that's about to be irreparably harmed. It's
compensable law. Thank you.

THE COURT: Just a yes or no. I've read in
some declaration there were hundreds -- okay. Not
hundreds. Fifty. Somebody alleged that Far West
had options. Who was that?

Is that you?
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MR, ELIA: ©No. They had an intent to do,
you know -- I read it into the record. Let me tell
you what it was. It was paragraph 1.7 in the
agreement that said --

THE COURT: That's the interest, Counsel.

MR. ELIA: That's the long-term agreement.
That showed their intent to enter it, but they don't
have options. Now, the other one --

THE COURT: You're good.

MR. ELIA: Okay.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. LEETHAM: And just one last thing. We
have no problem telling the Court that we won't sell
assets or sell the businesses. If the Court read
the HOA settlement agreement, we can't.

THE COURT: Thank you. One last --

MS. LEETHAM: 1I'll try to use a yes or no.
It's very hard for me.

THE COURT: Counsel, you don't have to.
It's my ~- first of all, Roselle is not being
operated, right?

MS. LEETHAM: Correct.

MR. GORIA: Correct.

THE COURT: It's been leased to a third
party, correct?

MS. LEETHAM: Correct.

THE COURT: And can you ballpark? What's

the lease for?
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MR. GORIA: It's 4700 per month, and the
debt service is 6600 per month.

THE COURT: Okay. And, Counsel, who
collects that? Is it your client?

MR. GORIA: Yes, Mr. Hakim.

THE COURT: Okay. And that -- is there any
anticipation it's going to become a dispensary?

MR. GORIA: There's a hope.

THE COURT: Down the road?

MR. GORIA: Down the road, right.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you.

Now we're going to go to SoCal. Your turn.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Thank you, Your Honor. And
I'll just sort of pick up on the theme where
counsel -~ defense counsel left off. We were not

just a management company, and I want to stress

that.

So -- and we set forth, you know, the
chronology of events. But basically, we got into
this deal under some letters of intent that
ultimately turned out -~ there turned out to be
fraudulent representations inbthose. I don't want
to get down that rabbit hole right now.

But suffice it to say, we started funding
these projects in October 2017. Again, here in
Exhibit B, the Jim Townsend's declaration, we have
an itemization. We dispute that these were loans or

anything like that. Okay. We started paying.
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Okay. Nine months go by. Everything is great.
All is --

THE COURT:- Let me interrupt. So what were
they? What was the --

MR. ZIMMITTI: They're payments -- they're
payments for -- to -- under the agreement as
required, in which --

THE COURT: Which agreemeﬁt?

MR. ZIMMITTI: The management agreements
with the rights -- the option rights within them.
There are three agreements. So --

THE COURT: Option to do what?

MR. ZIMMITTI: Option to buy 50 percent of
the facilities, including the real property.

THE COURT: Who was that agreement made
with?

MR. ZIMMITTI: It -~ they -- it was
slightly different with every agreement.

THE COURT: Give me Balboa.

MR. ZIMMITTI: So Balboa would be -- Balboa
Ave Cooperative, San Diego United Holdings, Monarch
Managing {[sic] Consulting, Inc., Chris Hakim, Ninus
Malan, and SoCal, and then -- with the other party.

THE COURT: Refresh my mind. Is that in
writing?

MR. ZIMMITTI: It is. The agreement is in
writing, sir. |

THE COURT: Go.
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MR. ZIMMITTI: Okay. So we operate —-- we

entered into three agreements, okay, after getting

in the -- you know, setting forth the letter of
intent. One of the agreement -- one of the
facilities -- there are four we contemplated

purchasing. One of them fell out because it turns
out Mr. Malan and Mr. Hakim misrepresented that they
owned any interest in those facilities.

THE COURT: Which one fell out?

MR. ZIMMITTI: Sunrise facility. They
represented in writing -- okay. Fine. So in other
words, so we ended up entering into three
agreements, one for Mira Este, one for Balboa, and
one for Roselle. Each one of them had options to
buy 50 percent of the facilities, including the real
property. It's all in writing. It's all there.
Even before those agreements --

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Even before those agreements
were executed, we had started funding the
properties. And again, Mr. Townsend's accounting
shows payments starting as of 10 -- October 2017.

THE COURT: And when you say "they,"
Counsel -- when you say "funded the properties,"
what do you mean?

MR. ZIMMITTI: I mean putting in rent --
you know, so for Balboa, we paid the option --

minimum guarantees, tenant improvements. You know,
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we pay for legal fees, Gina Austin's legal fees.
You know, it's all right here and I can read it. I
don't see -- I looked for consulting fees. I don't
see those.

THE COURT: But you wouldn't categorize
that as a purchase of the property?

MR. ZIMMITTI: Let me back up, Your Honor.
So under this agreement, basically all the net
income -- so under 5.1 of the agreement, all net
income, revenue, cash flow, and other distributions
from operations will be held by manager as a
management fee,

So -- so that was -- we're getting paid to
manage on the one hand, but we also are putting
money that's ours into these properties. So we're
putting it back into these properties as well.

THE COURT: And the theory is to be a
50 percent owner, correct?

MR. ZIMMITTI: Correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Go.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Okay. So again, we're
making these payments from -- starting from October.
Things are going well. In fact, we basically
improved Balboa, which was the only operating
dispensary. You know, a great turnaround in that
where our management was great.

Nothing -- no sign of any problems

whatsoever, Your Honor, until May. We —-- we were
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approached by Mr. Razuki, who apparently noticed
that we were doing a great job on Balboa, because
there's a common CPA, Mr. Yeager, John Yeager.

THE COURT: And is that O'Brian? How do
you pronounce that?

MR. ZIMMITTI: I'm sorry?

THE COURT: What's his company's name?

MR. ZIMMITTI: YH or --

THE COURT: No. H --

MR. ZIMMITTI: JYH. I think so. I got it.
So ultimately, you know, we -- Mr. Razuki found out
about us based on our performance at Balboa. We
meet in May, late May.

And essentially, we find out from
Mr. Razuki that he has this -- interests in these
properties, all the properties, by virtue of the
agreements you heard today and those interests.

And then we also found out -- also found
out that there was another case in which Mr. Malan
and Razuki were parties that had claim to the Balboa
property. And again, you know, this caused us
alarm, because we have reps and warranties that very
plainly say, you know, you -- you know, you
represent there's no pending or threatening
litigation that would impact any facilities. So
right there =-- you know, we found out in May, after
being, you know, deep into this deal, that there are

these competing interests.
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So what happened is that we basically
approached defendants with a letter May 24, Hey,
give us the full story on this thing. You know, we
heard some alarming stuff. Please provide us
information.

As soon as the defendants were outed -- so
I almost feel like this is a situation where, you
know, a guy is hitting on two girls. The two girls
meet and they're like, "Oh, who's your boyfriend?"
Oh, that's -- it's the same guy.

So, you know, Mr. Razuki and our client
basically realized they were both getting duped. My
client goes and says, What's the deal here? What's
up with this? We have these reps and warranties.

And all of a sudden, we -- they --
Defendants go into, like, warp speed trying to
manufacture some grounds for termination.

And then the very first thing in writing --
now, you must have 1,000 pages of documents before
you, Your Honor. And I'll tell you what. The
first -- the first hint of anything in writing where
my clients were acqused of anything that resembles a
default is a June 1 letter from the Goria law firm.

Jim Townsend, in his supplemental
declaration, discredits all that sort of -- the
vague, "You didn't pay us this." For example,
bouncing a check that we cured by wire the next day.

Defendants don't want to mention that. They can't
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be honest enough to just admit, you know, you
bounced a check and paid it the next day.

At any rate, June 1, Your Honor -- so we
have -- we have, like, a nine-month stretch where
everything is hunky-dory. And then all of a sudden,
they get outed and they go -- again, they're frantic
to set up some termination.

And let's talk about ~-- let's talk about
that for a second, and let's talk about our
agreements and our options, which you heard
Mr. Watts stand up there proudly and say that our
option has expired under Balboa.

This is totally incorrect, Your Honor. And
you know what? You don't have to listen to me.
Listen to defendant Ninus Malan. So again -- and I
want to stress --

THE COURT: Well, hold on. When you say
that, are you -- are you predicating that these
options are alive because of some alleged statement
that Mr. Malan made, or is it in writing, Counsel?

MR. ZIMMITTI: 1It's in writing, Your Honor.
If you'll let me get to that, I --

THE COURT: I keep interrupting.- Go on. I
apologize.

MR. ZIMMITTI: You really do, but that's
okay. They're good interruptions.

So, Your Honor, basically -- so we learn

about ~-- again, in May now -- May and June we know
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about these -- this case is pending. It had been ;
filed a year earlier. Okay? A year earlier. No
reason it shouldn't have been mentioned. Plenty of
time.

In fact -- and Mr. Malan and defendants to
this day never explained why they didn't mention it
to us, why they violated reps and warranties. At

any rate, we don't have to worry about the option on

that -- on that Balboa facility expiring. And it
is -- under the agreement, I believe it might have
had a June 1 -- 1st date.

However, what Mr. -- Mr. Watts fails to

mention completely and disregards is Mr. Malan's
letter to SoCal dated June 19 in which he admits to
the existence of this litigation, never says, "You
know what? Oops. I had a good reason for not
mentioning that. You know, we have litigation.
Gee, I should have brought that up. It slipped my
mind, " nothing like that.

What we have is a letter saying, "As you
know, SoCal Building Ventures was granted an option
to purchase a 50 percent ownership in the facility,
as defined by the management services agreement
oétion dated January 2nd."

Okay. "Pursuant to 8.2, the final option
exercise date is June 30, 2018," which is correct.
However, he goes on. "As we discussed today, over

the last couple weeks, there is pending litigation
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at San Diego County that involves the facility. The
case name is San Diego Patients Cooperative --
Cooperation, et al., Razuki Investments," and I'll
stop there. "The litigation involves Balboa Ave
Cooperative and San Diego United Holdings Group."

And here's where it gets more interesting,
Your Honor. "This letter memorializes San Diego
United Holding Group's agreement to extend manager's
option on the facility pursuant to 8.2.
Specifically, San Diego United Holding Group agrees
that the option will be extended to 15 calendar days
following written notice to manager that the
litigation has been privately settled or there's a
decision after trial."

So in writing -- and it's signed by, "Very
truly yours, Ninus Malan, president." So he
basically tolled the agreement pending the outcome
of that San Diego case.

So to stand up here, not mention this
letter, and purport to tell your -- the Court that
our option expired is emblematic of the failure to
tell the truth in this case. This is classic.

And let's talk about the options on the

other two agreements, Your Honor. Let's talk about
those. Okay. Each one of them -- each one of them
has a contingent -- a cont -- a condition precedent,

and that is the grant of a CUP. So let me just read

it to you.
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Okay. It's at 8.6, for example, of
Mira Este. They're jumping up and down. They
didn't pay -~ they didn't pay the option. They
didn't do the -- okay. Let's read that.

8.6: Notwithstanding anything else
contained in this agreement, no obligation, passage
of time, or other matter with respect to options
shall become effective until the City of San -- City
of San Diego has granted the facility a conditional
use permit permitting company's operation to the
satisfaction ~- a satisfaction clause no less. In
that regard, each of the dates set forth in 8.2
above are tolled until the 30th, 90th, and 50th day,
respectively.

Okay. So, Your Honor, basically, those
don't even go into effect until we have a COP [sic].
Okay. So to stand up here and say all our options
are gone, again, it's just ignoring the agreement
and ignoring their own correspondence on Balboa
tolling agreement.

So what happened here is basically that we
got taken to the cleaners. We were treated like an
ATM for nine months. And then as soon as they got
wind that we understood that we were being ripped
off and we were being cheated, they set up a
termination.

And again, the termination -- you know, we

can have another hearing about this, but the bottom
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line is none of'it -—- none of it's true. Okay. We
have paid under the agreement. There are -- as I
said, we have bounced checks. We -- I submitted a

declaration that clears that confusion up.

THE COURT: I read it, Counsel.

MR. ZIMMITTI: So, you know, what we have
here is essentially our -- my client being
essentially kicked out of the premises. Okay. We
have an exclusive right to manage these companies,
and we have an option. We sunk lots of money. We
poured our heart and soul into this thing, and we
did a good job, notwithstanding what they're telling
now, which is conveniently incorrect.

And so we have a case of a new manager
coming in -- just -- I'm going to quote -- just a
management company, managing properties that we have
options on, and they're breaching the agreements,
Your Honor.

And also, you know, we just scratched the
surface on some more theft. I mean, we've already
pointed out some theft. And I don't want to go over
this if Your Honor doesn't want to, but there's also
money in bank accounts that disappeared. There's
a lot going on. And it's happening so quickly,

Your Honor, that we can't get our hands around it.

And so, you know -- and then in terms of
our equipment -- so again, I think this 1is, you
know, just -- you know, par for the course with
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defendants is that they are just looking for every
opportunity to, you know, take whatever they can.

This equipment -- there's been -- there's
no basis to hold onto this equipment, especially if
they're saying that we're out of there. Okay.

There is -- this is the equipment we've put in. So
this -- we're talking -- there's equipment in
Balboa, but the bulk of it that we're aware of right
now that we have an inventory of is in Mira Este.

And it's expensive, delicate equipment used
to manufacture cannabis products, you know,
freezers, cryofreezers, ovens, all these things, lab
equipment. We brought that in there. We purchased
it. We submitted proof, and they're essentially
just holding it from us.

And, you know, Your Honor, you're fine --
we're fine to contin -- we want to continue working
and we're happy to use our own equipment for our
purposes, but it is absurd and there's no basis to
contend that the equipment that we're using to carry
out our duties and obligations is -- is their
property suddenly just because it's on their site.

There's nothing in the agreement that gives
them that right, and it's just -- it's just a
facially absurd interpretation of any -- anything in
the agreement.

So, you know, the way -- we've been

essentially just hung out to dry here, Your Honor.
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And we performed our duties., We stand ready to
perform our duties. We sunk a lot of money.

I don't have an accountant with me today.
I'd love to put John Yeager up on the stand. He can
tell you everything about this money. But the
difference is -- is that right now we're in a
situation where the theft is occurring so quickly,
the waste is occurring so quickly.

Mr. Hakim has already explained he's got a
manager in Mira Este. First -- first -- the
contention in the first declaration is that they
made $200 of revenue -- no, 200,000 of revenue.

Then it's 200,000 in orders.

And so, you know, it's hard to keep track
of -- you know, their lies just seem to sort of
morph. And so all I -- all we know is my clients
are basically getting taken to the cleaners. They
have sunk a lot of money. They're not just
managers. And they just want to press pause on this
thing, Your Honor.

Now let me --

THE COURT: Wrap it up.

MR. ZIMMITTI: -- just finish up with to
the extent there's a breach. Okay. So we do have a
dispute resolution clause. And essentially, it
is -- is -- does not just limit itself to, you know,
whatever they think -- whatever they think applies.

It applies to anytime there's an alleged
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breach or default, whether or not one is current,

period. And this makes sense because we -- again, |
we sunk a lot of money into this property as a

long-term investment. 1It's a long-term

relationship.

So to say that they could merely claim a
breach and kick us out and then we sue for damages
is ridiculous, because we all know when it comes to
property, okay, it is presumed that a breach of an
agreement to transfer real property cannot be
adequately relieved by pecuniary compensation.

So the remedy at law is presumptively no
good here, Your Honor. We have no other remedy.
It's loud and clear defendants will charge ahead.
They're going to get new managers. They're going to
sell off or give them residuals for life or
whatever. This is our only hope at stopping and
getting us a chance at our 50 percent ownership, for
which we upheld our end of the bargain.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Counsel?

MR. GORIA: Thank you, Your Honor. I don't
know gquite where to start. There were a lot of
misstatements there. But let's just start, first of
all, with the options. I'm not sure if that's of
concern to the Court.

THE COURT: It is.

MR. GORIA: And keep in mind that I'm just
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speaking in terms of Mira Este and Roselle, because
that side of this table here represents the Balboa
interests.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. GORIA: Okay. So first of all, let's
go back to that provision that counsel referenced
and actually read to the Court, 8.6. And this is -~
this is a provision. I believe it's an identical
contract in that respect for both Roselle and
Mira Este.

Now, actually, I should ask the Court to
turn back a page to 8.1, and that's the grant of the
option. The grant of the option is distinguished
from the exercise of the option, of course. The
grant of the option requires that the manager pay
$75,000 -- regardless of the CUP, pay $75,000 by
March 15, 2018. That was for both Roselle and
Mira Eéte. That wasn't done. They lost any right
to acquire the option. Forget about exercise. They
lost the right to acquire.

Okay. 8.6 just allows for the extension
pending the grant of the CUP for the exercise of the
option. In other words, the date given for the
exercise of the option is extended if the CUP is
delayed, not for the actual purchase of the option.
I'm hoping the Court can follow me on that one.

THE COURT: I understand.

MR. GORIA: Okay. So there is a
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distinction. They never paid the 75,000. They did
for Balboa, but they never paid 75- for Roselle,
never paid 75- for MirabEste. We contend that they
lost their right to acquire the option.

Now, i1f we get into a contract dispute as
to the interpretation of 8.6, that's certainly not
something that could be decided on an ex parte
application for a receiver.

As I think Tamara said, SoCal, at most,
would have a claim for damages for breach of

contract that could be handled at a later date.

66

They're not under any kind of urgency or they're not

facing any irreparable harm for the current manager,

which is Synergy, to be left in place.

They can -- Synergy is the current manager
of Mira Este. They were hired recently, and they
were the ones that generated $200,000 in orders.
And Mira Este is now operating. Mira Este is
operating.

THE COURT: So Far West is suing Balboa?

MS. LEETHAM: Correct, Your Honor.

MR. GORIA: For a different manager,
different manager.

THE COURT: Yeah. That's Far West.

MS. LEETHAM: Yes.

THE COURT: So I've got Synergy and --

MR. GORIA: Yeah. Okay. Now, of course my

client doesn't have any dog in the fight between

3343




10
11
12
13
14
15
le
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

28

67

Mr. Razuki and Mr. Malan. Nobody disputes the fact
that my client is a 50 percent owner of the Roselle
facility and a 50 percent owner of the Mira Este
facility. And there is absolutely no reason to put
a receilver over his interests in those facilities,
which is what would happen.

If a receiver were appointed, his interests
would be affected. His right to distributions would
be impaired. And we, of course, adamantly oppose
any appointment of a receiver. As Tamara indicated,
the appointment of a receiver in itself is a very
drastic remedy. And the appointment of a receiver
should not occur where you have other alternative
measures to protect the rights of the plaintiff in
this case or SoCal, plaintiff in intervention.

And the Court certainly has ample powers to
impose preliminary injunctive orders to protect
whatever property interests are at stake here. And
we have no problem with an order that prevents the
sale or encumbrancing or transferring of any of the
assets in Mira Este or Roselle. We just don't want
my client's interests in the distributions to be
impaired, because nobody disputes -- there is no
dispute that my client is entitled to those
distributions.

Now, in terms of SoCal, I was kind of
biting my lip on where the money went that SoCal

paid. You have to understand, basically, how the
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management agreement with SoCal worked, at least as

far as Mira Este goes. Nothing happened as far as
Roselle goes. They haven't paid any money in terms
of Roselle. They have paid money towards Mira Este.

And Mr. Townsend has prepared an accounting
which is erroneous. There's several points that --
several payments that he says were made that were
not made. But be that as it may -- be that as it
may be, the payments made in connection with Roselle
were for the management agreement, management fee,
and the minimum guarantee. Those two fees —-- those
two amounts totaled over $100,000.

Now, why in the world would SoCal be paying
$100,000 for this? They are receiving 100 percent
of the net profits after that. Okay. Pretty sweet
deal. I mean, they're getting everything after they
pay the minimum guarantee and the -- and the
management fees.

THE COURT: How much was the minimum
guaranteed? A hundred thousand?

MR. ZIMMITTI: From Mira Este?

MR. GORIA: I believe the minimum
guaranteed was, I believe 50,000, and the other was
60, 300.

THE COURT: Who does that go to?

MR. GORIA: Mira Este Properties.

THE COURT: And who owns it?

MR. GORIA: Mr. Malan and Mr. Hakim.

3345




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

THE COURT: What did they're do to do
that ~-- to -- their management, what did they do for
$110,000°

MR. GORIA: They said, Come in. Come in.

You can operate this

facility. You can pocket

69

100 percent of the net profits and operate this as a

marijuana facility.
THE COURT:

MR. GORIA:

And so —--

They gave them that right.

It's a contract right that they gave them.

THE COURT:

And so for ten months they

collected $110,000 per month, correct?

MR. GORIA: No.

THE COURT: How many months?

MR. GORIA: They collected probably about
five months. And starting in -- and we have

detailed this in Mr.

Hakim's supplemental

declaration. Failure to pay the June 2018

management fee of 60,

minimum guarantee of

300. May, failure to pay the

50,000. July, failure to pay

the July '1l8 management fee of 60,300,

And then in fail -- another payment due in

June of the minimum guarantee payment of 50,000,

failure to pay that.

the amount of 12,000.

getting 100 percent of the net profits,

Failure to pay utilities in

Again, since SoCal was

obligation to pay the expenses.

THE COURT:

What were the net profits?
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MR. GORIA: They didn't open. They delayed
the opening of Mira Este. They never opened it.

THE COURT: So there were no net profits?

MR. GORIA: No. There was no profits or no
revenues, no revenues at all, because they delayed
the opening of it. Synergy came into the picture.
They opened it right away.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. GORIA: And they -- let's see. There
were other failures to pay. Total -- the total that
we came up with was 450,000 -- 451,000 as of

June 10, 2018, when Tamara sent the termination
letter. So it's a total falsehood that they were
current.

Now, they make the argument, Well, we were
kind of worried about Mr. Razuki's position in all
of this. But their management agreement wasn't with
Mr. Razuki or RM Holdings or Mr. Malan. It was with
Mira Este Properties. They -- that's who they owed
the obligation to, and they didn't make -- they
didn't fulfill that obligation.

Now, in that respect, they're claiming
that, well, there was a breach of the
representations and warranties. Not so. On the
litigation warranty -- it's 4.3.7 and he didn't read
that. I note that.

But he says the warrant -- the

representétion says there's no litigation or
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proceeding pending or threatened against company,
not against Mr. Malan, not against Mr. Hakim, not
against anybody other than Mira Este Properties.
And, of course, this was signed in January. So at
that time, that warranty was absolutely 100 percent
true.

As far as the equipment issue goes,

Section 4 -- this is another rep and warranty. But
Section 4.3.6 says, Company is the sole owner of the
real property on which the facility is located and
is the sole owner of the improvements comprising the
facility and all real and personal property located
therein.

So based on that, there's at least an
argument to be made that SoCal doesn't own all this
equipment or doesn't have a complete ownership
interest in it. We're not going to do anything with
the equipment. We're not going to sell it. We
wouldn't sell it even without a court order
preventing us from selling it, but we're not going
to sell it.

But we have a claim. We have a colorable
claim to that equipment. And it's not something,
again, that can be decided on an ex parte
application for a receivership.

Finally, just -- finally, if I may, the
agreement with Synergy -- the agreement with Synergy

requires Synergy to pay rent in the amount of
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$35,000. There was no such requirement on the part
of the SoCal agreement.

Well, rent in the amount of 35,000 is --
would be enough to cover the debt service on the
Mira Este facility of 25,000, not including taxes
and insurance, and the debt service on the Roselle
property, because that's running on a negative, 4700
rent, 6600 debt service. So we need that Synergy
monthly payment of rent to maintain the Roselle and
Mira Este loans, to keep them current.

So again, to undo that ~~ to undo the
management agreement with Synergy I think would
be -- it would actually be detrimental to
Mr. Razuki's position as well, because these loans
could be foreclosed on. And then the facilities
would be lost, and he'd lose his argument.

Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you, Counsel.

Mr. Essary, what do you got? Or
Mr. Griswold. Who's going to speak?

MR. GRISWOLD: I'll speak, Your Honor.
First, I don't think it's any surprise to anyone
that my client was thrown into a true hornet's nest
on July 17th. Now, that's -- he's not asking for
sympathy. That's what he does. He's been doing it
for decades here in this county and lots of the

courts.

But I make that point to -- if the Court
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needs any explanation or wants explanation regarding
his -- you know, the duties he took that were court
ordered. I remind the Court that any payments that
he made that, again, ordered by the Court while he
was the receiver during that brief two-week period
was to run those operations.

Of course, the normal course of a
receiver's business is to pay all invoices that are
owed to consultants, accountants, security services,
security technology and video equipment, payroll for
folks that are actually working 9:00-to-5:00s at
these dispensaries, and all those payments were
made.

We hastily put together an interim
accounting report for informational purposes for all
of the parties to look at. We expected a thorough
examination and comment, and we certainly got that
today.

But I would remind the Court that
Mr. Essary -- again, being in that hornet's nest, I
can only imagine the arguments that could have been
made if Mr. Essary didn't pay certain unpaid
invoices to certain consultants that were owed even
prior to Mr. Essary being appointed.

And 1f after July 31lst, when the
receivership was vacated and the receiver walked out
of that receivership with a bunch of unpaid bills,

there's also the counterargument that would have
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been made today that he walked in, didn't pay any
bills, and so he's no use to any of the parties or
the businesses involved.

I also would point out that some of these
folks that were paid as vendors and professionals,
such as accountants like Mr. Yeager, payments to
payroll for folks that work at SoCal, has been
discussed for the last hour and a half, these were
all folks that were trusted, hired, paid for several
months.

Now, we all know everything exploded, and
that's why Mr. Essary was brought in as a receiver
initially. But to flip the argument now and point
to Mr. Essary for paying what I think are called
insiders who are somehow, I guess, in collusion with
the Court's officer, Mr. Essary, I certainly want to
get on the record that, as Mr. Essary's counsel, I

take exception to that.

He was simply doing his court-ordered
duties for a two-week period before another
explosive hearing, and then some gray area as to
what bills he‘should be paying or what duties he
should be fulfilling until we're here today.

And I give you -- one more example is that
it was certainly argued by many of the parties at
counsel table that after July 31st, of course,

Mr. Essary was out of the picture. No more

receivership. Receiver is dismissed.
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At the same time we have parties that
August 2nd, 3rd, and 4th demanding that the receiver |
take responsibility for certain payments, important
payments, such as mortgage payments on properties.
Totally understandable that somebody needs to get
that paid.

But I think some mention of folks arguing
out both sides of their mouths -- we had situations
where when it suited some parties' interests, it
was, "Step down, receiver. You're out," while at
the same time, maybe later that afternoon, "Hey,
receiver. Do your job. Get these invoices paid in
this éile."

So as stated in the interim receiver's
report, the receiver stands ready to follow these
Court's orders, if there are any that involve him.
He's ready to do so. Not going to shy away from
this group or this complicated situation'and is
ready to take these court orders. That's all,
unless the Court had anything particular.

THE COURT: Where's $68,000°?

MR. GRISWOLD: Say again.

THE COURT: Where is $68,000°?

MR. GRISWOLD: Sixty-eight thousand
dollars?

THE COURT: Went out, allegedly, in a trash
bag. Am I making sense?

MR. GRISWOLD: Yes, Your Honor. It --
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THE COURT: Mr. Essary, you can speak.

MR. ESSARY: There was allusion to a video
that was taken on the Balboa dispensary's cameras,
which I did get ahold of after I took possession
against the will, if you will -- without the
cooperation of the defendants.

On that video, there were people locked in
the back room, where there are four or five safes,
which when we did take possession and get back
there, the back door had been left open. That's how
we got in. Those safes were empty.

THE COURT: Every one of them?

MR. ESSARY: Well, we found about $1200 a
couple days later jammed into one of the slots. We
found about 4,000 out of the ATM in 20s.

MR. WATTS: Your Honor, I object and ask
that he be put under oath if he's testifying. He's
not an attorney.

THE COURT: No. I'm not going to do that.
There's a court reporter right there. That's why I
had him brought in. I'm not going to put him under
oath, at least at this stage.

MR. ESSARY: I did not know the amounts of
money or what the items were exactly that were
removed, but the employees there did put things in
bags and containers and go out the back door, and
they were picked up by Ms. Austin. I saw her. She

drove around and we have it on camera. So that's
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what happened to the 68,000. Somebody else took

account of that. I don't --

THE COURT: So you don't know if it was

68,0007

MR. ESSARY: I do not know the amount,
Your Honor, exactly, but it was -- there were bags
and containers that -- I saw them on video, and we

do have that video.

THE COURT: Tell me what you would do in
this situation,

MR. ESSARY: There seems to be a lot of
energy and effort from one side to maintain control
over things that the other side didn't even know
existed or what the amounts were or =-- again, you
know, I don't -- I'm not part of the action. I'm
just there a -- a function of what you need me to do
to control assets. I believe there are assets that
need to be controlled.

THE COURT: Such as?

MR. ESSARY: The dispensary --

THE COURT: Both of them?

MR. ESSARY: They generate a lot of money.

THE COURT: Both of them?

MR. ESSARY: The other one was not
operational. Sorry. That was a production site,.
There are rents also.

There's also five other units that are

owned by San Diego United in that same building. I
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did meet with the gentleman who sold them to the
defendants, and he collects rent from the other four
tenants and pays it to them. It's about 5,000 a
month. I was just getting ready to start collecting
that until the 31st hearing, which I backed out of
it.

So there's rents from Roselle also. I
believe there's a lot of -- a potential for a lot of
money, and I just question who deserves to get that
money. And that's --

THE COURT: I keep hearing about money, but
I don't seem to be seeing it. Maybe that's not your
fault.

Let me just -- and dén't -—- everyone, just
calm down. I'm going to say something, and you're
all going to go (gasping sound). So take a breath.
What if I kick everybody out, bring in a whole new
team? Talk to me about that.

MR. ESSARY: A whole new team with ~~

THE COURT: To manage -—-

MR. ESSARY: -—- to manage and operate
everything?
THE COURT: Yeah. Just -- I assume there's

someone in San Diego that can operate a marijuana

dispensary, correct?
MR. ESSARY: Contrary to some of the
declarations made by the defendants, I -- even

though I don't have any previous experience, as
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Your Honor knows, I run a lot of business that I
don't actually run in my past, but I have people
that I can use, consultants. I can take it over.
We were in the process of making sure we
were above the line on everything, including CUP
process, licenses and applications, conformity to
all the local rules. We got a B rating from a --
from an inspection in our dispensary after only

being open for, like, 12 days. It was -- we were

79

running it properly, and I believe that other people

could run it properly too.

You all -- you do know that the reason I
chose -- not because I knew anything about the
objection to SoCal, is because the original order
issued appointing me mentioned to put -- redo the
contract or re-recognize the contract with SoCal,
which seemed logical since they'd been running it

for nine months before.

THE COURT: What do you know about Synergy?

MR. ESSARY: I know nothing about them

directly.
THE COURT: What do you know about

Far West?

MR. ESSARY: I believe that's the Greens

company. They call it California Greens. Is that

the one? They were operating it before when I came

in and took over. They don't listen to court

orders. They didn't turn over possession.
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But other than that -- I don't know about
their operations, but I do agree with you there are
multiple options for running these types of
operations both in San Diego County and in
Los Angeles County, which is very common too.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. ESSARY: You're welcome.

THE COURT: Mr. Griswold, another question
for you. I read some -- I think it was in the
defendant's moving papers that there's a question of
whether the receiver is appropriate or legal to do
it.

I think I've read that -- there was a
supplemental declaration that I think you say you
feel now that under the law, there's an exception
for the Court to appoint a receiver and not have to
go through the licensing. Did I read that right?

MR. GRISWOLD: You did, Your Honor, and it
cites to -- I have it here. This is the Bureau of
Cannabis Control, Section 5024, which contemplates
the incapacity of the licensee to operate the
business. And it specifically cites to when a
receiver would be appointed, and then it calls for a
notice to be provided by that receiver to the Bureau
of Cannabis Control, which was done within ten days
of the appointment by Mr. Essary.

THE COURT: So it's your position he can

continue?
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MR. GRISWOLD: Yes.
THE COURT: Legally?
MR. GRISWOLD: Yes.

THE COURT: Do we know what happened at the
C -- I think I read this too. On August the 15th,
it passed, right? So we're good to go?

MS. LEETHAM: At the hearing officer level.
But there's an appeal procéss where it could end up
before the planning commission, and Ms. Austin

attended that.

THE COURT: So who appeals it or is it
automatic?

MS. AUSTIN: Oh, this would be the
conditional use permit for Mira Este, and that would
be appealed by any interested party. Anybody in the
public could choose to --

THE COURT: Like another competitor?

MR. JOSEPH: Right, exactly. So within ten
business days, they have the right to appeal. Since
the City's only issuing 40 of them, it is very
likely that there will be an appeal.

THE COURT: Are you both experts in this
field? Did I read that right?

MS. AUSTIN: I am.

THE COURT: Obviously, a concern for the
Court, no matter what I do, is that these remain
viable businesses. What I wouldn't want to do as a

Court is blow it up. Maybe that's not the proper
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word, but have everybody -- okay, you all lose.

I think there's money to be made here, and
my sense -- we'll find all this out on who owns what
and stuff like that, but I guess my concern is not
to blow it all up. Can you give me a little insight
into that, if you could?

MS. AUSTIN: Yeah. Actually, I can. I
would -- Mr. Griswold is correct that Mr. Essary
took the first step in managing it by noticing the
Bureau, but there are two or three more steps that
5024 contemplates, which includes having an
application in your own name.

The Bureau's concept in this, if you looked
at the draft of regulations as they were promulgated
over time, was that, well, what happens, because the
license is not transferable. It can't go to
somebody else, because you have to have background
checks and all of this. This is at the state level,
different than the city level.

And so the Bureau contemplates yes, if you
give us notice, you can do thaf, but it's at the

Bureau's discretion. And you must also file

these -- you must file an application in your own
name. You must continue to move forward, and then
the Bureau will -- to make that determination.

Those subsequent steps have not occurred.
Does that mean the Bureau would shut them down

immediately? I don't know. They haven't come out
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and said one way or the other. There was an
investigation during -~ there was some report -- and
I believe it might have been from the City, but I
don't know who made a report to the Bureau stating
that the Balboa dispensary during the time of

Mr. Essary's control was operating improperly with
improper guards.

So I got an e-mail from the Bureau this
morning asking me to clarify, provide them
information. And I said, I'il let you know after
this hearing today what else I can provide you.

But it is a -- an on -- a very complex
process, and that's the state level. There's a
separate process at the city level.

THE COURT: Have you worked with Synergy

before?

MS. AUSTIN: I have worked with some of the

principals of Synergy.

THE COURT: Have you worked with Synergy

before?

MS. AUSTIN: No. I think it's a brand-new
corporation.

THE COURT: Have you worked with Far West
before?

MS. AUSTIN: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: These are all new. Tell me
about it.

MS. AUSTIN: Far West Management is a
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management company that also operates Golden State
Greens on Hancock Street.

THE COURT: That means nothing to me.

MS. LEETHAM: Point Loma.

MS. AUSTIN: Well, Point Loma. So it's a
Point Loma dispensary. It was one of the first
entitled here in San Diego.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. AUSTIN: They also have entitlements in
Santa Barbara and several others. They're
experienced operators with dispensaries.

THE COURT: Can I assume Synergy has
nothing to do with these parties? I mean, I have a
management fee signed by one of the defendants,
correct?

MS. AUSTIN: Right.

THE COURT: But other than that, they don't
have any interest? There's no alleged --

MS. AUSTIN: Not a --

THE COURT: -- options, nothing like that,
right?

MS. AUSTIN: I don't know of any options,
Your Honor, but I do believe that there are members
of Synergy that are also members in this dispute.

THE COURT: Like who?

MS. AUSTIN: Is that correct?

MR. GORIA: Not that I know of, no.

THE COURT: So Mr. Hakim, Mr. --
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MS. LEETHAM: Malan.
THE COURT: ~- Malan, they're not members

of Synergy?

MS. AUSTIN: I don't know. Like I said,

THE COURT: Turn around and ask them.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER IN THE AUDIENCE: No.

MS. AUSTIN: No, they're not members.

THE COURT: Good answer. How about
Far West?

MS. AUSTIN: They're not.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Your Honor, if I may?

THE COURT: Yeah. And then I'm getting
there, people. I'll tell you that right now.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Actually, Mr. Lachant with
me is also a cannabis regulatory expert, and I'll
let him jump in in a second.

THE COURT: Well, you talk to me then.

MR. ZIMMITTI: But can I -- can I just --
can I just inserttthis issue?

THE COURT: Counsel, of course you can.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Thank you, Your Honor. On
the -- on the -- again, the equipment, so again, I
want to stress on Mira Este, which we all heard
makes no profit, yet we sunk a lot of money in this
facility, this equipment is very, very expensive,
very —-— easily broken, and there is no basis to be

holding onto it.
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And you heard Mr. Goria mention this
provision in the agreement. And I just -- you know,
Your Honor can read it himself. However, basically,
this is among the reps and warranties, so this 1is
right above the section about no litigation. It's
essentially the company just warranting it's a sole
owner of the real property, the personal property in
the facility at the time.

So it's not con -- it's not -- this
equipment came afterwards. So all it's saying is,
you know, if I have a refrigerator in there when you
come in and look at the facility, I own this
refrigerator. This says nothing about all this
expensive equipment necessary to run this facility.
It's ours.

So, Your Honor, if -- to the extent someone
else is running this facility, we are not
comfortable with them using it, breaking it, selling
it, whatever.

THE COURT: No one is going to be
comfortable with what I do today. All of you are
going to be unhappy with me today. Well -- no, none
of you will be happy. And I say that respectfully,
Counsel. I think I'm getting to where I want to be.

But I would assume, SoCal, that, Judge, if
we really have an interest in here, we want that
business making some money, even if they're using

our equipment, as long as they don't destroy it,
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encumber it, or sell it, correct, SoCal?

MR. ZIMMITTI: Correct, Your Honor. We're
committed to making this work if at all possible.

THE COURT: Thank you. I understand that.

MR. WATTS: Your Honor, there is a comment
that he made earlier about the option and whether it
was still alive, and he alleged that our client had
agreed to extend the option.

THE COURT: He did in a letter.

MR. WATTS: Yeah, in the letter. So the
letter he read to the Court was Exhibit D to

Mr. Bornstein's declaration. That's a letter from

his client to my client rejecting my client's offé}”

to extend the option for 15 days.

THE COURT: Don't mind me.

MR. WATTS: He wrote that one sentence he
read that said, We received your letter dated
June 19th, 2018, wherein you, et cetera -- you agree
to offer to extend the deadline. He said, We
received your letter. And then the very next
sentence says, While we appreciate the
accommodation, that lawsuit's but one of many.
Instead, I propose the following. And then on the
second page of this letter, it says, To preserve
these options, to preserve the possibility, we are
asking you to sign the tolling agreement that
suspends the option deadline on each property

pending resolution of all pending issues regarding
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the litigation. Our client never responded to that,
so that tolling agreement was never signed.

THE COURT: I got it.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Your Honor, one last thing,
one last thing.

THE COURT: And this is it, people.

MR. ZIMMITTI: I'm sorry, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You're both making good
arguments. I got it. Go.

MR. LACHANT: Your Honor, if I -- I'm going
to jump in for Mr. Zimmtti. I was working with the
receiver with respect to notifying state agencies --

THE COURT: Good.

MR. LACHANT: -- about the appointment of
the receivership. I was -- there's been a lot of
rhetoric thrown around that the receiver doesn't
have authority to operate these businesses, that
it's illegal.

As soon as I was introduced to the
receiver, I reached out to the BCC, the Bureau of
Cannabis Control. They made it very clear that they
didn't ask him to submit a second application. They
instructed me that all he had to do was provide
the -- what was required in the regulatory notice,
the proof of receivership, as well as the receiver's
information. And then any additional steps that
would be necessary, they would contact the receiver

directly and tell him what to do.
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The reason it's important is because
there's been several allegations against the
receiver for mismanagement. I went to the Balboa
facility. 1I've been to probably 100 retailers --
cannabis retailers in the state, and I found 1t to
be a well-run facility. They were doing as good as
anyone was 1n transitioning to these new
regulations. They had a caring management team in
place who were trying to follow the rules in a
meaningful way. Like everyone, there's areas where
they could improve, but it wasn't a disastrous
operation by any means.

And SoCal, to the extent the Court's going
to make its ruling on Mira Este -- I just spoke with
a gentleman from SoCal. 1If the Court's not going to
allow SoCal to operate Mira Este, they have this
equipment that they want to use at a licensed
location in Los Angeles. So I think that's really
important that they get this equipment that they
paid for and it's their equipment.

THE COURT: Well said. Okay. Let me just
ask -- and I forget everybody's name. I apologize.
I'm going to call you SoCal. I'm going to call you
Malan.

Are we satisfied that Synergy is legally,
according to the State of California, operating
this? I don't care how they're doing it. Actually,

I do care. But are they legal? Do you understand
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my question?

MS. AUSTIN: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: And the answer is?

MS. AUSTIN: Yes.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Your answer

MR. LACHANT: Your Honor, I don't know
anything about Synergy, so I --

THE COURT: Fair answer.

MR. LACHANT: -- can't comment.

THE COURT: There's one answer.

The other one is Far West. Are they legal
in the stéte of California, so they have met the
licensing and all that stuff?

MS. AUSTIN: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you, Counsel.

MR. LACHANT: Again, I -- when you say, Are
they legal, have they met the licensing, I don't
know if they have been disclosed to the State. I
don't know if they have been disclosed as a
financially interested party to the State.

THE COURT: Do your homework. Do your
homework.

Because I -- first of all, you are all
officers of the court, and I take that real
seriously. Counsel, she's an officer of the court,
and you're saying, Judge, they're licensed. And

you're the expert.
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MS. AUSTIN: That's correct.

THE COURT: I take her word for it, but do
your homework. Okay?

MR. LACHANT: Sure.

THE COURT: Okay. I think I know where I'm
going, so bear with the Court, because -- and let's
just talk about it. This is going to get real
expensive, people. I'm talking to you and you.

Real expensive. And you're going to see how. Okay?

And I mean, this is a TRO. No matter what
I do here, we're going to revisit this in 21 days,
to which if I grant a TO, there's going to be a
bond. One wonders how big that might be if I am --
and I grant the TRO.

One last issue I want to talk about to your
client.

I hate to point, Mr. Goria.

Tell me why I should include Roselle in
this. Roselle, they're in the property for three
years. He can do an accounting. Do we need Roselle
if I do it?

Mr. Essary, yes or no?

MR. ESSARY: On the basis of the complexity
of the other two operations, I did not serve
Roselle, because I was told by Mr. Yeager that it
merely was a rents and profits with minimal income.
So therefore, they're not aware of the receivership.

THE COURT: And they're in the lawsuit,
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right? Right?
MR. ELIA: Yes.

THE COURT: But do I need to have them if I

do grant a receiver? Do I?

MR. GORIA: We certainly don't think

Roselle --

THE COURT: I don't think so either.

MR. GORIA: =-- should be included.

THE COURT: Should I? Tell me. Let.him
finish.

MR. ELIA: The only concern I have is as
Mira Este just started, Roselle will eventually
start.

THE COURT: Eventually. Let me know what
it happens.

MR. ELIA: Okay.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Your Honor, our concern,
obviously, is before, you know, we can get things to
be moving forward, it will be sold or encumbered or
further, you know, displaced from us, so —--

THE COURT: I'll make an order not to sell
it, but I'm going to let him do the work. Who's
him? Mr. Hakim.

MR. HAKIM: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Talk to your client. I think
I'm cutting them out. Not cutting them out, but I
don't want him to sell it. But he's got to do the

rent and all that stuff. Make sure he's comfortable
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with that.

MR. GORIA: Will do, Your Honor.

MR. ELIA: Your Honor, if I may, just real
quick?

THE COURT: And then I'm going to order.
Here we go. Go.

MR. ELIA: If I may, if Roselle\is going to
enter into some agreement, we would just ask that we
review it first before they do that.

THE COURT: Just collect the rent. Don't
sell it. Don't encumber it. Don't lease it. Well,
it's leased for three years. Did I read that right?

MR. GORIA: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Two years?

MR. GORIA: Yes.

THE COURT: So just -- who knows if this
litigation will be done by then, but let's hope.
Okay?

MS. AUSTIN: Jesus.

THE COURT: Welcome to --

MR. GORIA: Your Honor, in that regard --

THE COURT: -- civil.

MR. GORIA: -- the tenant has indicated a
willingness to sell the balance of his term in order
to facilitate --

THE COURT: Get out of here. Go ahead.
Here it i1s. Ready? Don't sell or encumber it, sell

it, lease it. If you want to sell it, bring it to
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the Court.

MR. GORIA: All right.

THE COURT: I can make that decision.

MR. ZIMMITTI: So, Your Honor, are the
status of our agreements under -- do they pertain to
Roselle?

THE COURT: He's not going to sell it.
That's still going to be litigated. He's just going
to do the accounting, Counsel. Do you understand?
It's okay if you don't agree, but do you understand
what I'm doing, sir?

MR. ZIMMITTI: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Appreciate that. Thank you.
Okay. Here we go. Listen up. Let the record
reflect the Court has considered everything. As you
know, I have to make a determination at this stage,
Number 1, of whether there is a likelihood that the
plaintiff will prevail on the case. I'm making that
likelihood, as he looks at the plaintiff.

Second thing I got to do is determine
whether there is imminent harm, irreparable harm.
The Court's made that finding based on the amount of
money that allegedly have been put into this case.

This case will be reviewed in -- I got to
set it within 15 to 20 days. 1I'll put it on a
Friday afternoon. Twenty-one days. How about the
7th, 1:30, this department?

MS. AUSTIN: September 7th?
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THE COURT: Yes, Counsel, September 7th.

MS. AUSTIN: Sorry.

MR. ELIA: That's fine with me, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Essary?

MR. ESSARY: Yes, sir, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Here's my thoughts. You're
appointed now. I don't know if I'm going to appoint
you in 21 days. Do your work, and it better be
unencumbered. I want to make sure they really
understood what I said there. He better be given
access. He better be allowed to do his job, period.
I can't stress it too much.

I'm going to tell you I want Synergy in. I
want Far West in. See 1if they're competent. I
don't know. Do your job.

MR. ESSARY: Under -- with SoCal, I had a
management agreement to operate, under which it
dictated payment of --

THE COURT: That's suspended right now --

MR. ESSARY: I understand.

THE COURT: -- by the Court.

MR. ESSARY: Do I have that same document
or those guidelines so I know what to expect for my
contractors?

THE COURT: Explain that to me.

MR. ESSARY: You have two different
entities --

THE COURT: Right.
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MR. ESSARY: -- running two different
facilities under a management agreement, which I've
been told is similar to what SoCal had. It has
probably fixed payments. It has -- they have made
profits. There's probably a percentage of profits
that goes back. I would need those for --

THE COURT: For the next 21 days, the
answer is yes.

MR. ESSARY: Okay.

THE COURT: So let's be real clear. So am
I going to make the management payment if the money
is there? Am I going to make the -- help me -- rent
payment?

MS. LEETHAM: Minimum guarantee.

THE COURT: Minimum guarantee. Pay those
if the money is there. I want this -- it's only for
21 days.

MR. ESSARY: But I was really talking about
what the vendors would be paying to the entities,
which would be me, the receiver. So I need to know
what I'm expected to collect from them. It was very
easy with SoCal because I had their agreement.

THE COURT: Well, I'm sure they'll tell you
what. If they're running it, they should know what
they're making. Look at their P&L. I assume these

people have a P&L.

MS. LEETHAM: They have an accountant,

Your Honor.
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THE COURT: Perfect.

MS. LEETHAM: Clarification. 8o we have
a lot of litigation.

THE COURT: You think?

MS. LEETHAM: A lot. And I feel extremely
uncomfortable that the receiver gets to make a
decision on who represents my clients when I don't
know that. So where does that leave our litigation?
I need to appear tomorrow before Your Honor on
behalf of the entity that the receiver -- do you
understand what I'm saying? Am I allowed to do

that?

THE COURT: So who do you want to appear
for tomorrow?

MS. LEETHAM: I need to appear for
San Diego United. I have a discover -- I have an
ex parte in the San Diego Patients case tomorrow. I
have all this litigation.

THE COURT: Why couldn't you appear for
them?

MR. GRISWOLD: Your Honor, I have the same
question. The receiver's in control of the
marijuana operations that we've been talking about
for the last two hours.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. GRISWOLD: There is other litigation
about ~- I don't even know how many other issues.

All of those entities have counsel of record, which
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I understand is counsel sitting at the table.
There's no obstruction or requesting that they don't
represent the interests of their clients in those
issues, be it discovery disputes or --

MS. LEETHAM: The first order was just so
broad that I felt extremely uncomfortable. But as
long as --

MS. AUSTIN: I --

THE COURT: Here's my thought. No, no.
Hold on. Shh. I don't mean to interrupt. You have
a good point, Counsel. Right now I don't see any
red flags. If I do, I'll let you know. That's a
very ethical thing to do, by the way, Counsel,.

MS. LEETHAM: Thank you.

THE COURT: I appreciate that.

MS. LEETHAM: Thank you.

MS. AUSTIN: Your Honor, if I could
dovetail on that, I have a hearing before the
planning group this evening on one of the
entitlements for this same process for the Mira Este
property. I have multiple balls in the air
regarding the state entitlements and local
entitlements. Am I allowed to continue to move
forward with those?

THE COURT: Absolutely. I would expect
that.

MS. AUSTIN: Okay.

THE COURT: And hold on. Let's make it
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clear what I'm doing right now.

Mr. Essary, you heard what I just said?

MR. ESSARY: Yes.

THE COURT: So I assume when counsel is
saying, Judge, I still got to work on the C -- CUP,
et cetera, for Mira --

MS. AUSTIN: I've got a CUP for Mira Este
and the appeal hearing that is likely to occur on
Balboa Avenue, the state applications for
distribution, manufacturing, and retail for all
three entities.

THE COURT: Keep working. Court order.

MR. GRISWOLD: Can I add? I completely
support that and I would just ask maybe that we
encourage that we work together and keep -- that the
receiver is informed and updated regarding the
hopeful great progress that's made there, and we
support that. We just want to make sure that we're
working together and not shifting blame. So
we're happy to —--

THE COURT: I'm sure counsel will.

MS. LEETHAM: Mr. Griswold is very easy to
work with. I have no problem doing that.

MS. AUSTIN: We would like one more -- I'm
sorry to be so difficult. There's so many --

THE COURT: You're not doing --

MS. AUSTIN: =-- agencies that I'm working

with. The dispensary, Balboa, is currently
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undergoing an audit by MGO to provide the financial
data for the period of time that SoCal was in there
from January 1 to April for the first quarter of
this year.

They're require -- requesting all of the
data on the accounting, which was in the software
database called Trees, which we don't have access
to. But in order to give us access, they wanted
to == "they" being -- Mr. Griswold's proposal, which
I think was a good proposal, but it's going to end
up costing us more money, was to freeze the data in
time because there's no way to -- if they gave us
access today -- 1if Trees was to allow me to have
access today, then, theoretically, my client could
manipulate the data. So they had to freeze it in a
certain time. That was going to cost a certain
amount of money. We just need access to it because
we need to give it to the State.

MR. GRISWOLD: Your Honor, I'll take that.
So Trees i1s a -- I guess a software -- kind of
revenue generation software to run the business.
When I said -- again, as you can imagine, a lot of
competing arguments and claims by e-mail by all the
parties as to how this should work.

What I proposed -- all it was was a
proposal -- was that Mr. Malan and whoever else he
designated as his agents and vendors certainly

getting -- I think it was maybe a license or user
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name issued so they could use this software to track
the business.

What I also said, because there was lots of
swirling claims, not made by the receiver, by some
of the parties, that thefe would be some sort of
manipulation of historical data on the revenue. So
what I proposed and asked the software provider was,
Can we make it, like, a digital copy, just a -- of
those records?

THE COURT: Hold on. Stop. I want to make
sure counsel listens.

MS. LEETHAM: I'm listening.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. GRISWOLD: I propose that the software
rep make a digital copy of whatever those records
were at that time. I just -- "archive" was the word
that the software guy used. I said, That sounds
like a great idea. How much would that cost? He

said it would be $1,000 per month. So I said, Let's

do_that... I_proposed.that to.them.._ They had-some . ..

reservations. I think we under -- we liked the idea
of giving Mr. Malan access. There was the thousand
dollars a month that became the hiccup. I still
believe it's a good proposal.

MS. AUSTIN: I don't -- I was -- when I
turned around -- I don't know whether we need access

to Trees on an ongoing basis or we just needed data

dump.
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UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER IN THE AUDIENCE: Data
dump.

MS. AUSTIN: Just the data dump. So if we
can just get a data dump, then we're done.

THE COURT: How much will that cost?

MR. GRISWOLD: I don't --

MS. AUSTIN: That should be part of our
subscription. We just need to get in, get the data,
and then --

MR. GRISWOLD: It seems like something easy
to do.

MS. AUSTIN: I think we can resolve it.

THE COURT: Maké sure it's a copy.

MS. AUSTIN: Yeah, a copy.

MR. GRISWOLD: Yes.

THE COURT: I hope you're writing all this
down, because this is going to be a court order, as
best you can.

MR. GRISWOLD: Working on it.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Your Honor --

THE COURT: Hold on. Let me think of one
more thing.

Mr. Essary?

MR. ESSARY: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I want to know how much --
everyone keeps telling me there's a lot of money.
Give me a -- can you -- I want to know how much

money 1is coming into these businesses.
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MR. ESSARY: Could I ask the defendants a
question?

THE COURT: You may.

MR. ESSARY: Do you all have any opposition
to retaining Mr. Yeager, since he seemed to have
been involved --

MS. LEETHAM: Absolutely.

MS. AUSTIN: Absolutely.

THE COURT: You didn't read their
declaration. They're going to have --

MR. ESSARY: I guess I missed that one
then.

THE COURT: They're going to have a big
opposition.

MS. LEETHAM: Just a point of clarification

on the cash --

THE COURT: Let me finish. Let me -- hold
on.

I just want -- I want to know how much
money comes in. I'll take care of how 1t goes out.

I'm hearing some huge numbers, and yet I don't see
enough money. I'll be quite honest. I hear all
these numbers, and yet we can't pay our rent?

Hello? That's beyond me. I'm talking about there's
a hundred thousand -- each weekend, a hundred
thousand. Where's the money? Mr. Essary, find out

for me.

MR. ESSARY: My issue is that it is --
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there -- as the defendants have said and the
plaintiffs, it's a very complex -- as Your Honor
said, there's many entities. There's money in bank
accounts going every which way.

My reason for using Mr. Yeager previously
is that he was working for the defendants and
working for the plaintiffs --

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. ESSARY: -- both of them. So I felt
that was a nice compromise. I still feel that
there's a rapport that I have with him and I do
trust him because he's given me good advice what
they didn't do and should have done and what they
did and shouldn't have done. 1I've gotten really
good feedback from him. I'm uncomfortable using an
accountant that they have chosen merely for their
own operation only because I--don't have that same
rapport.

MS. LEETHAM: Your Honor, Justus Henkes
(phonetic), we hired. He is reputable and he worked
for some big companies in accounting. He's been
Far West management's accountant for years. He's
independent. He's extremely professional, and
there's -- he does Golden State Greens' books.
There's no reason why he's not capable of doing it,
and I think the receiver will find he will be
extremely professional with him. We absolutely

object to John Yeager. We fired him.

3381




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

106

MR. ZIMMITTI: You know, we put a lot of
effort in it -- in Mira Este, and we're not -- we
would object to --

THE COURT: You want to pull it.

MR. ZIMMITTI: -- another operator using
it, another operator basically benefiting from our
equipment.

THE COURT: I got it.

MR. ELIA: May I quickly just make a quick
comment, real quickly, Your Honor?

THE COURT: All right.

MR. ELIA: Your Honor, the only concern I
have i1s I ask that if you're going to appoint
someone, it would be someone thaf they don't know
and that we don't know, because, frankly, we don't
trust their side.

THE COURT: I know. I got it.

So, Mr. Essary, here's your deal. Here it
is.

Who is it that's doing their books, Far
West?

MS. LEETHAM: His name is Justus Henkes.
He has no dog in thé fight, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I got it. Check him out. See
if he's good. But I also want him to do Mira Este.
Now, let's say it goes south. You ever heard of
Reagan & Associates (phonetic)?

MR. ESSARY: Yes.
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THE COURT: Yeah, well known in San Diego.
Extremely expensive, but they are the best in
San Diego. Use them.

MR. ESSARY: I will interview their
accountant and --

THE COURT: If you're not satisfied, go to
Reagan & Associates. Tell them how I want it. They
have been in my courtroom 20 years, and they're the
best in San Diego.

MR. GORIA: Your Honor, just a quick point
here for the receiver. There are three separate
properties; three separate ownerships. We would
prefer -- or we would ask the Court to require the
accountant not to be spending income or revenue for
Mira Este on Balboa or vice versa.

But we're concerned that he's going to
intermingle or commingle the funds, because Synergy
pays approximately -- their situation is different.
They don't pay as much as SoCal does. And the money
that Synergy pays is going to have to be used to pay
the mortgage payments on Mira Este. Otherwise, the
loan's going to go into default. Loan payments are
due on the 5th of each month.

MR. ESSARY: I was -- it was early in the
game. I opened up a central account, which I will
be able to open up individual accounts. As
Your Honor knows, opening up bank accounts is not

always an easy thing to do when you're dealing with
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cannabis operations. I'm able to with your court
order allowing me -- authorizing me to open them. I
do it in my own name personally so that there's no
relationship to the cannabis, but I put the name of
the entity along with it. And so I can open up two
different accounts.

THE COURT: Sounds very reasonable.

MR. GORIA: Sounds fine.

MS. AUSTIN: I would ask if the accounts
can't be used by the defendants or anybody, why do
they need to open up new accounts?

THE COURT: Because I want it in his name.

MR. ESSARY: I actually do have éontrol
over two accounts that have less than $3,000 at
Torrey Pines Bank. I believe one of those -- that's
Roselle and Mira Este. 1It's not the Balboa. Those
were all shut down by B of A. They didn't give me a
choice to keep them open.

THE COURT: Well, there's been a lot out
about how much money these entities bring in. I
want to see it.

MR. WATTS: Sunrise and Super 5 aren't
included in this, I assume?

THE COURT: They are not.

MR. WATTS: And which LLCs exactly are
included in it?

THE COURT: All the ones that have an

ownership or partial ownership in those two
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properties. That's pretty broad, isn't it, Counsel?

MS. GRIFFIN: Your Honor, to clarify, the
cooperatives are, I think, a primary issue in terms
of they're necessary to operate the storefronts.

THE COURT: Explain that to me.

MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor, to explain, Balboa
Avenue Cooperative, Devilish Delights, California
Cannabis Groups, they're the State license holders.
They don't have an ownership in the land, the dirt,
or anything like, but they are necessary to run the
dispensary and they're necessary to run Mira Este.
So I just want to clarify. Would your order include
the receiver  having power over those cooperatives as
well?

THE COURT: My gut reaction is yeah. But
he's going to have them continue to run it, right?
The answer is yes, he has power.

MR. JOSEPH: So just to clarify --

THE COURT: Well, hold on. They're named
defendants. They're under my order. Counsel,
they're named defendants.

MR. JOSEPH: Yes.

THE COURT: They're included.

MR. JOSEPH: Okay. You just clarified
that, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Yeah. 1It's okay. And no
disposal of any personal property, period,

especially the property on what address, Counsel?
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MR. ZIMMITTI: Mira Este.

THE COURT: Mira Este. No destroy, no
waste, no nothing.

MS. AUSTIN: Are we going ﬁo send you more
trees before this next hearing or are we done?

THE COURT: Well, hold on. You know, I
think I got it. I got the whole gist here, Counsel.
What I need is Mr. Essary. Unless you all want --
you want to do supplemental briefing? I'll let you
do it. Do you want to spend more attorney fees?
I'll allow 1it. I'1ll happily do that down the road.

Okay. Let's do this. Mr. Essary, just get
your report. Can you do it two days before the
hearing so they have a chance to digest it?

MR. ESSARY: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you. This is for the
parties' sake again. Counsel has been very polite
today, and I really appreciate this. I hope you get
a sense. Literally, this could take two years and
cost a couple hundred thousand just in attorney
fees. I've done these -- well, not exactly, but
I've done big partnerships. You'll spend $100,000
on accountants. I'm just =-- be prepared for what --
the path that you all -- I'm not talking to the
counsel here. I'm talking to your parties.

Listen, be prepared to go that distance if
that's what you really want to do. That's all I'm

telling you. Because you're going to spend a whole
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bunch of money. And maybe it's the right thing to
do. I don't know. But you know what? Eventually
the truth comes out. I promise you that. The truth
does come out. I've done this ~- I've been on the
bench 30 years. Been there, done that. I'll just
tell you that. It does come out. You'wve all been
polite.

Mr. Griswold, I want you to make me a court
order that this order goes into effect right now.
The Court ~-- all the parties have been in front of
me. The attorneys have been in front of me. This
order goes in effect forthwith, period. Anything
else?

MS. LEETHAM: The bond.

THE COURT: Ah, that will be at the next
hearing. Absolutely, Counsel. And let me tell you.
I look over on this side of the -- it ain't going to
be the minimum bond.

MS. AUSTIN: We would like to brief that,
Your Honor.

THE COURT: Huh?

MS. AUSTIN: We would like to brief that.

THE COURT: You don't have to. But here's
what you should brief, the amount.

MS. AUSTIN: That's what I'm referring to.

THE COURT: Absolutely. Oh, absolutely,
both sides of the table. And I'm already kind of

giving a heads-up here. It ain't going to be
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$10,000. "Ain't" is a bad word. It isn't going to
be $10,000. I will tell you that.

Let's see. I think I'm only going to be
down to two parties now. 8o again, you've all been
very polite. I do what I think is best. We're just
beginning. Next big hearing is the 21st to see if
I'm going to leave this order in effect. And I tell
you, I don't know. His report is going to have a
big deal and, of course, the arguments of counsel.

So thank you for your -- still one hand.

MR. JOSEPH: Very minor issue. Briefing
schedule, Your Honor, for the bond amount?

THE COURT: Four days before the hearing.
That takes me two minutes.

MR. ZIMMITTI: So, Your Honor, your order
as to SoCal is we leave the equipment? Everything
stays in Mira Este?

THE COURT: Everything is a status quo.

MR, ZIMMITTI: Okay. And then our
contracts, our obligations, and everything under
those are suspended?

THE COURT: Stayed. Better word.
"Suspended" is not the right word. It could be
interpreted wrong. Stayed. And, SoCal, I got your
position. Trust me. I got it. But I'm trying to
keep a semi-status quo here, and let's see what
happens in 21 days. And then after that, you're

stuck for a year, year and a half, as you know.
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Okay. You've been ~--

Well, you're a nonparty. I don't mean to
be rude.

MR. HICKMAN: I just want --

THE REPORTER: I don't know who this is,

Your Honor.

MR. HICKMAN: 1It's Michael Hickman for
(inaudible) --

THE REPORTER: Can you please stand up at
least or maybe come up to counsel table so I can

hear you.

MR. HICKMAN: Sure. Four days before the
7th is Labor Day, so --

THE COURT: I'm working.. Hold on. Does
anyone -- I think what he's saying is can everybody
be here that day?

MR. HICKMAN: Well, no. What I'm saying is
you set a briefing for that.

THE COURT: Okay. Three days. Thank you.

MR. HICKMAN: That's my one contribution.

THE COURT: Three days. All right. Now, I
need -- so everybody, thank you for coming, except
S&H -- what is it?

MR. ELIA: S&H West Point.

THE COURT: West Point and?

MR. WATTS: Ninus Malan and American

Lending & Holding.

THE COURT: Bingo. We're going to take a
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(Whereupon the proceedings concluded at 4:16 p.m.)
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*
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA )

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO )

I, Leyla S. Jones, a Certified Shorthand
Reporter, do hereby certify:

That prior to being examined, the witness
in the foregoing proceedings was by me duly sworn to
testify to the truth, the whole truth, and nothing

but the truth;

That said proceedings were taken before me
at the time and place therein set forth and were
taken down by me in shorthand and thereafter
transcribed into typewritiﬁg under my direction and
supervision;

I further certify that I am neither counsel
for, nor related to, any party to said proceedings,
nor in any way interested in the outcome thereof.

In witness whereof, I have hereunto

subscribed my name.

Dated: August 23, 2018

£ 08 Yo, S

I¥yfda S. Jones
CSR No. 12750
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9/2/2018 Bank of America | Online Banking | Accounts | Account Details | Account Activity

Bankof America 22>

Online Banking

Business Fundamentals Chk - "=\ ccount Activity Transaction Details

Post date:
Amount:
Type:

Description:

Merchant name:

Transaction
category:

05/23/2017
-420,000.00
Withdrawal

WIRE TYPE:WIRE OUT DATE:170523
TIME:1538 ET TRN:2017052300336049
SERVICE REF:009766 BNF:ALLISON-
MCCLOSKEY ESCROW C ID; ™ —e——
BK:CITY NATIONAL BANK ID:122016066 PMT
DET:QCD H5L9SF Trade related Ref Escrow
Trust Acco//unt /

ALLISON-MCCLOSKEY 5 UNITS PURCHASE

Home & Utilities: Mortgages

Down paynmant S Balbpa

A-&

https://secure.bankofamerica.com/myaccounts/details/deposit/previous-page.go?skip=true&adx=5a765113bd54e2bef81e518d325391e328bfc31d2déc... 1/1

3397




9/2/2018 Bank of America | Online Banking | Accounts | Account Detalils | Account Activity

Online Banking

Bankof America 42>

Business Fundamentals Chk -‘w=masseAccount Activity Transaction Details

Post date:
Amount:
Type:

Description:

Merchant name:

Y

Transaction
category:

05/25/2017

-897.65

Other payment

THE LIBERTY CO DES:8182246138 ID;
INDN:navailable unavailable CO

ID:2043575881 CCD

THE LIBERTY CO

Uncategorized: Uncategorized

5859 A-€ prperty

https://secure.bankofamerica.com/myaccounts/detalls/deposit/previous-page.go?skip=true&adx=5a765113bd54e2bef81e518d325391e328bfc31d2d6e. ..

In & Uropn e
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9/2/2018 Bank of America | Online Banking | Accounts | Account Details | Account Activity

Bankof America 22>

Online Banking

Business Fundamentals Chk -*™==\ccount Activity Transaction Details

Post date:
Amount:
Type:

Description:

Merchant name:

Transaction
category:

06/23/2017
~2,050.00
Other payment

LIBERTY MUTUAL DES:102081160
ID:3061526 INDN:SAN DIEGO UNITED HLDG
CO ID:0000061050 CCD

LIBERTY MUTUAL

Cash, Checks & Misc: Other Expenses

property Insurante

https://secure.bankofamerica.com/myaccounts/details/deposit/previous-page.go?skip=true&adx=5a765113bd54e2bef81e518d325391e328bfc31d2d6éc. ..

3407
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9/2/2018

Bankof America %2>

Bank of America | Online Banking | Accounts | Account Details | Account Activity

Online Banking |

Business Fundamentals Chk - *==—=—sccount Activity Transaction Details

Post date:
Amount:
Type:
Purchaser:

Description:

Merchant category:

Merchant category
code:

Merchant name:

Transaction
category:

06/30/2017
-2,734.20
Debit card
NINUS MALAN

C2C CONTAINER SERVICES PURCHASE SAN
RAFAEL CA

Commercial Equipment (not elsewhere
classified)
5046

C2C CONTAINER SERVICES

Home & Utilities: Home Improvement

Storage Gntainers for mirg G54e

https://secure.bankofamerica.com/myaccounts/details/deposit/previous-page.go?skip=true&adx=5a765113bd54e2bef81e518d325391e328bfc31d2d6c... 1/1
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MorHgage payment 8859 A-E
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Cup Costs 859 A-€
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9/2/2018 Bank of America | Online Banking | Accounts | Account Details | Account Activity

Online Banking

Bankof America 22>

Business Fundamentals Chk ===  count Activity Transaction Details

Post date:
Amount:
Type:
Purchaser:

Description:

Merchant category:

Merchant category
code:

Merchant name:

£

Transaction
category:

06/07/2018
-467.80

Debit card
NINUS MALAN

LIBERTY MUTUAL PURCHASE 866-290-2920
NH

Insurance Sales, Underwriting, and Premiums

6300
LIBERTY MUTUAL

Insurance: Insurance

(Propes

9 Surance pay ment

tor 3859 A-E | esbtl8f3

https://secure.bankofamerica.com/myaccounts/details/deposit/previous-page.go?skip=true&adx=5a765113bd54e2bef8 1e518d325391e328bfc31d2d6c...

3481

11



Loan from MMan

— 15 EEN2 2 |

3104 SQUSW *XUCH DURYIV LIS JO LoD Y

O | mE:oQ\m\.\n. T701150 [Paspwmi 34 T ‘nawﬂcep\r 9|

mou e o087 ¢ mLIthS& 2483 YWy omw.mwmwm |

aeqd

§ o E \\. N\\\ zo1zsvo'oozanvs |

22ZUESEY06
NV 1y DIINIM

to Mira €Ste

U0 104

CINVY SENIJ ARIIOT, .k ,

3482




Loon fromn Melan
h San bu'\’jo Whited

NG SQUIE WG NGV WIS JOVORND Y

MNVE] SENILJ Nm.muﬁoﬁ_ﬁ w :

2

.W.«M\QQ\R.\ ¢ h@\&x\\&.\%’mb\x OTVZA— A\.G.V —joa0pag [

o..s 03 Leg .

5 - .é%\\ £,/3
20} Lo

-

aseggqza2ty |

3483




HOR fees 8859 A-€

Balova

H. 9001
TR D5 - D TRt A Loy S SE

1 T ———  NBSEOODT213 #300100M

_

| i @ suvTIoQ

F /4 «»_ﬁ [Rg Hod

nnngr«rs HOV.

&v ao_._w._ius_..un

e I W T R S

2% 3\_\

by ) Al
SHEES

BT 7 e
2 L160L : e
B vasiziset mmom.. m. L NNQ 4@‘0 .UMNQ Zﬂm

40 H3QHO
THL OLAVd

" 5
e e g g e S s AT AL TN By YA !

3484




e P I A

248007 00

Veg v qw T@ HOd )

‘9RED00}Z. LW HOY:
<& BIuvwy Joyuey
2l sV |8 baafiRpnar PRSPUn X /S ws&éﬁ 2077

Iy

— B5E000T2 1

Balboa

m 358 [J ‘sHvT10d
e /a0 A 3va
Lisoz .W\\,\NN \

) VO 0IZIse L

Y T ; 40-H3qHO.
As2upb & YUt auLoLavd

6608-£11C6 VO 09HIA NVS

HoA (eet 001 /8803

3485




+.

requved by Hox SeHHeren

Infuranee payment ol

e r s

S
i3

!i'

w# @ sHvTIoOQ T S

SgSEQ00TILN AL00%00¢

HOd

8920001238 HOV

&2 rouRuIy joyueg

i SPeT Arvael papunds ymg V75haR] F7FK]

QW 928 ¢ $ T

vaotziseLl

” _ o 2 \\AN\M‘ aiva

600}

6608-E1126 VO 'OYIIA NVS
_ IO IS @AV NVDOT G90%
OTIdNONO SONITIOH TALNA ODFIA NVS

TNy S A T A i e T *
B T T Y R T S i AR R S R R

g e i

3486




9/2/2018 Bank of America | Online Banking | Accounts | Account Details | Account Activity

Bankof America 22> Online Banking

Business Fundamentals Chk emss *- Account Activity Transaction Details

Post date: 06/27/2018
Amount: -1,711.14
Type: Other payment

Description: County of San Di DES:SanDiegoCo ID:
INDN:121000358 CO ID:1223755714 WEB

Merchant name: SAN DIEGO COUNTY
7

&
trd

Transaction Cash, Checks & Misc: Other Bills
category:

permut feet PESY p-€
Balboa

https:/secure.bankofamerica.com/myaccounts/brain/redirect.go?source=overview&target=acctDetails&adx=5a765113bd54e2bef81e518d325391e328... 11
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9/2/2018 Bank of America | Online Banking | Accounts | Account Details | Account Activity

Bankof America %2> Online Banking

Business Fundamentals Chk - "™=====amgcount Activity Transaction Details

Post date: 06/27/2018
Amount: -3,422.28
Type: Other payment

Description: County of San Di DES:SanDiegoCo ID:
INDN:121000358 CO 1D:1223755714 WEB

Merchant name: SAN DIEGO COUNTY

Transaction Cash, Checks & Misc: Other Bills
category:

permit feef 859 BT
Balbon

https://secure.bankofamerica.com/myaccounts/brain/redirect.go?source=overview&target=acctDetails&adx=5a766113bd54e2bef816518d325391e328... 1/1
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	APPELLANTS’ APPENDIX

Volume 10 of 19 – Pages 3064 to 3499 of 6477
	DEFENDANTS NINUS MALAN, SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, BALBOA AVE COOPERATIVE, CALIFORNIA CANNABIS GROUP, AND FLIP MANAGEMENTS’ JOINT NOTICE OF LODGMENT IN SUPPORT OF REQUEST TO VACATE RECEIVERSHIP ORDER,

DATED SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 [3065 - 3164]
	EXHIBIT A:	CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF TAX AND FEE ADMINISTRATION’S DEMAND FOR IMMEDIATE PAYMENT TO NINUS MALAN [“MALAN” IS MISSPELLED AS “MALAM”] AND BALBOA AVE COOPERATIVE, DATED AUGUST 22, 2018. THE AMOUNT OWED IS $173,772.86 [3065 - 3164]
	EXHIBIT B:	APPROVED CITY OF SAN DIEGO CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 2068552 FOR THE PROJECT “MPF 8859 BALBOA AVE PROJECT NO. 585435” TO SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC AS OWNER/PERMITTEE, DATED AUGUST 15, 2018 [3065 - 3164]
	EXHIBIT C:	NOTICE OF LODGED DOCUMENTS IN SUPPORT OF PETITIONER DENNISE GURFINKEL CIVIL HARASSMENT PACKET, IN THE SAN DIEGO SUPERIOR COURT CASE GURFINKEL V. RAZUKI [3065 - 3164]
	EXHIBIT D:	AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS, LLC’S ENTITY DETAIL PAGE ON THE CALIFORNIA SECRETARY OF STATE’S WEBSITE, ALONG WITH THE STAMP-FILED ARTICLES OF ORGANIZATION FOR AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS, LLC AND THE 2015 STATEMENT OF INFORMATION [3065 - 3164]
	EXHIBIT E:	COMPLAINT FILED BY AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS, LLC AGAINST DENNISE GURFINKIEL D/B/A STARTING POINT REALTY AND SLS MANAGEMENT SERVICES, EDGARDO MASANES D/B/A STARTING POINT REALTY, AND JOEY SORIANO D/B/A STARTING POINT REALTY, SAN DIEGO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE NUMBER 37-20 16-00022168-CU -BC-CTL [3065 - 3164]
	EXHIBIT F:	AMENDMENT TO COMPLAINT, FILED JULY 14, 2016, WHEREBY D’KIE1 GROUP, LLC WAS NAMED AS “DOE 1” IN THE ABOVE-ENTITLED CASE, AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS, LLC V. DENNISE GURFINKIEL, ET AL [3065 - 3164]
	EXHIBIT G:	SAN DIEGO PRIVATE INVESTMENTS, LLC’S ENTITY DETAIL PAGE ON THE CALIFORNIA SECRETARY OF STATE’S WEBSITE, ALONG WITH THE STAMP-FILED ARTICLES OF ORGANIZATION FOR SAN DIEGO PRIVATE INVESTMENTS, LLC AND ITS 2016 STATEMENT OF INFORMATION [3065 - 3164]
	EXHIBIT H:	COMPLAINT FILED BY SAN DIEGO PRIVATE INVESTMENTS, LLC AGAINST D’KIEL GROUP, LLC, ALISON MCCLOSKEY ESCROW COMPANY, DEL TORO LOAN SERVICING, INC., SEQUOIAN INVESTMENTS, INC., AND DENNISE GURFINKIEL, SAN DIEGO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE NUMBER 37-20 16-+00043277-CU-ORCTL [3065 - 3164]
	EXHIBIT I:	DEED OF TRUST WITH ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS, DOCUMENT NUMBER 2016-0719759, MADE DECEMBER 30, 2016, BETWEEN SAN DIEGO PRIVATE INVESTMENTS LLC AS TRUSTOR, AND NM INVESTMENT CORP AS BENEFICIARY, FOR THE APN 538-751-15-00 [3065 - 3164]
	EXHIBIT J:	THE DEED OF TRUST WITH ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS, DOCUMENT NUMBER 2016-0719’Z58, MADE DECEMBER -10, 2016, BETWEEN SAN DIEGO PRIVATE INVESTMENTS LLC AS TRUSTOR, AND NM INVESTMENT CORP AS BENEFICIARY, FOR THE APN 538-751-15-00 [3165 - 3264]
	EXHIBIT K:	STIPULATION FOR ENTRY OF JUDGMENT AGAINST D’KIEL GROUP, LLC, FILED BY AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS, LLC IN THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE NUMBER 37-2016-00022168-CU-BC-CTL, SIGNED BY NINUS MALAN ON BEHALF OF AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS, LLC AND SALAM RAZUKI ON BEHALF OF D’KIEL GROUP, LLC [3165 - 3264]
	EXHIBIT L:	UNITED STATES TRUSTEE’S MOTION FOR SANCTIONS AGAINST GEORGE PANAGIOTOU AND THE COSTA LAW GROUP PURSUANT TO FEDERAL RULE OF BANKRUPTCY PROCEDURE 9011 ; REQUEST FOR REFERRAL TO THE DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, IN THE ACTION IN RE: RODRIGO MARQUEZ, UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT, SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, CASE NUMBER 16-07541-LTI3, ON APRIL 5, 2017 [3165 - 3264]
	EXHIBIT M:	GRANT DEED WHEREBY AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS, LLC GRANTED TO SAN DIEGO PRIVATE INVESTMENTS, LLC THE PROPERTY LOCATED ON APN 586-120-11-00, DOCUMENT NUMBER 2017-0224563, AND RECORDED ON MAY 18, 2017 WITH THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY RECORDER [3165 - 3264]
	EXHIBIT N:	GRANT DEED WHEREBY AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS, LLC GRANTED TO SAN DIEGO PRIVATE INVESTMENTS, LLC THE PROPERTY LOCATED ON APN 168-600-20-00, DOCUMENT NUMBER 2017-0224555, AND RECORDED ON MAY 18, 2017 WITH THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY RECORDER [3165 - 3264]
	EXHIBIT O:	GRANT DEED WHEREBY AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS, LLC GRANTED TO SAN DIEGO PRIVATE INVESTMENTS, LLC THE PROPERTY LOCATED ON APN 185-273-11-00, DOCUMENT NUMBER 2017-0224558, AND RECORDED ON MAY 18, 2017 WITH THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY RECORDER [3165 - 3264]
	EXHIBIT P:	GRANT DEED WHEREBY WAFA KATTO GRANTED TO WAFA KATTO AND NINUS MALAN, AS JOINT TENANTS, THE PROPERTY LOCATED ON APN 538-340-26-00, DOCUMENT NUMBER 2017-0271404, AND RECORDED ON JUNE 16, 2017 WITH THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY RECORDER [3165 - 3264]
	EXHIBIT Q:	DECLARATION OF SALAM RAZUKI IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS BALBOA AVE COOPERATIVE, SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC, AND NINUS MA1AN’S OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION, FILED IN THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE NUMBER 37-02017-00019384-CU-COCTL, TITLED MONTGOMERY FILED BUSINESS CONDOMINIUMS ASSOCIATION V. BALBOA AVE COOPERATIVE, SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC, NINUS MALAN, RAZUKI INVESTMENTS, LLC, AND SALAM RAZUKI, 

DATED SEPTEMBER 6, 2017 [3165 - 3264]
	EXHIBIT R:	DEPOSITION OF SALAM RAZUKI, DATED MONDAY, MARCH 26, 2018, IN THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE NINUS MALAN V. HANK SYBRANDY, GARY KENT, SOLYMAR REAL ESTATE, AND KELLER WILLIAMS LA JOLLA, CASE NUMBER 37-2016-00006980 [3165 - 3264]
	EXHIBIT S:	COMPLAINT FILED JUNE 13,2018, IN THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE SAN DIEGO PRIVATE INVESTMENTS, LLC V. ALLISON-MCCLOSKEY ESCROW COMPANY, CASE NUMBER 37-2018-00029303-CU-BT-CTL [3165 - 3264]
	EXHIBIT T:	SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDING GROUP’S VERIFIED CROSS-COMPLAINT FILED JUNE 27, 2018 IN THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE AVAIL SHIPPING, INC. V. RAZUKI INVESTMENTS, LLG, SALAM RAZUKI, NINUS MALAN, MARVIN RAZUKI, AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS, LLC, SAN DIEGO PRIVATE INVESTMENTS, LLC, SH WESTPOINT GROUP, LLC, AND SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC [3165 - 3264]
	EXHIBIT U:	TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS ON AUGUST 14, 2018, IN THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE SALAM RAZUKI V. NINUS MALAN, MONARCH MANAGEMENT CONSULTING, INC., SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDING GROUP, LLC, MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES, LLC, AND ROSELLE PROPERTIES, LLC, CASE NUMBER 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL [3165 - 3264]
	EXHIBIT V:	TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS ON AUGUST 20,2018, IN THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE SALAM RAZUKI V. NINUS MALAN, MONARCH MANAGEMENT CONSULTING, INC., SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDING GROUP, LLG, MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES, LLC, AND ROSELLE PROPERTIES, LLC, CASE NUMBER 37-2018-00034229-CU -BC-CTL [3265 - 3364]
	EXHIBIT W:	A TRUE AND CORRECT COPIES OF PAYMENTS MADE BY ME PERSONALLY AND SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP FOR EXPENSES RELATED TO THE BALBOA DISPENSARY AND BALBOA MANUFACTURING AS WELL AS ROSELLE AND MIRA ESTE [3365 - 3464]



